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            ODESSA STORIES:

ISAAC BABEL AND HIS CITY

            Boris Dralyuk

         

         AN OLD JOKE: A Jew is kvetching (complaining, for the uninitiated) to a stranger about never having had any children. “But that’s the way it is with my family,” he groans. “My father was childless, and so was my grandfather before him…” Flummoxed, the stranger asks, “Then where did you come from?” The Jew replies, “From Odessa.”

         Why start there? Well, as the saying goes, there’s a grain of truth in every joke. (And when it comes to Odessa, the scales tip altogether: the version I grew up hearing is that there’s a grain of joke in every joke.) In its wily way, this little gag tells us a whole lot about my native city. Who is this fellow, anyway? All Jews in jokes kvetch—it’s what they do—but his griping is over the top, excessively schmaltzy and, in the end, entirely absurd. Is our hero off his nut, a far-gone luftmensch? Or is he trying to pull one over on the stranger, playing for sympathy so as to separate a fool from his money? That would make him a rogue, a schnorrer with chutzpah to spare.

         Humour and dreamy eccentricity, daring and double-dealing—part and parcel of the Odessa myth, which has grown up around this notoriously lawless provincial capital on the coast of the Black Sea since its founding in 1794. As Jarrod Tanny argues in City of Rogues and Schnorrers, his marvellous study of the myth’s evolution, “Much like Shanghai, New Orleans, and San Francisco’s Barbary Coast, old Odessa was both venerated and vilified as a city of sin—heaven for some, hell on earth for others—a haven for smugglers, thieves, and pimps who boasted of their corruption through endless nights of raucous revelry.”1 What set this particular band of “smugglers, thieves, and pimps” apart is that many of them were Jews, the most adventurous machers among the thousands of their co-religionists who poured into the “Russian Eldorado” from Eastern European shtetls. And they weren’t just adventurers: they were funny, making your sides split with laughter as they slit the side of your purse.

         There weren’t many other places these Jewish fortune-seekers could have gone. In the nineteenth century, Odessa, with its major commercial port, was the most cosmopolitan and least tradition-bound city in the Russian Empire’s Pale of Settlement, which was home to half of the world’s Jews. Odessa’s economy boomed and its population kept doubling in size about every other decade, reaching 400,000 by 1900. Approximately 140,000 of that 400,000 were Jews, an enormous proportion by any standard and the second largest Jewish population in the Empire after Warsaw—which had more Jews than any city in the world other than New York.

         To be sure, Jews left an indelible mark on the cultures of Warsaw and New York, as well as of Vilnius and Kiev, but Odessa, the fate of which has been so thoroughly intertwined with Jews from the start, became a uniquely Jewish city. Odessa’s distinctive and instantly recognizable language is a Russian dialect spiced with Yiddish words and grammatical structures, and, perhaps even more importantly, inflected by Yiddish intonation and pronunciation; it is spoken by Odessa’s Jews, Ukrainians, Russians and Greeks alike. The city’s transgressive culture heroes—thieves and gangsters like Sonya the Golden Hand (Son’ka Zolotaya Ruchka, née Sheyndlya-Sura Solomoniak, 1846–1902) and Mishka the Jap (Mishka Yaponchik, né Moyshe Vinnitsky, 1891–1919)—were regarded with awe by Odessans of all backgrounds, and tales of their feats spread like wildfire through the Russian-speaking world. Their fame hasn’t waned: both Sonya and Mishka were recently the subjects of big-budget Russian TV mini-series (airing in 2007 and 2011, respectively).

         The fact that these dubious figures were lionized indicates the darker side of Jewish history, not just in lawless Odessa but throughout the Russian Empire. Whatever they were in real life (and let’s face it, they were psychopaths), in the Jewish imagination they became Robin Hoods, social bandits using their natural gifts to triumph over systemic discrimination and—at least in the case of Mishka—to redistribute the oppressors’ wealth among the community. It serves to recall that old Odessa wasn’t just the land of opportunity: it was the site of many horrific pogroms, during which hard-boiled Jewish gangsters rose like golems to defend their people.

         Sonya and Mishka are by now so thoroughly cloaked in legend that they might as well be entirely fictional—and, indeed, it is fiction proper, along with poetry, popular song and film, that has fixed the myth of Odessa in the public imagination. There are statues of Ostap Bender, the quip-spewing Soviet trickster at the centre of Ilya Ilf and Yevgeny Petrov’s picaresque novels The Twelve Chairs (1928) and The Golden Calf (1931) in sixteen Russian and Ukrainian cities, and the “criminal” songs popularized by Leonid Utyosov (1895–1982), one of Odessa’s proudest citizens and Stalin’s favourite performer, are still sung—Odessan accent and all—by Russian-speakers wherever the winds of history have tossed them. But no author has done more to solidify the myth, and to raise Odessan lore to the level of art, than Isaac Babel (1894–1940), one of the greatest prose stylists of the twentieth century and a victim of Stalin’s terror.

         
             

         

         Born in Moldavanka, Odessa’s counterpart to London’s Whitechapel and New York’s Lower East Side, Babel was raised in a well-heeled Jewish family. He spent his early childhood in the city of Nikolayev (now Mykolaiv, Ukraine). When the boy was eleven, the Babels relocated to a nice part of Odessa, but the budding author’s affinity for life’s seamy, variegated underbelly drew him back to Moldavanka, where he collected material for a cycle of stories that transformed the exploits of Mishka the Jap and his ilk into a modernist epos. Published in newspapers and journals in the early 1920s contemporaneously with his Red Cavalry stories, which chronicled his service in the Red Army during the Polish–Soviet War of 1919–21, Babel’s Odessa Stories consolidated the city’s myth, never shying away from its darker elements. His depiction of the Mishka-like Benya Krik, “King” of Odessa’s underworld, is bracingly ambiguous—alluring and terrifying in equal measure. This volume also features tales that draw on Babel’s childhood and youth in Odessa and Nikolayev, including ‘The Story of My Dovecot’, perhaps the most harrowing narrative of anti-Semitism in both its systemic and convulsively violent aspects ever constructed.

         Of course, what really keeps you hanging on Babel’s every word are the words themselves, that rich Odessan argot. As Froim the Rook says of Krik, “Benya, he doesn’t talk much, but what he says, it’s got flavour. He doesn’t talk much, but when he talks, you want he should keep talking.” This, after the gutsy Benya barges in on the one-eyed gang boss and declares, “Look, Froim, let’s stop smearing kasha. Try me.” Once Froim gets a taste of that “kasha”, he can’t help giving Benya a try.

         The language of Odessa, with its Yiddish inflections and syntactic inversions, its clipped imperatives and its freight of foreign words, was in the air all around me as I was growing up. Little did I know that a similar melting pot, New York’s Lower East Side, had made a similar “kasha” out of English at around the time Benya’s archetypes were raising hell in Moldavanka. When I discovered the novels of Samuel Ornitz, Michael Gold, Henry Roth and Daniel Fuchs, the plays of Clifford Odets and the stories of Bernard Malamud, I felt right at home.2 I was also fatefully drawn to the Black Mask school of detective fiction, which brought a tough, vivid urban vernacular—the language of gunsels and private eyes—into the mainstream. My English Benya is, linguistically, a product of my misspent youth with the pulps. But I don’t think I’m doing him a disservice by having him tell a kid, “You got words? Spill.” After all, Isaac Babel and Dashiell Hammett were born only a month and a half apart in 1894.

         The liberties I’ve taken with the dialogue are not terribly radical. In general, I’ve tended toward concision, feeling it more important to communicate the tone—the sinewy, snappy punch—of the gangsters’ verbal exchanges than to reproduce them word for word. A longer phrase that rolls off Benya’s tongue in Russian may gum up the works in English. For instance, in the original Russian, Benya refuses to smear kasha “on a clean table”. In English, “on a clean table” felt superfluous. Both the tone and the image were sharper without it. To my ear, the pithy “let’s stop smearing kasha” has the force and appeal of an idiom encountered for the first time. In other places, I’ve sought equivalents for idiomatic Russian (or Odessan, or even simply Babelian) turns of phrase. For example, when an old matchmaker warns Froim that his daughter is hungry for romance, he puts it this way: “I see your child is asking to be let out onto the grass” or “to pasture”. The Russian is concise and clear in its meaning. A literal translation would either be cluttered or semantically hazy. I opted for “I see your baby girl is champing at the bit”, which is clear, full of character and preserves the thread of equine imagery running through the tale.

         Naturally, Babel’s narrator—the young Odessan romantic with glasses on his nose and autumn in his heart—demanded a different tack. I’ve tried to render his vision as precisely as possible. Fidelity was indeed a matter of vision. What, for example, do the snaking tables in the courtyard do at the start of ‘The King’: “coil” (as an earlier translation has it) or “wind” through it? It’s hard to imagine the long wooden tables coiling; they’re probably set up lengthways in two or three sinuous columns, as these things are still done in Odessa. And what exactly does Lyubka the Cossack do to the drunken sailor: “punch” (as the same earlier translation has it) or “push” him with her fist? On that warm Odessan night, with everyone’s head swimming in Bessarabian wine, all movement is slow and gentle—even the violence.

         As for tone, I took every opportunity to inflect the English text with lyrical Yiddish inversions, mirroring the Yiddishized Russian (e.g. “and they sang in rich voices, these patches of orange and red velvet”). To sum up, my priorities were visual precision and lyricism in the narrative, and piquancy in the dialogue.

         Previous translators have taken what I believe to be the gangsters’ noms de guerre as surnames. I have rendered them all in English—for instance, Lyova “the Russkie” (Katsap—a derogatory Ukrainian term for Russians), Lyovka “the Bull” (Byk), Kolka “the Pin” (Shtift) Pakovsky and Misha “the Bullseye” (Yablochko). The nickname of one-eyed Froim, who lends his name to the last tale in the cycle (‘Froim Grach’ in the original), has usually remained unrendered, but the early story ‘Justice in Quotes’ makes it clear that “Grach” (Rook) is indeed a nickname, alluding to Froim’s corvine features and his black soul, and that his surname is actually Shtern.

         
            *

         

         Success has many fathers. If you find something to like in this translation, then most of the credit goes to my brilliant editors at Pushkin Press, Gesche Ipsen, Julia Nicholson and Bryan Karetnyk; to my indispensible friends and consiglieri Robert Chandler, Maria Bloshteyn, Michael Casper, John Shannon, Roman Koropeckyj, Jeff Brooks, Emily Finer and Michael Alpert; to Rebecca Taylor, who commissioned an earlier version of this introduction for Jewish Renaissance magazine; and, above all, to my mother Anna Glazer, with whom I picked over every word. If nothing here pleases you, blame a childless schnorrer from Odessa.

         
            Notes

            1 Jarrod Tanny, City of Rogues and Schnorrers: Russia’s Jews and the Myth of Old Odessa (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2011), p. 2.

            2 In her excellent study Jewish Gangsters of Modern Literature (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 2000), Rachel Rubin links Babel’s work to that of Gold, Ornitz and Fuchs.
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            Gangsters and Other “Old Odessans”

            

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            THE KING

         

         THE WEDDING CEREMONY was over and the rabbi lowered himself into an armchair, then he stepped outside and saw the tables set up all along the courtyard. There were so many of them that they stuck their tail right through the gate onto Gospitalnaya Street. The velvet-draped tables wound through the yard like snakes with patches of every colour on their bellies, and they sang in rich voices, these patches of orange and red velvet.

         The flats had been turned into kitchens. A meaty flame, a plump, drunken flame, gushed through their sooty doors. The aged faces, wobbly jowls and grimy breasts of housewives baked in its smoky rays. Sweat rosy as blood, rosy as the foam on a mad dog’s lips, streamed down these piles of overgrown, sweetly stinking human flesh. Three cooks, not counting the hired help, were preparing the wedding feast, and over them reigned the eighty-year-old Reyzl—tiny, humpbacked, and traditional as a Torah scroll.

         Before the feast got going, a young fellow nobody knew wormed his way into the yard. He asked for Benya Krik. He took Benya Krik aside.

         “Listen, King,” said the young man, “I’ve got a couple words for you. Aunt Hannah sent me, from Kostetskaya Street…”

         “All right,” said Benya Krik, whom everyone knew as the King. “You got words? Spill.”

         “Aunt Hannah, she told me to tell you there’s a new chief in town, took over the police station yesterday…”

         “Knew about that the day before yesterday,” said Benya Krik. “Keep talking.”

         “The chief, he got all the cops together, gave them a speech…”

         “New broom sweeps clean,” said Benya Krik. “Wants a raid. Keep talking…”

         “But when, King—you know when he wants it?”

         “The raid’s tomorrow.”

         “King, it’s today.”

         “Who says, kid?”

         “Says Aunt Hannah. You know Aunt Hannah?”

         “I know Aunt Hannah. Keep talking.”

         “…The chief got the cops together and gave them a speech. ‘We’ve got to stifle that Benya Krik,’ he says, ‘because where there’s an emperor, there can’t be no king. Today, when Krik’s marrying off his sister and they’re all in one place, that’s when we raid…’”

         “Keep talking.”

         “…Then the coppers, they got scared. They said, if we raid today, when Benya’s having a feast, he’s gonna be sore, gonna waste a lot of blood. So the chief says, pride’s more important…”

         “All right, get going,” said the King.

         “So what do I tell Aunt Hannah, raid-wise?”

         “Tell her Benya knows, raid-wise.”

         And he left, this young man. Three of Benya’s friends left too. They said they’d be back in half an hour. And they came back in half an hour. That’s all there was to it.

         The guests weren’t seated according to seniority. Foolish old age is no less pitiful than cowardly youth. And they weren’t seated according to wealth. A heavy wallet is lined with tears.

         The bride and groom had first place at the table. This was their day. Next came Sender Eichbaum, the King’s father-in-law. That was his right. And Sender Eichbaum’s story is worth hearing, because it isn’t a simple story.

         How did Benya Krik, gangster and king of the gangsters, become Eichbaum’s son-in-law? How did he become the son-in-law of a man who owned no fewer than sixty milk cows? It all goes back to a shakedown. Only a year ago Benya wrote Eichbaum a letter.

         “Monsieur Eichbaum,” he wrote, “I ask you to come to 17 Sofiyevskaya Street tomorrow morning and place twenty thousand roubles under the gate. If you do not do this, what awaits you is unheard of, and you will be the talk of all Odessa. Respectfully, Benya the King.”

         Three letters, each more direct than the last, went unanswered. So Benya took certain measures. They came at night—nine men with long sticks in their hands. The tops of the sticks were wrapped in tarred hemp. Nine blazing stars lit up over Eichbaum’s stockyard. Benya knocked the locks off the shed and led the cows out, one by one. A guy with a knife stood waiting. He tipped each cow over with one blow and plunged the knife into its bovine heart. The torches blossomed like fiery roses on the blood-soaked ground, then shots rang out. Benya started shooting to drive away the milkmaids, who’d come running to the cowshed. And the other gangsters followed suit, firing shots in the air, because if you don’t shoot in the air you could kill someone. And then, when the sixth cow fell at the King’s feet with a dying moo, Eichbaum himself ran into the yard in nothing but his long johns and asked:

         “Benya, what’s this?”

         “Monsieur Eichbaum, I don’t get my money, you don’t keep your cows. Simple as that.”

         “Step inside, Benya.”

         Inside they came to terms. The slaughtered cows were split evenly between the two of them. Eichbaum was guaranteed immunity and issued a stamped certificate to that effect. But the miracle—that came later.

         During the shakedown, on that terrible night when the stabbed cows bellowed and their calves slipped and slid in maternal blood, when the torches danced like black virgins and the milkmaids squirmed and screamed before the barrels of friendly Brownings—on that terrible night, old man Eichbaum’s daughter, Celia, ran out into the yard in her nightshirt. And the King’s triumph proved to be his downfall.

         Two days later, without any warning, Benya returned all the money he had taken from Eichbaum, and then he came calling in the evening. He had an orange suit on, a diamond bracelet gleaming beneath his cuff; he came into the room, greeted Eichbaum, and asked for his daughter Celia’s hand in marriage. The old man nearly had a stroke, but he stood up. He still had a good twenty years in him.

         “Listen, Eichbaum,” said the King, “when you die, I’ll bury you at the First Jewish Cemetery, right by the gates. I’ll put up a tombstone of pink marble, Eichbaum. I’ll make you an Elder of the Brodsky Synagogue. I’ll abandon my profession, Eichbaum, and we’ll partner up in business. We’ll have two hundred cows, Eichbaum. I’ll kill all the other dairymen. No thief will walk down the street where you live. I’ll build you a dacha by the beach, at the sixteenth tram stop… And remember, Eichbaum, you weren’t no rabbi in your youth either. Just between us, that will didn’t forge itself, did it? And you’ll have the King for a son-in-law, not some snot-nosed kid—the King, Eichbaum…”

         And Benya Krik, he got his way, because he had passion, and passion rules the world. The newlyweds spent three months in fertile Bessarabia, swimming in grapes, plentiful food and the sweat of love. Then Benya returned to Odessa so as to marry off his forty-year-old sister, Dvoyra, who had a goitre that made her eyes bulge. And now, having told the story of Sender Eichbaum, we can get back to the wedding of Dvoyra Krik, the King’s sister.

         At this wedding they served turkey, roast chicken, goose, gefilte fish and fish soup in which lakes of lemon glimmered like mother-of-pearl. Flowers swayed above the dead goose heads like lush plumage. But does the foamy surf of Odessa’s sea wash roast chickens ashore?

         On that starry, that deep blue night, the noblest of our contraband, everything for which our region is celebrated across the land, did its destructive, seductive work. Wine from abroad warmed stomachs, broke legs in the gentlest way possible, numbed brains and brought up a belching as sonorous as the call of a battle horn. The black cook from the Plutarch, which had come in from Port Said three days earlier, smuggled in round-bellied bottles of Jamaican rum, oily Madeira, cigars from Pierpont Morgan’s plantations and oranges from the environs of Jerusalem. That’s what the foamy surf of Odessa’s sea washes ashore; that’s what Odessa’s paupers can hope to get their hands on at Jewish weddings. Odessa’s paupers got their hands on Jamaican rum at Dvoyra Krik’s wedding, sucked up their fill like treyf pigs and raised a deafening clatter with their crutches. Eichbaum undid his vest, gazed at the stormy gathering with narrowed eyes and hiccupped lovingly. The orchestra played flourishes. It was like a divisional parade. Flourishes—nothing but flourishes. The gangsters, who sat in serried ranks, were at first put off by the presence of strangers, but then they loosened up. Lyova the Russkie smashed a bottle of vodka over his beloved’s head. Monya the Gunner fired a shot in the air. But their enthusiasm reached its peak when, in accordance with ancient custom, the guests began to present the newlyweds with gifts. The synagogue shammeses leapt onto the tables and sang out the number of tendered roubles and silver spoons to the sound of the raucous flourishes. And here the King’s friends showed the true worth of Moldavanka’s blue blood and its yet unextinguished chivalry.1 Their careless gestures filled silver trays with gold coins, jewelled rings and coral necklaces.

         These aristocrats of Moldavanka were squeezed into crimson vests, rufous jackets gripped their shoulders, and their fleshy legs nearly burst through leather of the purest azure. Standing tall and sticking out their bellies, the gangsters clapped to the music, shouted “give ’er a kiss” and threw the bride flowers, while she, forty-year-old Dvoyra, sister of Benya Krik, sister of the King, disfigured by disease, with an outsize goitre and bulging eyes, was perched on a mountain of pillows beside a frail boy who had been purchased with Eichbaum’s money and was numb with anguish.

         The rite of gift-giving was coming to a close, the shammeses had grown hoarse and the bass wasn’t getting along with the fiddle. A faint odour of burning suddenly wafted over the courtyard.

         “Benya,” said Krik’s papa, an old drayman who was known as a roughneck even among other draymen. “Know what I think, Benya? What I think is the soot’s burning…”2

         “Papa,” the King told his drunken father. “Please, I ask you, eat a little, drink a little, and don’t pay no mind to that nonsense…”

         And Papa Krik followed his son’s advice. He ate a little, drank a little. But the cloud of smoke grew more and more noxious. Some patches of sky were turning pink. And a flame’s tongue had already shot up into the heavens like a sword. The guests rose in their seats and began sniffing at the air, and their women squealed. The gangsters exchanged glances. Benya alone, noticing nothing, was inconsolable.

         “They’re spoiling my feast,” he cried, full of despair. “Friends, please, I ask you, eat, drink…”

         But at that moment the same young man who’d come earlier appeared in the yard.

         “King,” he said. “I’ve got a couple words for you…”

         “All right, spill,” said the King. “You’re never short a couple words…”

         “King,” the unknown young man said and chuckled. “Funny thing, the police station, it’s burning like a candle…”

         The shopkeepers were numb. The gangsters grinned. Sixty-year-old Manya, matriarch of the Slobodka3 crew, stuck two fingers in her mouth and gave a whistle so shrill it sent those around her reeling.

         “Manya, you ain’t on the job,” Benya told her. “Cool your blood, Manya…”

         The young man who’d brought this startling news was still choking back laughter.

         “They left the station, about forty of them,” he said, his jaws trembling, “heading out on their raid. So they take about fifteen steps, and the fire, it’s already going… You can run over there, see for yourselves…”

         But Benya wouldn’t let his guests go and look at the fire. He set out himself, with two friends. It was a proper fire, the station burning on all four sides. The policemen shimmied up and down the smoke-clogged stairwells, their rear ends jiggling, and tossed boxes from the windows. The prisoners took advantage of the hubbub and made a break for it. The firemen were zealous, to be sure, but there wasn’t a drop of water in the nearest hydrant. The chief—that very broom which sweeps clean—was standing across the street and biting his moustache, which reached into his mouth. The new broom stood motionless. Benya passed by and saluted the chief in military fashion.

         “Sincerest greetings, Your Honour,” he said sympathetically. “What can you say at a moment like this? A real nightmare…”

         He stared at the burning building, shook his head and smacked his lips:

         “Oy, what a nightmare…”

         
            *

         

         By the time Benya came home, the lanterns were going out in the courtyard and day was breaking. The guests had gone, and the musicians were dozing, their heads resting on the necks of their basses. Dvoyra alone wasn’t ready for sleep. She was nudging her timid husband toward the door of their wedding chamber with both hands and leering at him like a cat that holds a mouse in its mouth, probing the creature gently with its teeth.

         
            Notes

            1 Moldavanka: A poor Jewish neighbourhood in Odessa, where Babel was born and where he chose to live in his young adulthood. The legendary ringleader of Moldavanka’s gangsters, Moyshe-Yakov Volfovich Vinnitsky, alias Mishka Yaponchik (Mishka the Jap, 1891–1919), served as the model for Benya Krik.

            2 draymen: In Odessa’s port, the draymen, who unloaded and transported cargo, were known as tough characters and were accorded a great deal of respect. Jews dominated this field of work.

            3 Slobodka: A poor, predominantly Ukrainian neighbourhood on the outskirts of Odessa, home to a criminal underworld second in scale only to Moldavanka’s.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            HOW IT WAS DONE IN ODESSA

         

         SO I SAID to the old man:

         “Reb Aryeh Leib,” I said, “let’s talk about Benya Krik. Let’s talk about his lightning-quick rise and his terrible end. Three shadows block the path of my imagination. There’s Froim the Rook. The steel of his deeds—would it not bear comparison with the King’s own strength? There’s Kolka Pakovsky. That man’s madness gave him all he needed to wield power. And did Chaim Drong really fail to catch the glint of a rising star? So why did Benya Krik alone climb to the top of the rope ladder, leaving the rest of them dangling below on shaky steps?”

         Reb Aryeh Leib didn’t say a word, just sat there on the cemetery wall. Before us stretched the green tranquillity of the graves. A man eager for answers must arm himself with patience. An air of importance suits a man who possesses knowledge. And so Aryeh Leib didn’t say a word, just sat there on the cemetery wall. Finally, he broke his silence:

         “Why him, you want to know? Why not the rest of them? Ah, then forget for a while that you’ve got glasses on your nose and autumn in your heart. Stop raising hell at your desk and stammering in public. Imagine for a moment that you raise hell in the streets and stammer on the page. You’re a tiger, a lion, a cat. You can spend the night with a Russian woman and know that you’ve left her satisfied. You’re twenty-five years old. If the sky and the ground had rings attached, you’d grab those rings and pull the sky down to the ground. And your papa, he’s the drayman Mendel Krik. What’s a papa like that think about? He thinks, this papa, about a nice glass of vodka, about landing a punch to the mug, don’t matter whose, about his horses—and that’s all. You want to live, and he makes you die twenty times a day. What would you do in Benya Krik’s shoes? Ah, you wouldn’t do a thing. But he did. And that’s why he’s the King, and you—you just thumb your nose behind people’s backs.

         “And so Benchik, he went to Froim the Rook, who was already watching the world through one eye, who was already what you know him to be. And he said to Froim:

         “‘Take me in. I want to moor at your dock. The dock I moor at, it won’t be sorry.’

         “So the Rook asks him:

         “‘Who are you, where’d you come from, what makes you tick?’

         “‘Look, Froim, let’s stop smearing kasha,’ says Benya. ‘Try me.’

         “‘All right, we’ll stop smearing kasha,’ says the Rook. ‘I’ll give you a try.’

         “So the gangsters had a council, to think over Benya Krik. Now, I wasn’t at that council. But word is they had a council. The elder back then was the late Lyovka the Bull.

         “‘What’s he got under his cap, this Benchik?’ asks the late Bull.

         “And the one-eyed Rook, he gives his opinion:

         “‘Benya, he doesn’t talk much, but what he says, it’s got flavour. He doesn’t talk much, but when he talks, you want he should keep talking.’

         “‘Is that so?’ the late Lyovka cries out. ‘Well, then, let’s try him on Tartakovsky.’

         “‘Let’s try him on Tartakovsky,’ the council decided, and the ones that still had a conscience quartered in their souls turned red when they heard this decision. And why did they turn red? Keep up and you’ll learn.

         “They used to call Tartakovsky ‘Yid-and-a-Half’ or ‘Nine Shakedowns’. They called him ‘Yid-and-a-Half’ on account of the fact that no single Jew could contain the guts and the gelt that Tartakovsky contained. He was taller than the tallest policeman in Odessa, thicker than the thickest Jewess. And ‘Nine Shakedowns’ they called him because the firm of Lyovka the Bull and Company had tried not eight and not ten, but exactly nine times to shake down his concern. And Benya, who was not yet the King, mind you, had the honour of trying to shake Yid-and-a-Half down for the tenth time. When Froim informed him of this, Benya said ‘yes’ and marched out, slamming the door behind him. And why did he slam the door? Keep up and you’ll learn.

         “Tartakovsky’s soul is a killer’s soul, but he’s one of us. He’s our kind. Blood of our blood, flesh of our flesh, as if we were born to the same mama. He’s got half of Odessa working in his shops. And he’s suffered plenty at the hands of his brethren from Moldavanka. Twice they kidnapped him for ransom, and once, during a pogrom, they buried him, with a choir. The thugs from Slobodka, they were beating the Jews on Bolshaya Arnautskaya Street. Tartakovsky, he ran away, and at Sofiyskaya Street he came across a funeral procession with a choir. So he asks:

         “‘Who’re they burying with a choir?’

         “And someone tells him they’re burying Tartakovsky. Well, when the procession finally got to the cemetery in Slobodka, our boys grabbed a machine gun out of the coffin and let the thugs have it. But Yid-and-a-Half, he didn’t see that coming. Yid-and-a-Half was scared to death. And what boss wouldn’t be scared in his shoes?

         “Now, shaking down a man for the tenth time, after he’s already been buried once, is a rude thing to do. Benya, who was not yet the King, mind you, understood this better than anyone. But he told the Rook ‘yes’, and that very day wrote Tartakovsky a letter, which read like all letters of that sort:

         “‘My dear Reuben Osipovich! Please be so kind as to place, by this Saturday, under the rain barrel…’, and so on. ‘In case you refuse, as you’ve allowed yourself to do lately, what awaits you is a great disappointment in your family life. Respectfully, your acquaintance Benzion Krik.’

         “Tartakovsky, he didn’t drag his feet, he responded right away.

         “‘Benya! If you were an idiot, I would address you as an idiot! But I don’t know you for an idiot, and God forbid you should be known for one. You must be playing innocent. You mean to say you haven’t heard about this year’s harvest in Argentina? They’re rolling in it, and we’re sitting on wheat no one wants… And you know what? I tell you, hand on my heart, I’m tired of having to eat such bitter bread in my old age, tired of having to deal with all these troubles. This, after breaking my back like a workhorse year in and year out. And what have I got to show for this life sentence of hard labour? Ulcers, sickness, worries and sleepless nights. So let’s you and me drop this nonsense, Benya. Your friend, and a better one than you think, Reuben Tartakovsky.’

         “Yid-and-a-Half did his part. He wrote a letter. But the post office, it never delivered the letter to the right address. Benya never got his answer, so he got sore. The next day he shows up at Tartakovsky’s office with four of his friends. Four masked youngsters with revolvers burst into the room.

         “‘Hands up!’ they say, waving their pistols in the air.

         “‘Solomon, calm yourself,’ Benya tells the boy who’s shouting the loudest. ‘Getting nervous on the job, that’s a bad habit to have.’ Then he turns to the clerk, who’s as white as death and yellow as clay, and asks:

         “‘Yid-and-a-Half here?’

         “‘No, the boss is out,’ says the clerk, a Muginshteyn, name of Joseph, the bachelor son of Aunt Pesya, the one who sells chickens down on Seredinskaya Square.

         “‘So who’s boss when the boss ain’t around?’ they press poor Muginshteyn.

         “‘I suppose I’m boss,’ says the clerk, who’s turned green as grass.

         “‘Then God help you. Open up that till!” Benya orders, and what you have then is an opera in three acts.

         “Nervous Solomon’s shoving money, papers, watches and stocks into a suitcase, the soon-to-be-lamented Muginshteyn has his hands in the air, and Benya, he’s telling tales from the life of the Jewish people.

         “‘Wants to play Rothschild, does he?’ Benya says about Tartakovsky. ‘So let him burn. You tell me, Muginshteyn, tell me as a friend: the man gets my business letter—and what? He can’t fork out five copecks and take the tram to my place, have a shot of vodka with my family and a bite of whatever God’s sent us? He couldn’t come out and tell me what was in his heart? Just come and say, “Benya, this and that, here’s my balance sheet, you just hold off a couple days, let me breathe, mull it over.” And what do you think I’d tell him? A pig won’t meet another pig halfway, but a man will meet a man. You get me, Muginshteyn?’

         “‘I get you,’ Muginshteyn says—and that was a lie, because he had absolutely no idea why Yid-and-a-Half, a rich man, a big shot, should take a tram to break bread with the family of Mendel Krik the drayman.

         “And all the while misfortune was drifting beneath the windows like a beggar at dawn. Then misfortune bursts into the office with a terrible noise. And though this time it takes the form of Savka Butsis, a Jew, it’s as drunk as a water-carrier.

         “‘Well, well, well!’ the Jew Savka shouts. ‘Sorry I’m late, Benchik.’ And he starts stamping his feet, waving his arms. Then he fires his pistol, and the bullet hits Muginshteyn in the belly.

         “Now, what can you say about that? There was a man, and the man is no more. An innocent bachelor, he lived like a bird on a branch—and a fool thing like that robs him of his life. Along comes a Jew looking like a sailor, and he goes and fires a shot not at some bottle for a prize, but right in a man’s belly. What can you say about that?

         “‘Everybody scram!’ Benya shouts and runs out after the rest of them. But before they split up, he tells Butsis:

         “‘I swear on my mother’s grave, Savka, I’ll put you in the ground right next to Muginshteyn…’

         “Now, tell me, a young gentleman like yourself, who clips the coupons off other people’s bonds, what would you have done in Benya Krik’s shoes? Ah, you don’t know. But he knew. And that’s why he’s the King, while you and me, we just sit here on the wall of the Second Jewish Cemetery and shield our eyes from the sun.

         “Aunt Pesya’s poor son, he doesn’t die then and there. They get him to the hospital, and an hour later Benya shows up. He has them call in the senior doctor and the nurse, and he tells them, hands deep in the pockets of his cream-coloured trousers:

         “‘I’ve got an interest,’ he says, ‘in seeing your patient Joseph Muginshteyn make a full recovery. And just so you know who you’re talking to, my name’s Benzion Krik. See to it that Muginshteyn gets camphor, air cushions, a private room—the whole works. And if you don’t, then all doctors, even doctors of philosophy, get six feet of earth.’

         “But it couldn’t be helped. Muginshteyn died that same night. And it was then that Yid-and-a-Half raised a big stink all over Odessa.

         “‘Where do the police start,’ he howled, ‘and where does Benya stop?’

         “‘The police stop where Benya starts,’ reasonable people told him, but Tartakovsky, he wouldn’t calm down, so one day a red car with a musical horn shows up on Seredinskaya Square, honking the first march from Pagliacci.

         “Its wheels thundering and copper gleaming, the car flies up to Aunt Pesya’s little house in broad daylight—spitting smoke, reeking of gasoline and playing arias on its horn. Someone jumps out and heads into the kitchen where little Aunt Pesya’s writhing on the earthen floor. Yid-and-a-Half’s in there, sitting on a chair and waving his arms.

         “‘You rotten hood!’ he shouts when he sees the guest. ‘You dirty gangster, may the earth spit you out! That’s the latest fashion with you mugs? Going around killing live people?’

         “‘Monsieur Tartakovsky,’ Benya Krik replies in a low voice, ‘two days and two nights I’ve been shedding tears for the dearly departed as if he’d been my own brother. I know, I know—you don’t give two copecks about my young tears. But shame, Monsieur Tartakovsky—in which fireproof safe have you hidden your shame? You had the nerve to send the mother of our lamented Joseph a hundred miserable roubles. When I heard about this, my brain stood on end right along with my hair.’

         “And here Benya paused. He was wearing a chocolate-brown jacket, cream-coloured trousers and boots of raspberry-red.

         “‘Ten thousand on the spot,’ he roared, ‘ten thousand on the spot and a pension till her dying day, may she live to be a hundred and twenty. And if not, Monsieur Tartakovsky, then you and me will leave this room and take a ride in my car…’

         “Then they had words. Yid-and-a-Half had some choice ones for Benya. Now, I wasn’t there to see that fight. But those who were won’t soon forget it. Well, they finally came to terms—five thousand in cash, fifty roubles a month.

         “Then Benya turns to the dishevelled old woman twisted up on the floor and says, ‘Aunt Pesya, if you want my life, you can have it, but everyone makes mistakes, even God. That’s what it was, Aunt Pesya—a huge mistake. But wasn’t it a mistake on God’s part to put the Jews in Russia, where they suffer as if they’re in hell? I ask you, why not have the Jews live in Switzerland, with nothing but top-quality lakes, mountain air and Frenchmen as far as the eye can see? Everyone makes mistakes, even God. Listen to me with your ears, Aunt Pesya. You’ve got five thousand in hand and fifty roubles a month till the day you die—may you live to be a hundred and twenty. And Joseph will have a first-rate funeral: six horses like lions, two hearses with garlands, the Brodsky Synagogue choir, and we’ll get Minkovsky himself to come and chant for your lamented son…’

         “And they held the funeral the next morning. You want to know about this funeral? Ask the beggars at the cemetery. Ask the shammeses at the synagogue, the kosher poultry traders, the old women from the Second Almshouse. Odessa had never seen such a funeral before, and the world will never see one like it. That day the police wore cotton gloves. The synagogues, decked with greenery, their doors wide open, glowed with electric light. Black plumes swayed atop the white horses pulling the hearse. A choir of sixty chanters led the procession. The chanters were little boys, but they sang with the voices of women. The elders of the synagogue of kosher poultry traders held Aunt Pesya up under her arms. Then came members of the Society of Jewish Shop Clerks, and behind them—attorneys, doctors of medicine, nurses and midwives. Flanking Aunt Pesya on one side were the poultry women from the Old Market, and on the other the esteemed milk women from Bugayovka, wrapped in orange shawls.1 They stamped their feet like gendarmes on holiday parade. Their broad hips smelt of milk and the sea. And behind them schlepped the employees of Reuben Tartakovsky. There were a hundred of them, or two hundred, or two thousand. They wore black frock coats with silk lapels and new boots that squeaked like piglets in a poke.

         “And now I will speak as the Lord spoke on Mount Sinai from the burning bush. Place my words in your ears. What I saw, I saw with my own eyes, sitting right here, on the wall of the Second Cemetery, next to the lisping Moiseyka and Shimshon from the funeral parlour. It was I who saw it, Aryeh Leib, a proud Jew who lives among the dead.

         “The hearse rode up to the cemetery synagogue. They placed the coffin on the steps. Aunt Pesya, she was trembling like a little bird. The cantor climbed down from his phaeton and began the service. The sixty chanters joined in. And right then a red car came flying around the corner. It honked Pagliacci and hit the brakes. Not a sound from anyone—they might as well have been dead. Not a sound from the trees, the chanters, the beggars. Four men got out from under the red roof and, stepping quietly, carried a wreath of roses such as you’ve never seen up to the hearse. And when the service was over, these four men hoisted the coffin on their shoulders of steel and marched off—eyes burning, chests stuck out—beside the members of the Society of Jewish Shop Clerks.

         “And up ahead, in front of everyone, marched Benya Krik—who wasn’t yet the King to anyone, mind you. He reached the grave first, ascended the little mound and stretched out his hand.

         “At that point Kofman, from the chevra kadisha, ran up to him and asked, ‘Young man, what is it you want?’

         “‘I want to make a speech,’ Benya Krik said.

         “And a speech he made. If you wanted to hear it, you heard it. And I, Aryeh Leib, heard it, along with lisping Moiseyka, who was sitting on the wall next to me.

         “‘Ladies and gentlemen,’ said Benya Krik, ‘ladies and gentlemen,’ he said, and the sun rose over his head like a sentry with a rifle. ‘You came to pay your last respects to an honest worker, who laid down his life for a copper half-copeck. On my own behalf, and on behalf of all those not gathered here, I thank you. Ladies and gentlemen! What did our dear Joseph manage to see in life? Bupkis is what. How did he occupy himself? Counting other people’s money. What did he die for? He died for the whole working class. There are people in this world who are doomed to die, and there are people who have not yet begun to live. And that bullet—the bullet that flies towards the doomed breast—pierced Joseph, who’d seen bupkis in life. There are people in this world who know how to drink vodka, and there are people who don’t know how to drink vodka but still drink it. The first, they take pleasure in grief and in joy, while the others, they suffer for all those who drink vodka without knowing how to drink it. And so, ladies and gentlemen, after we pray for our poor Joseph, I ask you to accompany Savely Butsis, unknown to you but already lamented, to his grave…’

         “After saying these words, Benya stepped down from the mound. Not a sound from the mourners, the trees, the cemetery beggars. Two gravediggers carried an unpainted coffin to a nearby grave. The cantor stammered through his prayer. Benya was first to shovel earth on Joseph’s coffin, then he went over to Savka’s. All the attorneys and ladies with brooches followed him, like sheep. He made the cantor sing a whole service over Savka, with the sixty chanters joining in. Savka never dreamt of such a service, believe you me, Aryeh Leib, an old man as old as the hills.

         “They say Yid-and-a-Half decided to shut up shop that very day. Now, I wasn’t there to see it. But the fact that neither the cantor, nor the choir, nor the chevra kadisha asked to be paid for the funeral—that I saw with Aryeh Leib’s own eyes. Aryeh Leib—that’s my name. But that’s about all I could see, because once people sneaked away from Savka’s grave they took off running as if from a fire. They fled in phaetons, in carts and on foot. And only the four men who’d come in the red car drove away in it. The horn honked its march, the engine rumbled, and the car sped away.

         “And lisping Moiseyka, who always steals the best seats on the wall, followed the car with his eyes and said, ‘The King.’

         “Now you know everything. You know who first pronounced the word ‘King’. It was Moiseyka. And you know why he didn’t use it on the one-eyed Rook or mad Kolka. You know everything. But what’s the use, I ask you, if you’ve still got glasses on your nose and autumn in your heart?…”

         
            Notes

            1 The Old Market (Staryi Bazar) has been a centre of trade in Odessa since the city’s founding. The Bugayovka neighbourhood has traditionally been as poor as Moldovanka and Slobodka.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            LYUBKA THE COSSACK

         

         IN MOLDAVANKA, on the corner of Dalnitskaya and Balkovskaya Streets, stands the house of Lyubka Shneyveys. In this house you’ll find a wine cellar, an inn, a feed store and a dovecote for a hundred pair of Kryukov and Nikolayev doves.1 All these things, along with plot forty-six at the Odessa quarries,2 are owned by Lyubka Shneyveys, nicknamed Lyubka the Cossack—all, that is, except for the dovecote, which belongs to Yevzel the watchman, a retired soldier with a medal. On Sundays Yevzel heads out to Okhotnitsky Square and sells his doves to city clerks and kids from the neighbourhood. Besides Yevzel, Lyubka’s courtyard is also home to Pesya Mindl, the cook and procuress, and to Tsudechkis, the manager, a Jew about as puny and with the same little beard as Ben Zkharya, our Moldavanka rabbi. I’ve got a lot of stories about Tsudechkis. And the first of these stories is how he came to manage the inn for Lyubka, nicknamed the Cossack.

         About ten years ago Tsudechkis brokered a deal for one of the local landowners, helping him buy a horse-drawn thresher, and in the evening he took this landowner to Lyubka’s place, so they could celebrate in style. This buyer had whiskers reaching all the way down to his chin, and his boots were patent leather. Pesya Mindl served him gefilte fish for dinner, and after dinner a fine young lady by the name of Nastya. The landlord spent the night, and the next morning Yevzel woke Tsudechkis, who had curled up on the doorstep of Lyubka’s room.

         “Listen here,” said Yevzel, “last night you were talking big, saying how you helped that landowner buy a thresher—well, let me tell you, he spent the night, then ran off at dawn like the scum that he is. Now, hand over two roubles for the meal and four for the young lady. You’re a slick one, old man. Plain to see. You know the score.”

         But Tsudechkis wouldn’t hand over the money. So Yevzel shoved him into Lyubka’s room and locked the door behind him.

         “Listen here,” said the watchman, “you just sit tight, and when Lyubka comes back from the quarry, she’ll wring your neck, God help her. Amen.”

         “You convict!” Tsudechkis said to the soldier, glancing around the room. “You know nothing but your doves, convict, but I’ve still got faith in God, and he’ll lead me out of here, same as he led all the Jews out of Egypt, and then led them out of the desert…”

         The puny broker had a lot more to say to Yevzel, but the soldier pocketed the key and stomped off in his big boots. Then Tsudechkis turned and saw the procuress Pesya Mindl sitting by the window, reading The Miracles and the Heart of the Baal Shem.3 She was reading the gilt-edged Hasidic book and rocking an oak cradle with her foot. Lyubka’s son, Davidka, lay in the cradle, crying.

         “So that’s how things work in this penal colony,” Tsudechkis said to Pesya Mindl. “You’ve got a child lying there, crying its heart out, a pity to watch him, and you, a fat woman, sit there like a stone in the forest, won’t even give him a bottle…”

         “Give it to him yourself,” said Pesya Mindl without looking up from her book. “If he should take it from you, you old trickster. He’s as big as a Russkie and all he wants is his mama’s milk, but his mama, she’s bounding around the quarries, drinking tea with the Jews at The Bear, buying up contraband at the harbour. Believe you me, she gives as much thought to her son as to last year’s snow…”

         “Yes,” the puny broker said to himself, “you’re in the pharaoh’s hands, Tsudechkis.” He walked over to the eastern wall, muttered the whole Morning Prayer, adding a coda or two, and then took the crying infant in his arms. Davidka looked up puzzled and waved his little crimson legs, which were bathed in infantile sweat, while the old man began walking up and down the room, swaying like a tsaddik4 in prayer and singing a song without end.

         “A-a-a,” he sang, “other children get big holes, but Davidochka gets rolls, so he sleeps both day and night… A-a-a, other children get tight fists…”

         Tsudechkis showed Lyubka’s son a little fist with grey hairs and kept going on about the holes and the rolls until the boy fell asleep and the sun reached the middle of the gleaming sky. It reached the middle and began to tremble like a fly sapped of its strength by the heat. The wild peasants from Nerubaysk and Tatarka staying at Lyubka’s inn clambered under their carts and fell deep into a wild, babbling sleep. A drunken workman trudged into the gateway, dropped his plane and his saw, and collapsed to the ground—collapsed and began to snore for the world to hear, enveloped by July’s golden flies and its azure flashes of lightning. Nearby, in the shade, sat the wrinkled German settlers who’d brought Lyubka wine from the Bessarabian border. They lit their pipes, and the smoke from these sinuous chibouks mingled with the silvery stubble on their unshaven elderly cheeks. The sun hung from the sky like a thirsty dog’s rosy tongue, off in the distance the colossal sea rolled onto Peresyp, and the masts of faraway ships rocked gently on the emerald waters of the Odessa Bay.5 The day sat in a glorious barque, gliding towards evening, and it was only when evening loomed, at five o’clock, that Lyubka returned from town. She arrived on a little roan nag with a big belly and a shaggy mane. A thick-legged fellow in a cotton shirt opened the gate, Yevzel gripped her nag’s bridle, and then Tsudechkis shouted to Lyubka from the place of his confinement:

         “My respects, Madame Shneyveys, and a good afternoon. I see you decided to go off on business for three years and dump a hungry child in my lap…”

         “Shut it, mug,” Lyubka shot back at the old man and climbed down from the saddle. “Who’s that yapping in my window?”

         “Tsudechkis, that slick old man,” the soldier with the medal informed the mistress, and then launched into the whole story with the landowner, but he didn’t get to the end, because the broker interrupted him, screeching at the top of his lungs.

         “A shame, I tell you, a shanda!” he screeched and threw down his skullcap. “Dumping your child in someone’s lap and disappearing for three years… You get over here right this minute and give him your teat…”

         “Don’t you worry, I’m coming, you swindler,” Lyubka muttered and headed for the stairs. She burst into the room and popped a breast out of her dusty shirt.

         The boy reached out to her, gnawed at her monstrous nipple, but got no milk. A vein swelled on the mother’s forehead, and Tsudechkis told her, shaking his skullcap, “You want to snap everything up, greedy Lyubka; you drag the whole world towards you, like children drag a tablecloth to get at breadcrumbs; you want the finest wheat, the finest grapes; you want to bake white bread in the heat of the sun, while your bundle of joy, your little bubbeleh, wastes away without milk…”

         “You want I should give milk?” the woman hollered and squeezed her breast. “The Plutarch pulled into the harbour today and I covered fifteen versts in the heat. While you, you old Jew, give me the old song and dance. Go ahead and pay up the six roubles…”

         But Tsudechkis still wouldn’t hand over the money. He undid his sleeve, bared his arm and shoved his bony, grimy elbow in Lyubka’s mouth.

         “Choke on it, felon,” he said and spat into a corner.

         Lyubka stood there with someone else’s elbow in her mouth, then took it out, left the room, locked the door behind her and went out into the yard. Mr Trottyburn, a veritable pillar of red meat, had been waiting. Mr Trottyburn was the chief engineer on the Plutarch. He had brought two sailors with him. One of the sailors was an Englishman, the other a Malay. All three of them had dragged the contraband from Port Said into the yard. Their crate was heavy. It slipped from their hands, hit the ground and out rolled cigars tangled up in Japanese silk. A gaggle of women flocked to the crate, and two wandering gypsies, wobbling and rattling, came sidling up.

         “Shove off, crones!” Lyubka hollered and led the sailors off into the shade of an acacia tree. They sat down at a table, Yevzel poured them wine, and Mr Trottyburn unwrapped his wares. He drew out cigars and delicate silks, cocaine and metal files, loose-leaf tobacco from the state of Virginia and black wine purchased on the isle of Chios. Every object had its price; they washed down each figure with Bessarabian wine, which smelt of sunshine and bedbugs. Dusk rolled across the yard, dusk rolled like an evening wave across a wide river, and the drunken Malay, completely bewildered, touched Lyubka’s chest with a finger. First he touched it with one finger, then with each of his fingers in turn.

         His tender yellow eyes hung over the table like paper lanterns over a street in China; he sang something very quietly, then Lyubka pushed him with her fist and he fell to the ground.

         “Knows what he wants, the little guy,” Lyubka told Mr Trottyburn. “Gonna lose the last of my milk to this Malay, when that Jew up there, he’s eating me alive for it…”

         And she pointed up at Tsudechkis, who was standing by the window and washing his socks. A small lamp was sending up smoke in the room, the tub foamed and hissed, and Tsudechkis, sensing that the people below were talking about him, leant out the window and cried out in despair.

         “Help me, people!” he cried, waving his arms.

         “Shut it, mug!” Lyubka laughed. “Just shut it.”

         She threw a rock at the old man, but missed her first shot. So then the woman grabbed an empty bottle of wine. But Mr Trottyburn, the chief engineer, took the bottle from her hands, aimed and lobbed it squarely through the open window.

         “Miss Lyubka,” the chief engineer said, rising from the table and aligning his drunken legs. “Many respectable people come to me for goods, Miss Lyubka, but I don’t give my goods to any of them—not to Mr Kuninson, not to Mr Batya, not to Mr Kupchik. I only do business with you, Miss Lyubka, because I find your conversation most delightful…”

         Having firmed up his tottering legs, he grabbed his two sailors—one English, the other Malay—by the shoulders and led them in a dance around the cooling courtyard. The people from the Plutarch—they danced in meditative silence. An orange star had rolled down to the very edge of the horizon and stared at them, wide-eyed. Then they got their money, grabbed one another by the hand, and went out into the street, swaying like a hanging lantern on a ship. From the street they could make out the sea, the black water of the Odessa Bay, the toy-like flags atop the submerged masts and the piercing lights burning in spacious interiors. Lyubka accompanied her dancing guests to the crossing; she stood alone in the empty street for a while, laughed to herself, and turned back for home. The sleepy fellow in the cotton shirt locked the gate behind the mistress, Yevzel brought her the day’s receipts, and she headed upstairs to bed. There she found the procuress Pesya Mindl already asleep, and Tsudechkis rocking the oak cradle with his bare puny feet.

         “You’ve tormented us, shameless Lyubka,” he said, and took the child from the cradle. “Lousy mother—here, watch and learn…”

         He placed a small comb on Lyubka’s breast and laid her son in the bed next to her. The child reached for his mother, pricked itself on the comb, and began to cry. Then the old man offered Davidka the bottle, but he turned away.

         “What’s this witchery, you old cheat?” Lyubka muttered, dozing off.

         “Quiet, you lousy mother you!” Tsudechkis answered. “Watch and learn, damn you…”

         The child pricked itself on the comb once more, then hesitantly took hold of the bottle and began to suck.

         “There,” said Tsudechkis and laughed. “I weaned your child. You could learn a few things from me, damn you…”

         Davidka lay in his cradle, sucking his bottle and drooling in bliss. Lyubka woke up, opened her eyes, then closed them again. She glimpsed her son and the moon breaking in through her window. The moon went leaping through black clouds, like a stray calf.

         “All right,” Lyubka said. “Pesya Mindl, you open the door for Tsudechkis. And let him come get a pound of American tobacco tomorrow…”

         And the next day Tsudechkis showed up for his pound of loose-leaf tobacco from the state of Virginia. He got a quarter-pound of tea in the bargain. A week later, when I came to buy doves from Yevzel, I saw that Lyubka’s inn had a new manager. He was as tiny as Ben Zkharya, our rabbi. Tsudechkis was the new manager.

         He stayed at this post for fifteen years, and during that time I heard a lot of stories about him. And if I can, I’ll tell them in order, because these stories, they’re very interesting.

         
            Notes

            1 Kryukov has been incorporated into the city of Kremenchuk, Ukraine, which lies on the Dnieper River, about 265 miles north-east of Odessa. Nikolayev (now Mykolaiv, Ukraine) lies about 80 miles east of Odessa on the Black Sea; it is a major shipbuilding centre.

            2 Much of Odessa is built of limestone, quarried from beneath the city. The depleted quarries make up a vast system of catacombs.

            3 The Baal Shem Tov (Hebrew: “Master of the Good Name”) is the title given to Rabbi Yisroel ben Eliezer (c.1700–60), the founder of Hasidic Judaism, by his followers.

            4 tsaddik: A term of respect in the Jewish tradition, bestowed upon the most righteous figures.

            5 Peresyp: An industrial region of Odessa, which sits on an isthmus between the Black Sea and two saltwater lakes.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            FATHER

         

         FROIM THE ROOK had been married once. That was a long time ago, twenty years back. Froim’s wife had borne him a daughter and died in childbirth. The girl was named Basya. Her mother’s mother lived in Tulchyn. The old woman had no love for her son-in-law. She would say of him: “Froim, he’s a drayman by trade, and some of his horses are black—but Froim’s soul is blacker than those horses…”

         The old woman had no love for her son-in-law and took away the newborn. She lived with the girl for twenty years, then died. And so Basya returned to her father. This is how it happened.

         On Wednesday the fifth, Froim the Rook was carting wheat from the Dreyfus Company’s warehouses down to the port, to load it onto the SS Caledonia. He finished the job towards evening and headed home. Turning the corner on Prokhorovskaya Street, he ran into the blacksmith Ivan Pyatirubel.1

         “Greetings, Rook,” said Ivan Pyatirubel. “You’ve got some woman banging at your door…”

         When the Rook reached his courtyard he saw a woman of gigantic proportions. Her hips were enormous, her cheeks brick red.

         “Papa,” the woman boomed in a thunderous bass. “I’m so bored I could burst. I’ve been waiting all day for you… Grandmother died up in Tulchyn, you know.”

         The Rook was standing on his dray, staring at his daughter.

         “Quit stamping around in front of my horses!” he cried in despair. “Here, grab the wheeler’s bridle. Whaddaya wanna do, cripple ’em?”

         The Rook was standing on his dray, waving his whip. Basya took the wheeler by the bridle and led the horses to the stable. She unharnessed them, then went off to the kitchen and made herself busy. She hung her father’s foot-wrappings out to dry on a line, scrubbed the sooty tea kettle with sand, and warmed up some kasha in a cast-iron pot.

         “You’ve got filth in here like nobody’s business, Papa,” she said, picked some putrid sheepskins up off the floor, and tossed them out the window. “But I’ll get rid of it yet,” Basya boomed, and served her father dinner.

         The old man drank vodka from an enamelled tea kettle and ate kasha that smelt of a happy childhood. Then he grabbed his whip and stepped out of the gate. Basya followed him. She’d put on a pair of men’s boots and an orange dress, put on a hat decked with birds, and took a seat on the bench. Evening came sauntering past the bench, the sunset’s radiant eye sank into the sea beyond Peresyp, and the sky was as red as a red-letter day in a calendar. All trade on Dalnitskaya Street had ground to a halt, and the gangsters went down to Glukhaya Street, to Yoska Samuelson’s brothel. They rode in lacquered carriages, looking like hummingbirds in their bright-coloured jackets. Eyes bulging and one foot resting on the running board, each held a bouquet wrapped in tissue paper in an outstretched steely hand. The lacquered cabs moved at a walk, a man with a bouquet in every carriage, and a driver sticking up on the high seat, all done up with bows like a best man at a wedding. Old Jewish women in headscarves gazed lazily at the flow of this customary procession—they were indifferent to everything, these old Jewish women, and it was only the sons of shopkeepers and shipwrights that envied the kings of Moldavanka.

         Solomonchik Kaplun, a grocer’s son, and Monya the Gunner, a smuggler’s son, were two of those trying to avert their eyes from the dazzle of other people’s good fortune. They went past Basya, swaying like girls at the first taste of love, exchanged a few whispers, then indicated with their hands how they’d embrace the girl, if she wanted it. And Basya wanted it—wanted it right away, because she was a simple girl from Tulchyn, that selfish, purblind little town. She weighed a full thirteen stone and a few pounds besides, had lived her whole life among the malicious offshoots of Podolia’s brokers, itinerant booksellers and lumber dealers, and had never seen anyone like Solomonchik Kaplun. So when she saw him, she began scraping the ground with those thick legs of hers, clad in men’s boots, and said to her father:

         “Papa,” she thundered, “look at that little gent: he’s got legs like a doll! Oh, I’d squeeze those little things to death…”

         “Looky there, Mr Rook,” whispered an old Jew sitting beside them—an old Jew by the name of Golubchik, “I see your baby girl is champing at the bit…”

         “Nothing but trouble and more trouble,” Froim replied to Golubchik, flourished his whip and went off to bed, where he fell right asleep, because he didn’t believe the old man. He didn’t believe the old man, but he was wrong not to. Golubchik was right. Golubchik was a matchmaker on our street, said the prayers over the prosperous dead at night and knew everything there was to know about life. Froim the Rook was wrong. Golubchik was right.

         And indeed, from that day forward Basya spent all her evenings outside the gate. She’d sit there on the bench, sewing herself a dowry. Pregnant women would sit beside her; piles of linen would go crawling over her mighty parted knees; the pregnant women would swell up with all sorts of things, like a cow’s udder swells up in the pasture with the pink milk of springtime, and then their husbands, one after the other, would come home from work. These ornery wives’ husbands would wring out their tousled beards under the outside tap, then step aside and let humpbacked old women take their place. The old women would bathe their plump grandchildren in wash-tubs, slapping the infants on their gleaming buttocks and wrapping them up in worn-out skirts. And so Basya from Tulchyn got to see the life of Moldavanka, our generous mother—a life stuffed full of suckling infants, drying rags and conjugal nights brimming with provincial chic and soldierly tirelessness. The girl wanted that life for herself, but she learnt right away that the one-eyed Rook’s daughter couldn’t count on a good match. That’s when she stopped calling her father “father”.

         “Red-headed thief,” she’d shout to him in the evening. “Come get your supper, you red-headed thief…”

         And so it went until Basya had sewed herself six nightgowns and six pairs of bloomers with lace ruffles. When she’d finished sewing on the lace she cried in a thin voice not at all like her own, telling the unshakable Rook through her tears:

         “Every girl,” she said to him, “has got her own interest in life, and I’m the only one that’s got to live like a nightwatchman at someone else’s warehouse. Either you do something for me, Papa, or I go and put an end to my life…”

         The Rook heard his daughter out, and the next day he put on a sailcloth cloak and paid a visit to the grocer Kaplun at the Privoz Market.2

         A golden sign gleamed above Kaplun’s shop. His was the first shop in the market. It smelt of many seas and glorious lives which we could only dream of. A young boy was sprinkling the shop’s cool inner depths from a watering can, singing a song meant only for adults. Solomonchik, the owner’s son, stood behind the counter, which was laid out with olives from Greece, oil from Marseilles, coffee beans, Malaga from Lisbon, tinned sardines from the firm of Philippe et Canaud, and cayenne pepper. Kaplun himself, stripped down to his vest, sat in the shop’s little sun porch, baking in the heat and eating a watermelon—a red watermelon with black, squinting seeds, like the eyes of artful China girls. Kaplun’s paunch sprawled on the table beneath the sun, and the sun could do nothing about it. But then the grocer saw the Rook in his sailcloth cloak and turned pale.

         “Good day, Monsieur Rook,” he said and backed away. “Golubchik warned me that you might be coming, so I’ve prepared a pound of tea for you… A real find, this tea…”

         And he started telling the Rook about this new variety of tea, which had been brought to Odessa on Dutch ships. The Rook listened patiently, but then he cut him off, because he was a simple man, had nothing to hide.

         “I’m a simple man, I’ve got nothing to hide,” said Froim. “I tend to my horses and tend to my affairs. Basya comes with new linens and a few coins, and she comes with my backing. Whoever says that ain’t enough can burn…”

         “Burn? Why burn?” Kaplun answered in a patter and stroked the drayman’s arm. “Let’s not use such strong words, Monsieur Rook—after all, you’re a man that can help another man, and, truth be told, can hurt another man—and the fact that you’re no Rabbi of Krakow, well… I didn’t stand at the altar with Moses Montefiore’s niece, either, but… but Madame Kaplun… we’ve got Madame Kaplun, a grand lady, even God doesn’t know what she wants…”3

         “Well, I know,” the Rook cut the shopkeeper off again. “I know that Solomonchik, he wants Basya, but Madame Kaplun, she don’t want me…”

         “That’s right—I don’t want you!” cried Madame Kaplun, who’d been eavesdropping at the door, and stormed into the sun porch, all ablaze, her chest heaving. “I don’t want you, Rook, like no one wants to die; I don’t want you like a bride doesn’t want pimples on her head. Don’t you forget that our late grandfather was a grocer, and we’ve got to stick to our racket…”

         “So stick to your racket,” the Rook replied to the blazing Madame Kaplun and went home.

         Basya was waiting for him in her orange dress, but the old man didn’t even glance at her. He spread a sheepskin coat under his dray and lay down on it, falling asleep, and sleeping soundly until Basya’s mighty arm swept him out from under.

         “You red-headed thief,” the girl said in a whisper not at all like her own. “Why have I got to put up with your drayman’s manners, and why are you mum as a stump, you red-headed thief?”

         “Basya,” the Rook said. “Solomonchik wants you, but Madame Kaplun, she don’t want me… They’re looking for a grocer.”

         The old man adjusted the sheepskin and crawled back under the dray, while Basya disappeared from the yard…

         All this happened on Saturday, a day free of work. The purple eye of sunset swept the ground in the evening, landing on the Rook as he lay snoring under his dray. The impetuous beam glared at the sleeping man with fiery reproach and led him out to Dalnitskaya Street, which shimmered and dusted the air like green rye in a breeze. Tatars were walking up Dalnitskaya—Tatars and Turks, with their mullahs. They were returning from their pilgrimage to Mecca, heading home to the Orenburg Steppe and Transcaucasia. A steamship had deposited them in Odessa, and they were walking from the port to the inn of Lyubka Shneyveys, nicknamed Lyubka the Cossack. Stiff striped robes hung from the Tatars’ shoulders, flooding the pavement with the bronze sweat of the desert. White towels were wrapped around their fezzes, signifying that they had bowed down before the Prophet’s remains. The pilgrims reached the corner, turned toward Lyubka’s inn, but couldn’t enter her yard; a glut of people had gathered at the gate. Lyubka Shneyveys, her purse slung back, was pummelling a drunk and pushing him out to the pavement. Her fist clenched, she was pounding the peasant’s face as if it were a tambourine, while holding him up with her other hand. Blood trickled between the peasant’s teeth and near his ear, while he kept gazing at Lyubka thoughtfully, as if she were a stranger to him; then he collapsed onto the cobblestones and fell right asleep. Lyubka gave him one final push with her foot and went back into her establishment. Her watchman Yevzel closed the gate behind her and waved to Froim the Rook, who came walking by…

         “Greetings, Rook,” he said. “You wanna see something of life? Come on in and have a laugh…”

         And the watchman led the Rook to where the pilgrims who’d arrived the day before stood leaning against the wall. An old Turk in a green turban—an old Turk as green and frail as a leaf—lay on the grass. He was drenched in pearly sweat and breathed laboriously, his eyes rolling back in his head.

         “There,” Yevzel declared, adjusting the medal on his threadbare jacket. “There you have it—the drama of life, from the opera Turkish Malady. The old fellow’s dying but he won’t let me call the doctor, because a fellow who dies on the road home from seeing the God Muhammad—well, that’s a lucky fellow, a rich fellow… Khalvashi!” Yevzel yelled at the dying man and broke out laughing. “Here comes the doctor, to cure you…”

         The Turk glanced at the watchmen with childlike fear and hatred, then turned away. Pleased with himself, Yevzel led the Rook across the yard to the wine cellar, where the lamps had already been lit and music was playing. Old Jews with hefty beards played Romanian and Jewish songs. Mendel Krik sat at a table, drinking wine from a green glass and telling of how he’d been crippled by his own sons—Benya, the older one, and Lyovka, the younger one. He shouted his story in a hoarse, horrifying voice, flashing his smashed teeth and inviting people to palpate the wounds on his stomach. Porcelain-faced Volhynian tsaddiks stood behind Mendel Krik’s chair and listened to his boasting in utter astonishment. They marvelled at everything they heard, and the Rook despised them for it.

         “Old windbag,” he muttered and ordered some wine.

         Then Froim beckoned to Lyubka, the proprietress. She was standing by the door, cursing and drinking vodka.

         “Go ahead, talk!” she shouted at Froim and squinted furiously.

         “Madame Lyubka,” Froim said, sitting her down beside him. “You’re a clever woman, and I come to you now as I would come to my own mother. I have faith in you, Madame Lyubka—first in God, then in you.”

         “Talk!” Lyubka hollered, stormed around the cellar, then returned to her seat.

         And so the Rook said:

         “In the settlements,” he said, “the Germans are rolling in wheat, while in Constantinople groceries are cheaper than dirt. The grocers buy forty pounds of olives in Constantinople for three roubles, then turn around and sell them here for thirty copecks a pound… They have it good these days, Madame Lyubka—the grocers, they’re getting plump—and if someone went and approached them with a delicate touch, that someone, he’d be a happy man… But I’m all alone in my work. The late Lyovka the Bull, he’s dead. I’ve got no help from anyone. Here I am, all alone, like God up in heaven.”

         “Benya Krik,” said Lyubka. “You tried him on Tartakovsky, so why won’t he do?”

         “Benya Krik?” the Rook repeated, looking surprised. “And he’s a bachelor, too, ain’t he?”

         “That’s right, a bachelor,” said Lyubka. “Set him up with Basya, give him some money, help him get on his feet…”

         “Benya Krik,” the old man repeated, like an echo, a distant echo. “Why didn’t I think of that?”

         He stood up, muttering and stammering. Lyubka stormed out into the yard and Froim trudged behind her. They climbed up to the second storey. There, on the second storey, resided the women whom Lyubka kept for visitors.

         “Our groom’s with Katyusha,” Lyubka informed the Rook. “Wait for me in the hallway.” And she went off to the farthest room, where Benya Krik was in bed with a woman named Katyusha.

         “Quit your drooling,” the proprietress told the young man. “First you’ve got to get yourself something steady, Benya, then you can drool to your heart’s content… Froim the Rook’s looking for you. He needs a man for a job and can’t find one…”

         And she told him everything she knew about Basya and the one-eyed Rook’s affairs.

         “I’ll think on it,” said Benya, covering Katyusha’s bare legs with a sheet. “I’ll think on it. Tell the old man to wait.”

         “Wait,” Lyubka told Froim, who’d stayed behind in the hallway. “Wait, he’s thinking on it…”

         The proprietress gave Froim a chair, and he sank into a measureless wait. He waited patiently, like a peasant at a government office. Behind the wall Katyusha would moan, then burst into laughter. The old man dozed for two hours, maybe more. Evening had long turned into night, the sky had grown black, and its milky ways overflowed with gold, lustre and coolness. Lyubka had closed up her cellar, drunks lay about in the yard like broken furniture, and the old mullah in the green turban had died around midnight. Then music came from the sea, the horns and pipes of British ships—music came from the sea and subsided, but Katyusha, good old Katyusha, was still keeping her decorated, rosy, Russian paradise warm for Benya Krik. She kept moaning behind the wall and bursting into laughter; old Froim sat at her door without moving until one in the morning, then knocked.

         “Young fella,” he said. “This a joke at my expense?”

         Then Benya finally opened the door to Katyusha’s room.

         “Monsieur Rook,” he said, flustered, glowing and covering himself with a sheet. “When we’re young, we think of women as goods, but they ain’t nothing but straw that burns on its own…”

         Then he got dressed, straightened Katyusha’s bed, fluffed her pillow and accompanied the old man out into the street. They strolled about until they came to the Russian cemetery, and there, at the cemetery, Benya Krik squared his own interests with those of the Rook, the crooked old gangster. They agreed on the fact that Basya would bring her future husband a dowry of three thousand roubles, two thoroughbred horses and a pearl necklace. They also agreed that Kaplun was obliged to pay two thousand roubles to Benya, Basya’s groom. He was guilty of family pride, this Kaplun from the Privoz Market; he’d made a fortune off olives from Constantinople, but he couldn’t spare Basya her first love, and so Benya Krik decided to take on the task of extracting the two thousand roubles from Kaplun himself.

         “I take it upon myself, Papa,” he assured his future father-in-law. “God help us, we’ll punish all grocers…”

         These words were spoken at dawn, when the night had already passed—and that’s where a new story begins, the story of the fall of the house of Kaplun, the tale of its slow demise, of arson and gunfire under cover of night. All this—the fate of the arrogant Kaplun and of young Basya—was decided that night, when her father and her sudden groom went strolling through the Russian cemetery, while boys dragged girls through the fence and their kisses echoed off the gravestones.

         
            Notes

            1 “Pyatirubel” is an odd surname, and might very well be a nickname. If it is a surname, it certainly originated as a nickname—a phonetic rendering of “five roubles”. Many of Babel’s names, be they Slavonic or Germanic in origin, bear ironic significance—like those of Lyubka “the Cossack” Shneyveys (“snow-white” in Yiddish) and Froim “the Rook” Shtern (“star” in Yiddish) in the gangster stories, or Zalman Krivoruchko (“crooked-handed” in Ukrainian) and Meyer Beskonechny (“never-ending” in Russian) in “The End of the Almshouse” (see pp. 92 and 94).

            2 The Privoz, a large, mostly open-air market that dates back to the 1820s, is one of Odessa’s great landmarks.

            3 Sir Moses Haim Montefiore, Bt. (1784–1885), an Italian-born British financier, was one of the great Jewish philanthropists of the nineteenth century, and a key figure in the history of Zionism. For Jews of the period, his name, along with that of the Rothschilds, was synonymous with Jewish success and social advancement.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            JUSTICE IN QUOTES1

         

         FIRST I HAD DEALINGS with Benya Krik, then with Lyubka Shneyveys. Do these words mean anything to you? Do they leave a taste in your mouth? The only thing I dodged on this trail of death was Seryozha Utochkin.2 Him I didn’t run across—and so I’m still alive. He straddles the city, this Utochkin, like a bronze monument, with his red hair and grey eyes. And all of us have to scurry between his legs.

         …But let’s not take the story down side streets, even if these side streets happen to be lined with blooming acacias and ripening chestnuts. First about Benya, then about Lyubka Shneyveys. That’ll be the end of it. And everyone will be satisfied, because the period is just where it ought to be.

         …I became a broker. When I became a broker in Odessa, I grew leaves, sprouted shoots. Weighed down with these shoots, I felt miserable. Why? Competition is why. If it weren’t for competition, I wouldn’t even blow my nose on justice. There’s no craft, no skill in my hands. I have nothing but air in front of me. It shines like the sea on a sunny day, this beautiful, empty air. But the shoots want to eat. I’ve got seven of them, and my wife is the eighth. No, I didn’t blow my nose on justice. Justice blew its nose on me. Why? Competition is why.

         It was a co-operative store, called “Justice”. You can’t say there was anything wrong with it. To say that there was something wrong, that would be a sin. It had six partners behind it, all primo de primo, and all experts in their particular rackets. The shop was full of merchandise, and the police had put Motya from Golovkovskaya Street out front to guard the place. What more do you need? Seems to me, you couldn’t ask for more. It was the bookkeeper from “Justice” who offered me the deal. Word of honour—a sure deal, a quiet deal. I gave my body a once-over with a clothes brush and took it over to Benya. The King made out like he didn’t notice my body. So I cleared my throat and said:

         “Here’s the deal, Benya.”

         The King was having a bite: a decanter of vodka, a fat cigar, a wife with a belly—in her seventh or eighth month, hard to say. And all around the terrace: nature and wild grape vines.

         “Here’s the deal, Benya,” I say.

         “When?” he asks.

         “Well, since you ask,” I say to the King, “I’ve got to give you my opinion. In my opinion, it’s best to do it on Saturday night. And by the way, the fellow on guard is none other than Motya from Golovkovskaya Street. Sure, you could do it on a weekday, but why turn such a quiet affair into a loud one?”

         Such was my opinion. And the King’s wife agreed with me.

         “Baby doll,” Benya says to her then, “go rest up on the sofa.”

         Then he peels the gold band off his cigar with slow fingers and turns to Froim Shtern:

         “Tell me, Rook, are we busy on Saturday, or are we not busy on Saturday?”

         But Froim Shtern, he’s always looking out for number one. He’s a red-headed man, with only one eye on his head. Froim Shtern isn’t about to give a straight answer.

         “On Saturday,” he says, “you promised to pay a visit to the Mutual Credit Society…”

         The Rook pretends he’s got nothing more to say and points his one eye at the farthest corner of the terrace, cool as a cucumber.

         “Good,” Benya Krik shoots back. “You remind me of Tsudechkis on Saturday, Rook. Make a note of it.” Then the King turns to me and says, “You get back to your family, Tsudechkis. There’s a good chance I’ll stop by ‘Justice’ on Saturday. Take my words with you, Tsudechkis, and get walking.”

         The King doesn’t talk much, and he talks politely. This puts such a scare in people that they never ask him to explain or repeat himself. I left the courtyard, set off down Gospitalnaya Street, turned down Stepovaya, then stopped to weigh Benya’s words. I hefted them, fingered them, held them between my front teeth—and I saw that these weren’t at all the words I needed.

         “There’s a good chance,” the King had said, peeling the gold band off his cigars with slow fingers. The King doesn’t talk much, and he talks politely. Who can penetrate the meaning of the King’s few words? There’s a good chance I’ll stop by—or there’s a good chance I won’t? Between yes and no hangs a five-thousand-rouble commission. Without even counting the two cows I keep for my needs, I’ve got nine mouths that are always ready to eat. Who gave me the right to take risks? Who’s to say that the bookkeeper from “Justice” didn’t pay a visit to Buntselman right after coming to me? And then Buntselman could have turned right around and run to Kolka the Pin. And that Kolka, he’s one hot-blooded fellow. The King’s words fell like a mound of boulders onto the path where nine-headed hunger roved. Simply put, I gave Buntselman a little warning. He was coming in to see Kolka just as I was leaving. It was hot, and he was sweating. “Hold your horses, Buntselman,” I warned him. “No point rushing, and no point working up a sweat. This is where I take my meals. Und damit Punktum, as the Germans say.”

         And the fifth day passed. And the sixth day passed. Saturday strolled the streets of Moldavanka. Motya was already at his post, I was sound asleep in my bed, and Kolka was at work in “Justice”. He’d already loaded half a dray and was planning on loading another half. Suddenly, a clatter broke out in the alley, the rattling of iron-bound wheels. Motya from Golovkovskaya Street grabbed hold of a telegraph pole and asked, “Should I drop it?”

         Kolka answered, “Not yet.”

         (This pole, see, could be dropped, if the situation demanded it.)

         The cart rolled into the alley at a walk and pulled up at the shop. Kolka realized it was the police, and his heart went to pieces, because he hated to leave a job half-done.

         “Motya,” he said, “when you hear me fire, the pole drops.”

         “You got it,” said Motya.

         The Pin went back into the shop with his crew. They lined up against the wall and pulled out their revolvers. Ten eyes and five revolvers were fixed on the door, to say nothing of the sawn-off telegraph pole. The youngsters were full of anticipation.

         “Buzz off, coppers,” one of the impatient fellows whispered. “Buzz off or we’ll flatten you…”

         “Shut it,” Benya Krik commanded, jumping down from the mezzanine. “What coppers, you mug? The King has arrived.”

         Had this gone on a bit longer, all hell would have broken loose. Benya knocked the Pin to the ground and grabbed his revolver. Men began to drop down from the mezzanine like rain. You couldn’t make anything out in the dark.

         “I see how it is!” Kolka shouted. “Benya wants to do me in. Now there’s an interesting development…”

         For the first time in the King’s life, he’d been mistaken for a cop. That was a laugh. The gangsters cracked up. They lit their torches, busted their guts and rolled on the floor, choking with laughter.

         But the King, he wasn’t laughing.

         “Across Odessa, they’ll say,” he began in a serious tone, “they’ll say the King was tempted by his friend’s take.”

         “They’ll say it once,” the Pin replied. “No one who says it once will get the chance to say it twice.”

         “Kolka,” the King went on in his calm, solemn tone. “Do you believe me, Kolka?”

         And then the gangsters stopped laughing. They all had torches burning in their hands, but the laughter had crept out of “Justice”.

         “Believe you about what, King?”

         “Do you believe me, Kolka, when I say I had nothing to do with this?”

         And he sat down, this crestfallen king, covered his eyes with a dusty sleeve and shed tears. Such was the pride of this man, may he burn. And all the gangsters, every one of them, saw their king crying on account of his wounded pride.

         Then they stood in front of each other. Benya stood, and the Pin stood. They began making amends, they apologized, they kissed each other on the lips, and they shook each other’s hands with such force that it looked as if they wanted to tear them clean off. By the time dawn began blinking its bleary eyes, Motya’s shift had ended and he’d gone back to the station, and two full drays had carted off what had been known as the co-operative shop “Justice”, while the King and Kolka were still grieving, still bowing, and, throwing their arms around each other’s necks, kissing tenderly, like a couple of drunks.

         And who was fate after that morning? It was after me, Tsudechkis, and it found me.

         “Kolka,” the King finally asks, “who gave you the lowdown on ‘Justice’?”

         “Tsudechkis. And you, Benya—how’d you get it?”

         “Tsudechkis.”

         “Benya!” Kolka cried out. “Are we gonna leave him among the living?”

         “Certainly not,” Benya says, and turns to one-eyed Shtern, who’s chortling in the corner—because Shtern and I, we don’t get along. “Froim,” he says, “order a brocaded coffin. I’m heading for Tsudechkis. And Kolka, when a man starts something, he’s got to finish it, so I ask you kindly, on behalf of me and my wife, come and see us in the morning, have a bite in my family circle.”

         At around five in the morning, no, around four, or maybe it wasn’t even four yet, the King marched into my bedroom, picked me up off the bed, you’ll excuse me, by my back, put me down on the floor, and placed his foot on my nose. Hearing various sounds and the like, my wife jumped out of bed and asked Benya:

         “Monsieur Krik, what’s my Tsudechkis done to you?”

         “What do you mean, what?” asked Benya, never taking his foot off the bridge of my nose, and then tears fell from his eyes. “He cast a shadow over my name, shamed me in front of my friends. You can say your goodbyes to him, Madame Tsudechkis, because my honour is dearer to me than happiness. He will not remain among the living…”

         He kept on crying and stomping on me. My wife saw how much this upset me and commenced screaming. She started at half past four and didn’t finish till eight. And how she gave it to him, oy, how she gave it to him! You should have seen it!

         “Why are you cross with my Tsudechkis?” she screamed, standing on the bed, and I, writhing on the floor, stared up at her with admiration. “Why are you beating my Tsudechkis? Because he tried to feed nine hungry nestlings? You’re a big so-and-so, aren’t you, King? Son-in-law of a rich man, and rich yourself, and your father’s flush too! The world’s your oyster! What’s one bungled deal to Benchik, when next week will bring him seven successes? Don’t you dare beat my Tsudechkis! Don’t you dare!”

         She saved my life.

         When the children woke up they started screaming along with my wife. Benya finally ruined my health to the degree that he felt it should be ruined. He put up two hundred roubles for my medical bills and left. I was taken to the Jewish Hospital. On Sunday I was at death’s door, on Monday I was on the mend, and on Tuesday things could have gone either way.

         That’s my first story. Who’s to blame, and why? Is Benya really to blame? Let’s not throw dust in each other’s eyes. There’s no one else in the world like Benya the King. He cuts through lies and looks for justice, be it justice in quotes or without them. While everyone else, they’re as calm as clams. They can’t be bothered with justice, won’t go looking for it—and that’s worse.

         I recovered. Yes, I slipped out of Benya’s hands—and fell right into Lyubka’s. First about Benya, then about Lyubka Shneyveys. That’ll be the end of it. And everyone will be satisfied, because the period is just where it ought to be.

         
            Notes

            1 This story, written in the voice of Tsudechkis, the Odessa broker who plays a major part in ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, was published in an Odessa newspaper in August 1921, two months after ‘The King’ appeared in another Odessa newspaper; ‘Justice in Quotes’ may have been written before ‘The King’. Babel never republished the story with the Odessa cycle, likely because it is narrated entirely by Tsudechkis. (It is true that much of ‘How It Was Done in Odessa’ is narrated by Reb Aryeh Leib, but his is still a tale within a tale.) The story has been previously translated as ‘Justice in Parentheses’ and ‘Justice in Brackets’; although these are fine literal renditions of the Russian title (Spravedlivost’ v skob-kakh’), they don’t communicate the actual meaning, much less the humorous connotations, of the phrase: the justice in question is a co-operative shop called “Justice”; hence, ‘Justice in Quotes’. (Russians use French quotation marks—that is, double angle brackets—for titles in print; the word skobki means ‘brackets’ as well as ‘parentheses’.)

            2 Sergei Utochkin (1876–1916) was a pioneer of Russian aviation, famed for his stunt flights over Odessa and the Black Sea. He was also one of the first men in Odessa to own a car, which he drove recklessly. The joke here is that Tsudechkis, who has come across two deadly figures on his path, is still alive because he has dodged Utochkin’s automobile.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            SUNSET

         

         ONE DAY LYOVKA, the youngest Krik, laid his eyes on Lyubka’s daughter Tabl. “Tabl” means “dove”. He laid eyes on her and left home for three days and nights. He found joy in the dust of distant pavements and the geraniums in distant windows. At the end of these three days and nights, Lyovka came home and found his father in the garden. His father was having supper. Madame Gorobchik sat next to her husband, glancing over her shoulder like a murderer.

         “Away with you, unworthy son,” said Papa Krik, catching sight of Lyovka.

         “Papa,” said Lyovka, “grab a tuning fork and tune your ears.”

         “All right, out with it.”

         “There’s this girl,” the son said. “The hair on her head is blond. Her name’s Tabl. ‘Tabl’ means ‘dove’. This girl, I’ve got my eye on her.”

         “You’ve got your eye on a slattern,” said papa Krik, “and her mama’s a madam.”

         On hearing Papa Krik’s words, Lyovka rolled up his sleeves and raised a blasphemous hand against his father. But Madame Gorobchik leapt up from her seat and thrust herself between them.

         “Mendel,” she cried, “give the boy a good hiding! He wolfed down eleven of my cutlets…”

         “You wolfed down eleven of your mother’s cutlets!” Mendel howled and made a move on his son, but Lyovka turned on his heel and fled from the yard. Benchik, his older brother, wandered out after him. They walked the streets late into the evening, panting like the yeast of vengeance, and finally Lyovka said to his brother Benya, who was only a few months away from becoming Benya the King:

         “Benchik,” he said, “let’s do it ourselves. People, they will come and kiss our feet. Let’s kill papa. There ain’t no one in Moldavanka calls him Mendel Krik no more. What they call him is Mendel the Pogrom. Let’s kill papa, ’cause we can’t exactly put if off, can we?”

         “Now’s not the time,” said Benchik. “But the time will come. And when you hear it coming, let it pass. Step aside, Lyovka.”

         So Lyovka stepped aside, letting time pass. And time, that old cashier, started off down its path—and on this path it met the King’s sister Dvoyra, the carter Manasseh, and a Russian girl named Marusya Yevtushenko.

         Ten years ago I knew plenty of men who would’ve been glad to take Dvoyra, the daughter of Mendel the Pogrom, but now Dvoyra has a goitre dangling under the chin and her eyes pop out of their sockets. No one wants Dvoyra now. And so, a little while ago, she found out about some old widower with grown daughters of his own. This widower needed a big dray and a pair of horses. So Dvoyra washed her green dress and hung it out to dry in the yard. Her plan was to visit the widower, find out exactly how old he was, what kind of horses he needed, and whether she could get him. But Papa Krik, he didn’t want any widowers. He took her green dress, hid it in his dray and rode off to work. Dvoyra heated up her iron, but she couldn’t find her dress. Then poor Dvoyra fell to the ground and had a proper fit. Her brothers dragged her to the outside tap and doused her with water. Well, people, do you recognize the hand of their father, the Pogrom?

         Now about Manasseh, the old carter, who drives Maid of Honour and Solomon the Wise. Much to his misfortune, he learnt that the horses of old Butsis, Froim the Rook and Chaim Drong were shod with rubber. Taking their lead, Manasseh went to Pyatirubel and had Solomon the Wise shod with rubber. Manasseh loved Solomon the Wise, but Papa Krik told him:

         “I’m no Chaim Drong and no Nicholas II, that my horses should work on rubber.”

         Then he grabbed Manasseh by the collar, hoisted him up to his dray and rode out of the yard. Manasseh hung from his outstretched hand as from a gallows. A sunset boiled in the sky, a sunset as viscous as jam, bells moaned at the Church of St Alexius, the sun descended behind Near Mills, and Lyovka, the master’s son, trotted after the dray like a dog trotting after its master.

         A great multitude ran after the Kriks, as if they were an ambulance carriage, and Manasseh still hung from the iron hand.

         “Papa,” Lyovka pleaded with his father, “you’re squeezing my heart in your outstretched hand. Drop it, let it roll into the dust.”

         But Mendel Krik didn’t even turn his head. The horses galloped, the wheels rattled, and the crowd got a full circus show. The dray turned onto Dalnitskaya, heading towards Ivan Pyatirubel’s smithy. Mendel scraped Manasseh along the wall and hurled him into the smithy, onto a pile of iron. Then Lyovka fetched a bucket of water and poured it over Manasseh, the old carter. Well, people, now do you recognize the hand of Mendel, patriarch of the Kriks, nicknamed the Pogrom?

         And then one day Benchik said, “The time is coming.” And his brother Lyovka stepped aside, letting time pass. And there Lyovka was, standing off to the side, when Marusya Yevtushenko got herself pregnant.

         “Marusya’s got herself pregnant,” people began to whisper, and Papa Krik listened and laughed.

         “Marusya’s got herself pregnant,” he said, laughing like a little boy. “Woe unto Israel—but who’s this Marusya?”

         At that moment Benchik stepped out of the stable and placed his hand on his papa’s shoulder.

         “I am a lover of women,” Benchik declared sternly and handed his papa twenty-five roubles, because he wanted Marusya’s belly cleaned out by a doctor, and at a clinic, not at her house.

         “I’ll see that she gets the money,” his papa said, “and that she gets cleaned out, or may I not live to see happiness.”

         The next morning, at the usual hour, he drove off on Bandit and Dearest Wife, and at dinnertime Marusya Yevtushenko showed up at the Kriks’ courtyard.

         “Benchik,” she said, “I love you, goddamn you.”

         And she threw ten roubles in his face. At no point in history have two five-rouble bills ever added up to more than ten.

         And that was when Benchik told Lyovka, “Let’s kill papa.” They sat on a bench near the gate, and next to them sat Semyon, the son of Anisim the yard-keeper, a lad of seven. Who could have known that this seven-year-old little nothing was capable of love, let alone hate? Who could have known that it loved Mendel Krik? But love him it did.

         The brothers sat on the bench and calculated just how many years their father had actually lived—just how long that tail behind his indisputable sixty really was—while Semyon, the son of Anisim the yard-keeper, sat next to them.

         At that hour the sun hadn’t yet reached New Mills. It poured down into the clouds like the blood of a stuck hog, and the drays of old Butsis rumbled in the streets on their way back from work. The milkmaids were already milking their cows for the third time, and Madame Parabelyum’s girls were lugging buckets of evening milk onto her porch. Madame Parabelyum was standing out there on the porch, clapping her hands.

         “Girls!” she shouted. “Girls I know, girls I don’t, Bertha Ivanovna, ice-cream makers, kefir makers! Come and get your evening milk.”

         Berta Ivanovna, the German tutor who received two quarts of milk per lesson, got her share first. Then Dvoyra Krik made her way up to the porch, so she could see how much water Madame Parabelyum had poured into her milk, and how much baking soda she’d added.

         But Benchik pulled his sister aside.

         “Tonight,” he said, “if you see that the old man has done us in, come up behind him and smash his head with your colander. Let that be the end of Mendel Krik and Sons.”

         “Amen and good luck,” said Dvoyra and went out through the gate. Then she saw that Anisim’s son Semyon was gone, and that the whole of Moldavanka was coming to pay the Kriks a visit.

         Moldavanka descended in droves, as if the Kriks were hosting a carnival. The crowd flocked to the yard as they do to Fairground Square on the second day of Passover. The master blacksmith, Ivan Pyatirubel, came with his pregnant daughter-in-law and grandchildren. Old Butsis brought his niece, who’d come down from Kamenets-Podolsk to take the cure at one of the spas.1 Tabl showed up with a Russian man. She clung to his arm and played with the ribbon in her braid. Lyubka galloped in last, on a roan stallion. The only one to show up alone was Froim the Rook, red-headed as rust, one-eyed, and in a sailcloth cloak.

         These sat themselves in the garden and took out the snacks they had brought. The artisans took off their boots, sent their children to fetch beer and laid their heads on their wives’ bellies. And Lyovka said to his brother Benchik:

         “Mendel the Pogrom’s our father,” he said. “Madame Gorobchik’s our mother, and people are dogs, Benchik. We’re working for dogs.”

         “We’ve got to think,” Benchik answered, but he hadn’t finished saying these words when thunder rang out on Golovkovskaya Street. The sun soared up and spun like a red bowl on a spearhead. The old man’s dray came racing toward the gate. Dearest Wife was in a lather. Bandit strained at his harness. The old man raised his whip over the frenzied horses. His parted legs were enormous, crimson sweat boiled on his face, and he was singing in a drunken voice. And then suddenly Semyon, Anisim’s son, slid around someone’s legs like a snake, flitted out into the street and shouted with all his might:

         “Turn your dray around, Uncle Krik—your sons, they aim to give ya a whoopin’…”

         But it was too late. Papa Krik flew into the yard on his lathered horses. He raised his whip, opened his mouth and… didn’t say a word. The people sitting around in the garden stared at him wide-eyed. Benchik flanked him on the left, near the dovecote. Lyovka flanked him on the right, near the yard-keeper’s quarters.

         “People, bosses,” Mendel said barely audibly and lowered his whip. “Take a look—my own flesh and blood’s aiming to raise its hand against me.”

         And the old man jumped down from his dray, rushed at Benya and slammed a fist into his nose. Lyovka came running and did what he could. He shuffled his father’s face like a new deck of cards. But the old man was sewn of the devil’s own hide, stitched together with pig iron. The old man twisted Lyovka’s arms and threw him down on the ground next to his brother. He sat on Lyovka’s chest and the women closed their eyes, so as not to see the old man’s broken teeth and his face streaming with blood. And at that moment the residents of indescribable Moldavanka heard Dvoyra’s quick steps and her voice:

         “For Lyovka,” she said, “for Benchik, for me, Dvoyra, and for all the people,” and dented her papa’s head with the colander. People leapt to their feet and ran toward them, waving their arms. They dragged the old man to the outside tap, as Dvoyra had been dragged, and turned it on. Blood flowed down the gutter like water, and the water flowed like blood. Madame Gorobchik squeezed sideways through the crowd and hopped up to them like a sparrow.

         “Mendel, talk,” she said in a whisper. “Shout something, Mendel…”

         But hearing only silence, and seeing that the old man’s horses hadn’t been unharnessed and that no one was dousing the dray’s hot wheels with water, she hopped up and bounded around the yard like a three-legged dog. Then the esteemed bosses came closer. Papa Krik lay with his beard in the air.

         “Done for,” said Froim the Rook, and turned away.

         “Finished,” said Chaim Drong, but the master blacksmith Ivan Pyatirubel wagged a finger right in his face.

         “Three against one,” said Pyatirubel. “A shame for all Moldavanka, but it ain’t over till it’s over. I’ve yet to see a youngster who could croak old Krik…”

         “It’s over,” Aryeh Leib interrupted, popping up out of nowhere. “It’s over and done with, Ivan Pyatirubel. Don’t go around saying ‘no’, Russian man, when life’s clamouring ‘yes’.”

         Then Aryeh Leib sat down next to Papa Krik, wiped the old man’s lips with a handkerchief, kissed him on the forehead and started telling him about King David, the King of the Jews, who had many wives, who had much land and treasure, and who knew how to shed tears when the time came.

         “Stop all that whining, Aryeh Leib!” Chaim Drong hollered and began shoving Aryeh Leib in the back. “We don’t need your funeral rites around here—you ain’t at your cemetery!”

         Then, turning to Papa Krik, Chaim Drong said:

         “Get up, drayman, rinse out your throat, say something foul like you always do, you old roughneck, and get two carts ready for the morning, ’cause I’ve got some waste that needs hauling…”

         And everyone waited to hear what Mendel would say about the carts. But he kept silent a long time. Then he opened his eyes, gaped his mouth, which was caked with mud and hair, and blood trickled out between his lips.

         “I haven’t got no carts,” said Papa Krik. “My sons killed me. So let them run the business.”

         But don’t envy those who had to run Mendel Krik’s bitter inheritance. Don’t envy them, because every manger in the barn had rotted long ago, and half the wheels needed new tires. The sign over the gate had fallen apart and you couldn’t make out a single word on it, and the carters didn’t have one good pair of underwear between them. Half the city owed Mendel Krik money, but his horses licked the chalk sums off the walls as they picked oats out of the manger. All day long the dazed heirs had to contend with peasants demanding payment for chaff and barley. All day long they dealt with women trying to get their gold rings and nickel-plated samovars out of hock. Peace fled from the house of the Kriks, but Benya, who was only a few months away from becoming Benya the King, refused to give up and ordered a new sign reading “The Livery Concern of Mendel Krik and Sons”. He wanted the words written in gold on a light blue background, interwoven with a painted chain of little bronze horseshoes. He also bought a piece of striped ticking so that his carters could have underwear made, and the finest lumber to repair the carts. He hired Pyatirubel for a week and started issuing receipts for every customer. And the next evening—believe you me, people—he had run himself more ragged than if he had made fifteen trips between Watermelon Dock and Odessa-Tovarnaya Station. And that evening—believe you me, people—he didn’t find a single crumb of bread or clean plate back at the house. Now try and wrap your minds around the inveterate barbarism of Madame Gorobchik. The rooms hadn’t been swept, a fantastic bowl of jellied veal had been tossed to the dogs, while Madame Gorobchik perched at her husband’s bedside like a slop-soaked crow on an autumn branch.

         “Keep them in your sights,” Benchik told his younger brother. “Keep them under your microscope, these newly-weds—because it seems to me, Lyovka, like they’re hatching something.”

         That is what Benchik, who saw straight through everything with the eyes of Benya the King, told his brother Lyovka—but Lyovka, the sidekick, he didn’t believe his brother and went right to bed. His papa was already snoring atop his boards, but Madame Gorobchik still tossed from side to side. She spat saliva at the walls and hawked phlegm on the floor. Her nasty character kept her from sleeping. But in the end, she too drifted off. Beyond the window, stars scattered like soldiers relieving themselves—green stars across a dark blue field. Across the street, at Petka Ovsyanitsa’s, a gramophone struck up some Jewish songs, but then the gramophone too fell silent. Night went about its business, and the air, the rich air, poured through the window and reached Lyovka, the youngest of the Kriks. Lyovka, he loved the air. He lay there breathing, dreaming and playing with the air. The mood he was in was luxurious, and it lasted until he heard a rustle and creak from his father’s boards. The young fellow closed his eyes and rolled his ears out into position. Papa Krik lifted his head like a mouse sniffing the air and crawled down to the floor. The old man pulled a little bag of coins from under his pillow and slung his boots over his shoulder. Lyovka let him go—because where could he go, the old dog? Then the young fellow slunk out after his father and saw Benchik slinking on the other side of the yard, keeping close to the wall. The old man crept up to the drays without making a sound. Then he stuck his head in the stable and whistled to the horses. The horses ran up to rub their muzzles against Mendel’s head. Night filled the courtyard, cloaked in its stars, dark blue air and silence.

         “Shh,” Lyovka put a finger to his lips, and Benchik, who was slinking on the other side of the yard, also put a finger to his lips. Their papa whistled to the horses for a while longer, as one whistles to little children, and then scuttled between the carts and spurted into the gateway.

         “Anisim,” he said in a low voice, and knocked on the window of the yard-keeper’s quarters. “Anisim, my dear pal, unlock the gate for me.”

         Anisim stepped out, his hair as tousled as hay.

         “Boss,” he said, “I ask you with all my heart, don’t shame yourself in front of me, a simple man. Go get some rest, Boss…”

         “You’ll open the gate for me,” Papa Krik whispered even more softly. “I just know it, Anisim, my dear pal…”

         “Get back inside, Anisim,” Benchik said, walking up to them and placing his hand on his papa’s shoulder. And there, right in front of him, Anisim saw Mendel the Pogrom’s face go white, as white as paper, and he turned away, so that he wouldn’t have to see such a face on his boss.

         “Don’t hit me, Benchik,” said the old Krik, stepping back. “Is there really no end to your father’s suffering?…”

         “Miserable father,” answered Benchik, “how could you say what you said?”

         “I could!” Mendel cried and slammed a fist against his head. “I could. Benchik!” he cried with all his might and started shaking like an epileptic. “This is the yard where I’ve served half my human life. It saw me, this yard, be a father to my children, a husband to my wife, and a master to my horses. It saw my glory and my twenty stallions and my twelve carts with wrought-iron tires. It saw my legs, legs as firm as pillars, and my hands, my evil hands. And now, dear sons, I ask you, open the gate for me, and let me have what I want, let me leave this court, which has seen too much…”

         “Papa,” Benya replied without looking up, “get back inside, back to your spouse.”

         But there was no point in getting back inside, back to Madame Gorobchik. She ran out into the gateway herself, dropped to the ground, and started rolling from side to side, her old yellow legs high in the air.

         “Oy!” she cried, rolling on the ground. “Mendel the Pogrom, my sons, my bastards… What have you done to me, you bastards? What have you done to my hair, my body? My teeth—where’d they go? And my youth—where?”

         The old woman yowled and tore the blouse from her shoulders; then she got up on her feet and began spinning in circles like a dog trying to bite its own tail. She scratched at her sons’ faces—kissed their faces and clawed at their cheeks.

         “You old thief,” Madame Gorobchik howled, hopping around her husband, twisting and tugging at his moustache. “You old thief, my old Mendel…”

         Her howling woke all the neighbours; the whole courtyard came running into the gateway and bare-bellied kids started blowing their little pipes. Moldavanka flocked to the scene, a proper scandal. And Benya Krik, gone grey from shame before their very eyes, barely managed to hustle his newlyweds back into the flat. He pushed the crowd back with a stick, drove them out to the gate, but Lyovka, his younger brother, grabbed him by the collar and shook him like a pear tree.

         “Benchik,” he said, “we’re tormenting the old man… My tears are eating away at me, Benchik…”

         “Tears eating away at him, this one,” Benchik replied, pooled the spit in his mouth and spat in Lyovka’s face. “Miserable brother,” he whispered, “vile brother, let go my hands and stay out from under my feet.”

         And Lyovka let go his hands. The young fellow slept in the stable until dawn, then left home. He found joy in the dust of distant pavements and the geraniums in distant windows. The young man surveyed the roads of grief, vanished for two days and nights, and, returning on the third day, saw a light-blue sign blazing over the house of the Kriks. The light-blue sign jostled Lyovka’s heart, but it was the velvet tablecloths that knocked his eyes off their feet. They were draped, these velvet tablecloths, over many tables, and the garden was full of roaring and hooting guests. Dvoyra walked among them in her white headdress, starched women glistened in the grass like enamel teapots, and woozy workers, who’d already thrown off their jackets, grabbed Lyovka and shoved him into the flat. There he saw Mendel Krik, the oldest of the Kriks, his face already covered with welts. Usher Boyarsky, proprietor of the clothing firm Masterpiece, his humpbacked cutter Yefim, and Benya Krik were bustling around the disfigured old man.

         “Yefim,” Usher Boyarsky addressed his cutter, “be so kind as to get over here and measure Monsieur Krik for a coloured little prima suit, like he was family, and venture to enquire as to what kind of material the gentleman expects—English naval double-breasted, English landsman single-breasted, Łódź demi-saison, or Moscow ultra-thick…”

         “What kind of duds you want?” Benchik asked Papa Krik. “Confess to Monsieur Boyarsky.”

         “Whatever’s in your heart for your father,” Papa Krik answered, picking a tear from his eye, “that’s the kind of duds you should make.”

         “As papa ain’t no sailor,” Benya interrupted his father, “I figure the landsman. First, pick a pair for everyday.”

         Monsieur Boyarsky leant forward and cupped his ear.

         “I ask for your thoughts,” he said.

         “Here’s my thoughts,” said Benya…

         
            Notes

            1 The city of Kamenets-Podolsk (now Kamianets-Podilskyi, Ukraine) lies about 380 miles to the north-west of Odessa.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            THE END OF THE ALMSHOUSE

         

         NOT A SOUL in Odessa fared better during the famine than the charity cases at the Second Jewish Cemetery.1 Years earlier, the cloth merchant Kofman had honoured the memory of his wife Isabella by establishing an almshouse for the elderly—which he built right by the cemetery wall. The crowd at Café Fanconi found that choice of location mighty funny. But Kofman would’ve got the last laugh. After the Revolution, the old men and women who’d been living off alms at the cemetery grabbed positions as gravediggers, cantors and corpse-bathers. They got hold of an oak coffin with silver tassels and a pall, and started hiring it out to the poor.

         In those days you couldn’t find a single wooden plank in Odessa. And so the coffin-for-hire was in constant demand. The deceased would lie in the oak box at home and during the funeral service, and then be dumped into the grave arrayed in nothing but a shroud. This was done in accordance with a forgotten Jewish law.

         The sages, they taught that one should never hinder worms from reaching carrion, for carrion is unclean. “From the earth you have come, and to the earth you shall return.”

         On account of this forgotten law’s revival, the old folks at the almshouse sweetened their rations in ways other people couldn’t even have dreamt of. They spent their evenings getting drunk in Zalman Krivoruchko’s cellar, treating neighbouring tables to their leftovers.

         They flourished without interruption until the uprising in the German settlements. In the ensuing battle, the Germans killed the commander of the garrison, Hersch Lugovoy.

         He was buried with military honours. The troops arrived at the cemetery with orchestras, field kitchens and machine guns on carts. Speeches were given and oaths were sworn over the open grave.

         “Comrade Hersch,” hollered Lyonka Broytman, the division commander, straining his voice, “joined the Russian Social Democratic Labour Party of Bolsheviks in 1911, conducting work as a propagandist and liaison agent. Comrade Hersch was subjected to repression by tsarist authorities starting in 1913, in Nikolayev, together with Sonia Yanovskaya, Ivan Sokolov and Monoszon…”2

         Aryeh Leib, the elder of the almshouse, stood at the ready with his own comrades. Lyonka hadn’t even finished shouting his final farewell when the old men began tipping the coffin to one side, so as to dump the flag-draped corpse into the grave. Lyonka quietly prodded Aryeh Leib with one of his spurs.

         “Get back,” he said. “Get back… Hersch deserves better from the Republic…”

         The petrified codgers stood and watched as Lugovoy was interred right along with the oak box, the tassels and the black pall on which two Stars of David and a verse from the Hebrew prayer for the dead had been woven in silver thread.

         “We’re dead,” Aryeh Leib told his comrades after the funeral. “We’ve landed in the pharaoh’s hands…”

         And he scurried off to Broydin, the cemetery director, with a request that planks be issued for a new coffin, and cloth for a pall. Broydin made promises but sat on his hands. His plans didn’t include lining the old folks’ pockets. Back at his office he said:

         “My heart aches more for the unemployed municipal workers than for these speculators…”

         Broydin made promises but sat on his hands. At Zalman Krivoruchko’s cellar, Talmudic curses rained down on the director’s head and on the heads of every member of the municipal workers’ union. The old men damned the marrow in all their bones, damned the fresh seeds in their wives’ wombs and wished that every one of them be stricken by a special kind of ulcer and paralysis.

         Their income shrank. Their rations now consisted of a thin bluish soup boiled from fish bones. For their second course, they got barley porridge with no butter, no oil.

         An old man from Odessa can eat just about any soup, whatever it’s made of, as long as it has a bay leaf, garlic and pepper in it. This soup contained nothing of the sort.

         The Isabella Kaufman Almshouse shared the common fate. The rage of the starving codgers rose ever higher. And it fell on the head of the person who least expected it. That person was Dr Judith Shmayser, who came to the almshouse to administer the smallpox vaccine.

         The Provincial Executive Committee had issued a decree mandating vaccination. Judith Shmayser laid her instruments out on the table and lit her alcohol burner. The windows opened on the emerald walls of the cemetery’s hedges. The flame’s blue tongue mingled with June’s flashes of lightning.

         Standing closest to Judith was Meyer Beskonechny, a skinny old man. He observed her preparations with a sullen look on his face.

         “Just a small prick,” Judith said, raising her tweezers up in the air. She began pulling the blue braided whip of his arm out of its rags.

         The old man yanked back his hand:

         “I’ve got nothing to prick.”

         “Oh, it won’t hurt!” Judith exclaimed. “A prick in the flesh doesn’t hurt…”

         “Haven’t got no flesh,” Meyer Beskonechny said. “I’ve got nothing to prick…”

         That drew dull sobs from the corner of the room. They came from Doba Leah, who used to prepare the meals at circumcisions. Meyer contorted his wizened cheeks.

         “Life is rubbish,” he muttered. “The world’s a bordello. People are swindlers…”

         Judith’s pince-nez quivered on her delicate nose, and her chest heaved out of her starched smock. She opened her mouth to explain the benefits of smallpox vaccination, but she was stopped by Aryeh Leib, the elder of the almshouse.

         “Young lady,” he said, “our mamas gave birth to us like your mama gave birth to you. And they did this, our mamas, so that we may live, not suffer. They wanted us to live good lives, and they were right, as only mothers are right. Any person who’s happy with what Broydin gives him—well, this person, he isn’t worth the material that went into making him. Your goal, young lady, is to vaccinate against smallpox, and, with God’s help, you go around vaccinating. Our goal is to live out our lives, not to suffer through them, but they just won’t let us.”

         Doba Leah, a whiskered old woman with a lion’s face, sobbed even louder when she heard these words. She sobbed in a bass voice.

         “Life is rubbish,” Meyer Beskonechny repeated. “People are swindlers…”

         The paralysed invalid Simon Wolf grasped the steering wheel of his cart and, screaming and twisting his palms, made for the door. The yarmulke slipped from his swollen crimson head.

         Then all thirty residents, growling and grimacing, tumbled out onto the main path behind him. They brandished their crutches and brayed like hungry donkeys.

         Catching sight of them, the guard shut the cemetery gates. The gravediggers raised their shovels, which were plastered with earth and grass roots, and froze in utter astonishment.

         Bearded Broydin, wearing gaiters, a cycling cap and a short little jacket, heard the commotion and came out to investigate.

         “Swindler,” cried Simon Wolf. “We’ve got nothing to prick… No meat on our bones…”

         Doba Leah bared her teeth and growled. She charged at Broydin with the invalid’s cart. Aryeh Leib began, as always, with allegories—with parables that sneaked up from a great distance on a point that was seldom visible from the start.

         This time he began with a parable about Rabbi Hosea, who rendered all his possessions unto his children, his heart unto his wife, his fear unto God, his taxes unto Caesar, leaving for himself only a place beneath an olive tree where the sun shone longest as it set. And from Rabbi Hosea, Aryeh Leib made his way to planks for a new coffin and the question of rations.

         Broydin had planted his gaitered feet wide apart and stood listening without looking up. The brown fence of his beard lay motionless on his new military jacket; he appeared to be absorbed in tranquil, melancholy thoughts.

         “You’ll forgive me, Aryeh Leib,” sighed Broydin, addressing the cemetery sage, “you’ll forgive me if I say that I cannot help but see a hidden motive, a political position in your words… And behind you, Aryeh Leib, I cannot help but see people who know exactly what they are doing, just as you know exactly what you are doing…”

         Now Broydin raised his eyes. They instantly flooded with rabid white water. The trembling hills of his pupils bore down on the old folks.

         “Aryeh Leib,” Broydin said in his powerful voice, “have a look at the telegrams from the Tatar Republic, where large numbers of Tatars are starving like mad… Read the appeal from the Petrograd proletarians, who starve as they work and wait at their machines…”3

         “I’ve got no time to wait,” Aryeh Leib interrupted the director. “I haven’t got any time…”

         “There are people,” Broydin thundered, hearing nothing, “who have it worse than you, and there are thousands more who have it worse than the people who have it worse than you… You’re sowing trouble, Aryeh Leib, and you’ll reap a whirlwind. If I turn my back on you, you’re all dead. If I go my way and you go yours, that’s the end of you. You will die, Aryeh Leib. You will die, Simon Wolf. You will die, Meyer Beskonechny. But before you die, be so kind as to tell me—because I’d be interested in knowing—have we got Soviet power or haven’t we? I mean, if we haven’t got it and I’m mistaken—well, then, take me back to Mr Berzon’s on the corner of Deribasovskaya and Yekaterinskaya Streets, where I sewed vests all the years of my life… You just tell me I’m mistaken, Aryeh Leib…”

         And the cemetery director came right up to the invalids. His trembling pupils bulged out at them. They streamed at the mortified, moaning herd like the beams of two searchlights, like the tongues of a flame. Broydin’s gaiters crackled, sweat boiled on his pockmarked face, and he kept coming closer and closer to Aryeh Leib, demanding an answer: Was he mistaken about the coming of Soviet power?

         Aryeh Leib was silent. And this silence could well have been the death of him, if Fedka Stepun, barefoot and in his sailor’s shirt, hadn’t appeared at the end of the path.

         Fedka had been shell-shocked near Rostov and was recovering in a shack by the cemetery. He wore a whistle on an orange police cord and a revolver in his belt.

         Fedka was drunk. His forehead was laid out with the stony coils of his locks. Beneath the locks his broad, flat face twitched convulsively. He went up to Lugovoy’s grave, which was encircled by faded wreaths.

         “And where were you, Lugovoy,” Fedka asked the deceased, “when I was taking Rostov?”

         The sailor gnashed his teeth, blew his police whistle and drew his revolver. Its burnished steel muzzle gleamed in the sun.

         “We’ve crushed the tsars!” cried Fedka. “No more tsars… Nobody gets a coffin…”

         The sailor clutched his revolver. His bared chest was emblazoned with a tattoo of the name “Riva” and a dragon, its head bent toward a nipple.

         The gravediggers crowded around Fedka, their shovels up in the air. The women who’d been washing corpses came out of their hovels, ready to join Doba Leah in her wailing. Howling waves crashed against the cemetery’s locked gates.

         Families who had carted over their dead in wheelbarrows demanded to be let in. Beggars rattled their crutches on the fence.

         “We’ve crushed the tsars!” the sailor repeated, firing a shot into the sky.

         People bounded off down the path. Broydin slowly turned white. He raised his hand, agreed to all the old folks’ demands, made a quick about-face, and hurried back to his office. At that very moment the gates flew open. The families of the dead came pushing their wheelbarrows down every path at full tilt. Self-proclaimed cantors sang ‘El male rachamim’4 in shrill falsettos over open graves. In the evening they celebrated their victory at Krivoruchko’s. Fedka was served three quarts of Bessarabian wine.

         “Hevel havolim,” said Aryeh Leib, clinking glasses with the sailor. “You are a dear man, a man we can live with… Hakol hevel…”5

         The mistress of the house, Krivoruchko’s wife, was washing glasses in the adjoining room.

         “A Russian man with a good disposition,” said Madame Krivoruchko. “Now that’s a real luxury…”

         They led Fedka out some time after one in the morning.

         “Hevel havolim…” He kept muttering those baneful, incomprehensible words as he wended his way up Stepovaya Street. “Hakol hevel…”

         The next day the old folks at the almshouse were each given four lumps of sugar and some meat with their borscht. In the evening they were taken to the Odessa Opera and Ballet Theatre, to see a production arranged by the Department of Social Welfare—a staging of Carmen.6 It was the first time in their lives that these invalids and freaks could feast their eyes on the gilded tiers of the Odessa Theatre, the velvet of its ropes, the buttery glow of its chandeliers. During the intermission, everyone was served sandwiches with liver sausage.

         They were driven back to the cemetery on a military truck. It cleared a path down the frozen streets, rumbling and bursting. The old folks dozed off with swollen bellies. They belched in their sleep and quivered with fullness like dogs worn out after a good run.

         The following morning Aryeh Leib got up before the others. He faced east to say his prayers and saw a notice on the door. On this sheet Broydin announced that the almshouse was closing for repairs, and that its inmates must report to the Provincial Department of Social Welfare forthwith, so as to be reassigned for work duty.

         The sun came up over the treetops of the cemetery’s green grove. Aryeh Leib lifted his fingers to his eyes. Tears trickled from his dimmed sockets.

         The radiant path that led to the mortuary was lined with chestnuts. The trees were in bloom, bearing tall white flowers in their splayed paws. An unknown woman in a shawl wound tightly under her chest had apparently taken charge of the mortuary. The place had been redone from top to bottom—the walls were decked with fir branches, the tables had been scraped clean. The woman was washing a dead infant. She shifted him deftly from side to side: a shimmering stream of water ran down his blotchy, caved-in little back.

         Broydin was sitting on the steps of the mortuary in his gaiters. He looked like a man on holiday. He’d taken off his cap and was wiping his forehead with a yellow handkerchief.

         “Well, that’s just what I told Comrade Andreychik at the union,” the unknown woman said in her lilting voice. “We don’t run from work… Just let them ask about us in Yekaterinoslav… They know all about our work in Yekaterinoslav…”7

         “Make yourself at home, Comrade Blyuma, make yourself at home,” Broydin said tranquilly, stuffing the yellow handkerchief back in his pocket. “I’m an easy-going fellow… An easy-going fellow,” he repeated and turned his sparkling eyes to Aryeh Leib, who’d dragged himself right up to the porch. “If you don’t spit in my kasha, that is…”

         Broydin didn’t manage to finish his speech; a cab had pulled up at the gate, drawn by a tall black horse. The head of the Department of Communal Economy stepped out of the cab, wearing a shirt with a turn-down collar. Broydin ran out to greet him and led him into the cemetery.

         The former tailor’s apprentice showed his boss the century-old history of Odessa, which lay resting under granite slabs. He showed him the tombstones and crypts of the wheat exporters, shipping brokers, and merchants who had erected a Russian Marseilles on the site of Turkish Khadjibey.8 They all lay there, facing the gates—the Ashkenazis, the Gessens and the Ephrussis—refined misers, bon vivants with deep thoughts, creators of wealth and of Odessan jokes.9 They lay beneath tombstones of Labrador granite and pink marble, guarded by chains of chestnuts and acacias from the plebs huddling close to the walls.

         “They wouldn’t let us live in life,” Broydin said, tapping one of the tombstones with his boot. “And they wouldn’t let us die in death…”

         Stirred by his own words, he told the head of the Department of Communal Economy of his programme for reorganizing the cemetery and his plan of attack against the Burial Brotherhood.

         “Get rid of those there, too,” the head pointed to the beggars lined up at the gate.

         “Will do,” Broydin replied. “We’ll get it done, bit by bit…”

         “Well, full steam ahead,” said Department Head Mayorov.10 “Yessir, a tight ship… Full steam ahead….”

         He had one foot on the cab’s running board when he suddenly remembered about Fedka.

         “Say, heard you had a little ruction…”

         “Oh, that poor fellow… Shell-shocked,” Broydin said, lowering his gaze. “Gets kind of carried away… But we’ve knocked some sense into him… He’s apologized…”

         “Man has his head screwed on straight,” Mayorov told his companion as they drove away. “Really turning things around…”

         The tall horse carried him and the head of the Department of Public Works back to the city. On the way they saw the old men and women who’d been kicked out of the almshouse. They limped along in silence, bent under their bindles. Dashing Red Army men kept them in ranks. The carts of the paralysed creaked. The whistle of asthma, the wheeze of submission escaped from the chests of retired cantors, wedding jesters, circumcision cooks and spent sales clerks.

         The sun shone high in the sky. Its heat tore at the pile of rags dragging itself along the ground. Their journey took them down a joyless, scorched rocky road, past mud-brick shanties, past fields smothered by stones, past houses gutted by shells, and past the plague mound.11 This was the inexpressibly sad Odessan road that had once led from the city to the cemetery.

         
            Notes

            1 The events in this story take place during the devastating Ukrainian famine of 1921–23, when more than a million people died of starvation and disease.

            2 For Nikolayev, see ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, note 1. It is quite possible that Babel’s mention of Sonia Yanovskaya is a homage to his acquaintance Sofia Yanovskaya (1896–1966), a famed mathematician and historian of philosophy who lived, studied and worked as a newspaper editor in Odessa until 1923; she joined the Bolshevik Party in 1918 and was certainly not “repressed” in 1913.

            3 The famine affected many parts of Soviet Russia; despite the miserable crop yield and horrible conditions in southern Ukraine, the Soviet authorities requisitioned grain from these regions and sent it to Petrograd and territories along the Volga, including Tatarstan.

            4 ‘El male rachamim’ (Hebrew: ‘God, full of mercy’) is a prayer sung at funerals by Ashkenazi Jews.

            5 “Hevel havolim… Hakol hevel” is the Yiddish pronunciation of [image: ] havel havalim… hakkol havel (Hebrew: “Vanity of vanities… All is vanity”): Ecclesiastes 12:8.

            6 The neo-baroque Odessa Opera and Ballet Theatre, with its rococo interiors, opened in 1887, replacing Odessa’s first opera theatre, which was built in 1810 and irreparably damaged by fire in 1873. It is one of the grandest buildings in Odessa.

            7 Yekaterinoslav, called Dnipropetrovsk between 1926 and 2016, and now called Dnipro, is a city in southern central Ukraine.

            8 Odessa was built on territory conquered from the Ottomans. The fortress of Khadjibey (Hacıbey), on the site of present-day Odessa, was taken by Russian troops on 25 September 1789, during the Russo-Turkish War of 1787–91.

            9 Babel names three of Odessa’s legendary merchant and banking families.

            10 Mikhail Moiseyevich Mayorov (né Meyer Biberman, 1890–1938) was head of the Department of Communal Economy from 1920 to 1922, whereupon he became First Secretary of the Odessa Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of Ukraine. Like the fictional Broydin, he was a tailor by trade.

            11 Many of the victims of the plagues of 1812, 1829 and 1837 were buried in a single large mound.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            FROIM THE ROOK

         

         IN 1919 BENYA KRIK’S men attacked the rearguard of the Volunteer Army,1 slaughtered all the officers and seized part of the transport. In return, they requested that the Odessa Soviet allow them three days of “peaceful disobedience”, but permission wasn’t granted, so they knocked off every single shop along Alexandrovsky Avenue. Then they extended their activities to the Mutual Credit Society. First they’d let all the customers enter the bank, then they’d walk in themselves and kindly ask the clerks to carry bags full of money and valuables out to a nearby car. A month later the men were being rounded up and shot. Certain people who were willing to talk indicated that Aaron Peskin, a workshop proprietor, was somehow connected to these arrests. Just what sort of work went on in Peskin’s shop—that, no one knew. There was a machine in his flat—a long machine with a warped lead shaft; the floor was littered with sawdust and pasteboard for bindings.

         One spring morning Peskin’s pal Misha the Bullseye paid him a visit at the workshop.

         “Aaron,” said the guest, “mighty fine weather we’re having. Now, what you’ve got before you is a character who ain’t opposed to grabbing a half-litre of booze, some choice snacks, and taking a ride down to Arcadia… Laugh all you want, but sometimes a fellow has just got to clear his head…”2

         Peskin got dressed and rode down to Arcadia in Misha the Bullseye’s carriage. They rode around until evening; at dusk, Misha the Bullseye entered the room where Madame Peskin was bathing her fourteen-year-old daughter in a washtub.

         “Greetings,” said Misha, doffing his hat. “We had a grand time. The air was just terrific. Only your husband—what a nudnik… Dealing with him—like getting blood from a stone.”

         “You’re telling me,” replied Madame Peskin, grabbing her daughter by the hair and jerking her this way and that. “Where is he, that chiseller?”

         “He’s taking a rest in the garden.”

         Misha lifted his hat again, excused himself and took off in his carriage. Tired of waiting for her husband, Madame Peskin went to fetch him from the garden. He was sitting out there in his Panama hat, his elbows propped on the picnic table and a grin on his face.

         “You chiseller,” Madame Peskin said to him. “Some nerve, sitting out here, laughing, when your daughter is giving me a heart attack, refusing to wash her hair… Get up there and see if you can talk sense to her…”

         But Peskin just sat there, grinning.

         “Dimwit,” Madame Peskin began, peeked under her husband’s Panama hat, and broke out screaming.

         Her screaming summoned the neighbours.

         “He ain’t living,” Madame Peskin told them. “He’s dead.”

         But she was mistaken. Peskin had been shot twice in the chest and his skull was fractured, but he was still alive. They took the wounded man to the Jewish Hospital, where he was operated on by no less a specialist than Dr Silberberg—but to no avail. Peskin died under the knife. That same night the Cheka arrested a man known as “the Georgian” and his associate Kolya Lapidus.3 One had been Misha the Bullseye’s driver; the other had lain in wait at Arcadia, where the road turned from the beach off into the steppe. They were interrogated—briefly—and shot. Misha the Bullseye alone had managed to evade the ambush. His trail went cold. Several days passed before an old woman hawking sunflower seeds hobbled into Froim the Rook’s yard. She carried a basket full of her product. One of her eyebrows shot upward like a woolly coal-black bush, the other, barely noticeable, hung over an eyelid. Froim the Rook was sitting near his stable, his knees wide apart, playing with his grandson Arkady. Three years earlier, this boy had dropped out of Froim’s daughter Basya’s mighty womb. The grandfather stuck out a finger to Arkady, who grabbed hold and swung from it as from a crossbar.

         “Little squirt,” Froim spoke to his grandson, gazing at him with his one eye.

         Then the old woman—with her bushy eyebrow and her men’s boots laced with twine—came up to Froim.

         “Froim,” said the old woman, “I tell you, these people ain’t people. A word of honour means nothing to them. They croak us in their cellars, like we was dogs in a pit. They won’t even let us open our mouths… These people, they ought to be torn apart with the teeth, have their hearts pulled out… But you, you keep your peace, Froim,” Misha the Bullseye added. “Our boys, they’re waiting for you to stop keeping your peace…”

         Misha rose, shifted his basket from one hand to the other and left, arching his black eyebrow. Passing the church at Alexeyevskaya Square, he ran across three girls with braids. They were out for a stroll, their arms around each other’s waists.

         “Ladies,” said Misha the Bullseye, “too bad I can’t treat you to tea and sesame…”

         He poured a cupful of seeds into the pockets of their dresses, skirted the church and disappeared.

         Froim the Rook was alone in his yard. He sat motionless, his solitary eye staring off into space. Mules that had been captured from the French colonial troops4 were munching hay in the stable, while plump mares grazed in the meadow with their foals. Draymen played cards in the shade of a chestnut tree, sipping wine from crocks. Gusts of hot wind swept over the whitewashed walls, and the sun, trapped in a blue torpor, poured its light over the yard. Froim rose and walked out of the yard. He crossed Prokhorovskaya Street, which blackened the sky with the melting, poverty-stricken smoke of its kitchens, and the Swap Meet, where people wound round with curtains and drapes were selling them to each other.5 He came to Yekaterinskaya Street, turned at the monument to the empress and entered the headquarters of the Cheka.

         “I’m Froim,” he said to the commandant. “Tell your boss.”

         At that time the Cheka was headed by Vladislav Simen, who had been sent down from Moscow. When he learnt that Froim had come to see him, he summoned Investigator Borovoy and enquired about his visitor.

         “Oh, he’s really something, that one,” said Borovoy. “Now you’ll see what Odessa’s all about…”

         Led by the commandant, the old man entered the office in his sailcloth cloak—red-headed, huge as a building, with one eye closed and a mangled cheek.

         “Boss,” he said, “you know who you’re crushing? You’re crushing the aces. You know what you’ll be left with, boss? Scum…”

         Simen moved quickly and opened his desk drawer.

         “I’m clean,” said Froim. “Nothing in my hands, nothing in my boots, and nobody out in the street… You let my boys go, boss—name your price…”

         They sat the old man in an armchair, brought him some cognac. Borovoy left the room and gathered up the investigators and commissars who’d been sent down from Moscow.

         “You’ve got to see this character,” he said. “I mean, he’s epic, one of a kind…”

         And Borovoy told them how the one-eyed Froim, not Benya Krik, was the true boss of Odessa’s forty thousand thieves. The old man liked to play things close to his chest, but he was the real brains behind every operation—the raids on the factories and Odessa’s treasury, the attacks on the Volunteer Army and the foreign interventionists. Borovoy waited for the old man to come out so the two of them could have a talk. But Froim wouldn’t show. Tired of waiting, the investigator went in to look for him. He searched all over the building and finally glanced into the backyard. Froim the Rook lay sprawled under a tarp by the ivy-covered wall. Two Red Army men stood over his corpse, smoking hand-rolled cigarettes.

         “A goddamn bear,” the older one said when he saw Borovoy. “The strength in ’im… An old man like that, if you didn’t kill ’im, he’d never go down… We put ten bullets in ’im, but he kept comin’…”

         The Red Army man’s face turned red, his eyes began to sparkle, and his cap slipped to one side.

         “Quit flappin’ your jaws,” the other guard cut in. “He died just like the rest of ’em… They’re all the same to me.”

         “They ain’t all the same,” the older one shot back. “One begs and pleads, another don’t say a word… All the same, my foot…”

         “Well, they’re all the same to me,” the younger Red Army man insisted. “One and the same. Ain’t my job to sort ’em out…”

         Borovoy bent down and pulled back the tarp. The grimace of movement still lingered on the old man’s face.

         The investigator went back to the office. It was a large conference room, tapestried with satin. There was a meeting in progress about new rules of operation. Simen was giving a report on the irregularities he had discovered, the garbled verdicts, the senseless way in which records were kept. He insisted that investigators split into groups and consult with legal advisers, preparing their cases using the forms and templates approved by the head office in Moscow.

         Borovoy sat in his corner and listened. He sat by himself, far from the others. Simen came up to him after the meeting and took him by the hand.

         “You’re mad at me, I know,” he said. “But we’re the ones in power, Sasha. We’re the state, and you’ve got to remember that…”

         “I’m not mad,” said Borovoy and turned away. “You’re not from Odessa—I don’t expect you to know… But that old man—there’s a whole history there…”

         They sat beside each other—the head of the bureau, who was all of twenty-three, and his subordinate. Simen held Borovoy’s hand, pressing it from time to time.

         “Answer me as a Chekist,” he said after a long silence, “answer me as a revolutionary—of what use would that man have been in our future society?”

         “Don’t know,” Borovoy said, not moving and staring straight ahead. “No use, I guess…”

         It wasn’t easy, but he managed to banish his memories. Then, livening up, he began where he’d left off, telling the Chekists who’d been sent down from Moscow about the life of Froim the Rook, about his shrewdness, his elusiveness, his contempt for his fellow man—all those astounding stories that have now receded for ever into the past…

         
            Notes

            1 Formed in November 1917 by Generals Mikhail Alexeyev (1857–1918) and Lavr Kornilov (1870–1918), the Volunteer Army was the first organized military force to challenge the Bolsheviks during the Russian Civil War (1918–22). It was part of the Armed Forces of South Russia (formed in 1919), which was itself part of the larger White Army.

            2 Arcadia is a beachside resort district in Odessa.

            3 The Cheka, or ChK—abbreviated from Chrezvychainaya komissiya (Emergency Committee)—was created in December 1917 to weed out and suppress enemies of the nascent Bolshevik regime. It was the first incarnation of the Soviet secret police and was largely responsible for implementing the campaign of Red Terror, which took as many 1.5 million lives during the Russian Civil War. The Odessa branch was established in April 1919 and, as Babel indicates, was first located in luxurious confiscated flats on Yekaterinskaya Square.

            4 Foreign intervention in the Russian Civil War began with the French and Greek occupation of Odessa in December 1918. The French sent in some 60,000 troops, most of them Senegalese and Algerian. They were driven out in April 1919.

            5 The famous Odessa Swap Meet (Tolkuchy rynok) was once situated on Prokhorovskaya Square.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            KARL-YANKEL

         

         BACK WHEN I WAS A KID, Jonah Brutman ran a smithy on Peresyp. It was a gathering place for horse-jobbers, carters—we called them draymen in Odessa—and butchers from the city slaughterhouses. It sat on Balta Road, this smithy, and was a prime spot to intercept peasants carting oats and Bessarabian wine into the city.1 Jonah was a timorous little man, but he’d developed a taste for wine. After all, he had the soul of an Odessan Jew.

         Jonah’s sons were young back then, all around my age. He came up to their waists. It was there at Peresyp, on the beach, that I first contemplated the power of the forces that lay hidden in nature. I saw these boys—three fattened bulls with crimson shoulders and feet like shovels—dip their shrivelled little father in the water, as one dips an infant. And yet it was he who had sired them, no one else. That was never in doubt. The blacksmith’s wife attended synagogue twice a week—on Friday night and Saturday morning. It was a Hasidic synagogue; on Passover the congregants all danced themselves into ecstasy like dervishes. Jonah’s wife paid tribute to the emissaries sent down to the southern provinces by Galician tsaddiks. The blacksmith didn’t meddle in his wife’s relationship with God. After work he’d go down to the tavern near one of the slaughterhouses, sip his cheap rosé and listen meekly as people talked of what concerned them—politics and the price of cattle.

         In size and strength the boys took after their mother. Two of them later joined the partisans. The older one was killed at Voznesensk, while the other Brutman, Semyon, went over to Primakov’s Red Cossacks division.2 He was given command of a Cossack regiment. Along with a few shtetl boys, he was one of the forerunners of this unexpected breed of Jewish swordsmen, expert riders and partisans.

         The third son followed in his father’s footsteps and became a blacksmith. He’s still on Peresyp, working at the Hoehn Plough Factory. He never married, never sired any offspring.

         Semyon’s children kept moving from place to place with his Cossack division. The old woman needed a grandson, so she could tell him about the Baal Shem Tov.3 It was her youngest daughter, Polya, who finally gave her one. Of the whole clan, Polya alone took after little Jonah. She was timorous, myopic, and had delicate skin. Polya had plenty of suitors. She chose Ovsey Belotserkovsky. None of us could make any sense of it. The news that the young couple were living happily came as an even greater surprise. The household is a woman’s domain: an outsider doesn’t see the pots breaking. In this case, however, it was Ovsey Belotserkovsky who broke the pots. A year into his marriage he filed suit against his mother-in-law, Brana Brutman. Taking advantage of the fact that Ovsey was away on business and Polya was in hospital with mastitis, the old woman had kidnapped her newborn grandson and brought him to a small-time operator by the name of Naphtali Gerchik; there, in the presence of ten ancient ruins—ten impoverished old men, haunters of the Hasidic synagogue—the child underwent the rite of circumcision.

         Ovsey Belotserkovsky only learnt what she had done after returning home. He was listed as a candidate for the Party, so he decided to consult with Bychach, the secretary of the local cell of the State Trade Organization.

         “You’ve been morally tarnished,” said Bychach. “You can’t just let this go…”

         The Odessa Prosecutor’s Office decided to hold a show trial at the Petrovsky Factory. The small-time operator Naphtali Gerchik and sixty-two-year-old Brana Brutman suddenly found themselves in the dock.

         Naphtali was as much a part of Odessa’s landscape as the monument to the Duke of Richelieu.4 He’d walk past our windows on Dalnitskaya Street with his tattered, greasy obstetric bag. This bag held the uncomplicated tools of his trade. When the time came, Naphtali would pull out his little knife, a bottle of vodka, a honey cake. He’d sniff the honey cake before taking a swig from the bottle, and after the swig he’d whine a prayer. He was red-headed, this Naphtali—as red-headed as the first redhead on earth. After nipping off his due, he never drained the blood through a glass tube but simply sucked it up with his puffy lips. The blood would stain his unkempt beard. Then he’d walk out to the guests, already drunk, his little bear-like eyes sparkling with glee. Red-headed as the first redhead on earth, he’d twang out a blessing over the wine. He’d tip a bottle of vodka into the hairy, crooked, fire-breathing pit of his mouth with one hand; in the other he’d be holding a plate with the little knife, coloured crimson by the infant’s blood, and a piece of gauze. Naphtali would make the rounds with this plate, collecting money from the guests. He’d push his way between the women, falling on them, pawing at their chests and yowling for the whole street to hear:

         “Fat mamas!” the old man would yowl, his coral eyes glinting. “Mint little boys for Naphtali, grind wheat on your bellies—try for Naphtali… Mint little boys, fat mamas!”

         The husbands would toss money on his plate. The wives would wipe the blood from his beard with napkins. The courtyards on Glukhaya and Gospitalnaya Streets didn’t want for children. They teemed with them like the mouths of rivers teem with spawn. Naphtali would plod up and down these streets with his bag like a tax collector. Prosecutor Orlov put a stop to Naphtali’s rounds.

         The prosecutor thundered from the rostrum, aiming to prove that the small-time operator was the priest of a cult.

         “Do you believe in God?” he asked Naphtali.

         “Let him who wins two hundred thousand believe in God,” the old man replied.

         “You weren’t the least bit surprised when citizen Brutman came to you at so late an hour, in the rain, with a newborn in her arms?”

         “When a person acts like a human being,” said Naphtali, “then I’m surprised, but when a person does something crazy—that don’t surprise me…”

         The prosecutor wasn’t satisfied with these responses. He raised the matter of the glass tube, arguing that, by sucking the blood with his lips, the defendant was placing children at risk of infection. Naphtali’s head—the shaggy nut of his head—dangled somewhere near the floor. He kept sighing, closing his eyes and wiping his caved-in mouth with his fist.

         “What are you muttering down there, citizen Gerchik?” the chairman asked.

         Naphtali fixed his dimmed eyes on prosecutor Orlov.

         “The late Monsieur Zusman,” he said with a sigh, “your late lamented papa, he had such a head on his shoulders; there wasn’t another one like it the whole world over. And he, thank the Lord, wasn’t having a stroke when he called me over to perform your bris thirty years ago. And now you’re all grown up, a big man under Soviet power, and it’s plain to see that when Naphtali snipped that bissel from you, he didn’t take nothing you might have needed…”

         He blinked his bear-like little eyes, nodded his red-haired nut and fell silent. The room burst out with guns of laughter, thunderous volleys of guffaws. Orlov, né Zusman, waved his arms and shouted, but he was drowned out by the cannonade. He demanded that the record show… Sasha Svetlov, a columnist for the Odessa News, sent him a note from the press box: “You’re a dolt, Syoma,” the note read. “Kill him with irony. Only humour kills. Yours, Sasha.”

         The room grew quiet when Ovsey Belotserkovsky was brought in to testify.

         The witness reiterated the contents of his deposition. He was lanky, wore breeches and cavalry jackboots. According to Ovsey, the Tiraspol5 and Balta District Party Committees had been cooperating fully in the work of procuring press-cake feed. With procurement in full swing, he received a telegram informing him of the birth of his son. After consulting with the Head of the Organization Department at the Balta Committee, he decided their work couldn’t be interrupted, and so he restricted himself to sending a congratulatory telegram. He remained in the region for another two weeks. In the end, they managed to collect 1,200 tons of feed. Returning home, he found the witness Kharchenko—his neighbour, a washerwoman by trade—alone with his son. His wife had withdrawn to the clinic, and witness Kharchenko was engaged in the antiquated practice of rocking the cradle and singing a lullaby. Knowing witness Kharchenko to be an alcoholic, he did not bother delving too deeply into the words of her song, but he was surprised to hear her call his boy Yankel, when he had left specific instructions to name him Karl, in honour of our great teacher, Karl Marx. When he unswaddled the child, he found definitive proof of his misfortune.

         The prosecutor had a few questions for him. The defence declared it had none. Then the bailiff ushered in the witness Polya Belotserkovsky. She approached the bar, swaying a little. Her face was contorted with the bluish cramp of recent motherhood, and beads of sweat stood out on her forehead. Her gaze first fell on her father, the little blacksmith, decked out in a bow and new boots as if this were a holiday, then on the coppery face of her mother, with its grey whiskers. The witness was asked what she knew of the matter; she didn’t answer. Instead, she said that her father was a poor man, who had worked forty years in his smithy on Balta Road. Her mother had given birth to six children, three of them died, one was a Red Commander, and another worked at the Hoehn Factory…

         “My mother is very devout—everyone knows that. Her children aren’t religious, and that’s caused her no end of suffering. She just couldn’t bear the thought of her grandsons not being Jews either. You have to take into account the kind of family she comes from… Everyone knows the shtetl of Medzhibozh,6 the women there, they still wear wigs—”

         “Will the witness please tell us,” a shrill voice cut in. Polya fell silent. The beads of sweat on her forehead turned red; it looked as if blood were seeping through her thin skin. “Will the witness please tell us,” repeated the voice, which belonged to the former barrister Samuel Lining…

         If the Great Sanhedrin7 were to exist today, Lining would surely be its head. But the Sanhedrin is no more, so when Lining, who had learnt Russian letters at twenty-five, turned forty, he began writing appeals to the imperial Senate that were in no wise inferior to the tractates of the Talmud…

         The old man had slept through the whole trial. His jacket was peppered with ashes. He woke up to the sight of Polya Belotserkovsky.

         “Will the witness please tell us,” he said, and the loose rows of his blue, fish-like teeth rattled. “Were you aware of your husband’s decision to name his son Karl?”

         “Yes.”

         “And what did your mother name him?”

         “Yankel.”

         “And will the witness please tell us—what do you call your son?”

         “I call him ‘darling’.”

         “Why ‘darling’?”

         “That’s what I call kids—‘darling’…”

         “Let’s move on,” Lining said. His teeth fell out, but he caught them on his lower lip and jammed them back up against his gums. “Let’s move on… In the evening, when the child was taken away and brought to the defendant Gerchik, you were not at home. You were at a clinic… Is that correct?”

         “I was at a clinic.”

         “And at what clinic were you receiving treatment?”

         “The one on Nezhinskaya Street, Dr Drizo’s…”

         “You were treated at Dr Drizo’s…”

         “Yes.”

         “And you remember this well?”

         “How could I forget?”

         “I would like to submit the following document into evidence.” Lining lifted his lifeless face above the table. “Upon examining this document, the court will find that, at the time in question, Dr Drizo was taking part in a conference of paediatricians in Kharkov…”

         The prosecutor had no objections to the document being introduced.

         “Let’s move on,” said Lining, his teeth rattling.

         The witness’s body slumped onto the bar. She whispered so softly that you could hardly make out her words.

         “I don’t know, maybe it wasn’t Dr Drizo,” she said, sprawled across the bar. “I can’t remember everything—I’m exhausted…”

         Lining kept raking his yellow beard with a pencil, rubbing his hunched back against the bench, and shifting his false teeth in his mouth.

         Asked to present her sick leave certificate from the insurance office, Belotserkovsky replied that she had lost it…

         “Let’s move on,” said the old man.

         Polya ran her palm across her forehead. Her husband was sitting on the edge of the bench, apart from the other witnesses. He sat bolt upright, his long jackbooted legs tucked under the seat… Sunshine fell on his face, which was criss-crossed with a lattice of small, malicious bones.

         “I’ll find the certificate,” Polya whispered, and her hands slid down from the bar.

         At that moment a child’s cry rang out. An infant was bawling and groaning on the other side of the door.

         “What’re you thinking, Polya?” the old woman shouted in a deep voice. “You haven’t fed the baby since this morning. Poor thing’s wasting away…”

         Startled, the Red Army men grabbed their rifles. Polya kept sliding lower and lower. Then she threw back her head and lay down on the floor. Her hands shot up into the air, flailed about, then fell to her sides.

         “Adjourned,” the chairman cried.

         The room exploded in uproar. Belotserkovsky strode over to his wife with crane-like steps, the skin around his sunken eyes gleaming green.

         “Feed the baby,” someone shouted from the back rows, cupping their hands around their mouths.

         “It’ll get fed,” a woman’s voice replied from a distance. “Think they’re waitin’ on your advice?”

         “The daughter ain’t so innocent,” said a worker seated next to me. “She was in on it…”

         “Brother, I tell ya,” his neighbour chimed in. “Family’s a shady business, a night-time affair… The mess they make at night—you can’t clean it up in the morning…”

         The sun slashed the room with its slanting rays. The crowd bustled, pressing close, breathing fire and sweat. I elbowed my way into the hallway. The door to the red corner8 stood ajar. I could hear Karl-Yankel groaning and champing away in there. The red corner had a portrait of Lenin—the one where he’s giving a speech from an armoured car at Finland Station; all around it hung coloured charts of the Petrovsky Factory’s output. The walls were lined with banners and guns on wooden mounts. A female worker with a Kyrgyz face sat in the room with her head down; she was feeding Karl-Yankel. He was a plump fellow, about five months old, with knitted socks on his feet and a tuft of white hair on his head. Latched firmly on to his Kyrgyz nurse, he growled, pounding his little fist against her breast.

         “All that shoutin’ out there,” the Kyrgyz woman said. “Someone always turns up to feed a baby…”

         There was also a girl of around seventeen fussing about in the room; she wore a red kerchief and her cheeks stuck out like pine cones. She was drying Karl-Yankel’s oilcloth.

         “He’s for the army, that one,” the girl said. “Look at ’im fightin’…”

         The Kyrgyz gently tugged her nipple out of Karl-Yankel’s mouth. He grunted and tossed back his white-tufted head in despair… The woman freed her other breast and offered it to the boy. He peered at the nipple with his bleary little eyes and something flashed in them. The Kyrgyz looked down at Karl-Yankel, her black eyes squinting.

         “He ain’t no soldier,” she said, adjusting the boy’s cap. “He’s a pilot—gonna fly up there in the sky…”

         Down the hall, the session had resumed.

         Now the prosecutor was waging battle against experts who’d given evasive testimony. He’d risen from his seat and was banging his fist on the desk. I could also see the public in the first few rows of the gallery—Galician tsaddiks, with their beaver hats on their knees. They had shown up because the Warsaw papers had told them that the Jewish faith itself would be on trial. The faces of the rabbis in the front row hung suspended in the roiling, dusty sunshine.

         “Down with them!” shouted a Communist Youth9 member who’d made his way up to the stage.

         The battle flared up.

         Karl-Yankel stared at me inanely and kept sucking at the Kyrgyz woman’s breast.

         Beyond the window, the straight streets trodden by my childhood and adolescence flew off into the distance—Pushkinskaya down to the railway station, Little Arnautskaya to the park by the sea.

         I’d grown up on those streets. Now it was Karl-Yankel’s turn. But no one had fought over me as they were fighting over him. No, nobody gave much thought to me.

         “I’ve got to believe you’ll be happy, Karl-Yankel,” I whispered to myself. “I’ve got to believe you’ll be happier than me…”

         
            Notes

            1 The city of Balta, in present-day Ukraine, lies about 135 miles north-west of Odessa. Before the Revolution, its population was predominantly Jewish. It was a major market town.

            2 Voznesensk, in present-day Ukraine, lies about 85 miles north of Odessa. Vitaly Markovich Primakov (1897–1937) was a Ukrainian Cossack who commanded one of the squadrons that stormed the Winter Palace during the October Revolution of 1917. He went on to form a regiment of Red Cossacks in Ukraine, which grew into the First Corps of Red Cossacks in 1920.

            3 See ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, note 3.

            4 Armand Emmanuel Sophie Septimanie de Vignerot du Plessis, the fifth Duke of Richelieu (1766–1822) was a major-general in the Russian Imperial Army during the Napoleonic Wars. He was appointed mayor of Odessa in 1803 and served in that post until his return to France in 1814. The monument to the duke, erected in 1828, is one of the city’s symbols. It overlooks the Odessa harbour from the top of the Potemkin Stairs, which were built between 1837 and 1841 and were immortalized in Sergei Eisenstein’s film Battleship Potemkin (1925).

            5 The city of Tiraspol is about 85 miles to the north-west of Odessa. It lies in a disputed region, officially recognized as part of Moldova, but also claimed by the so-called Pridnestrovian Moldavian Republic (Transnistria).

            6 Medzhibozh (now Medzhybizh) is a town in Western Ukraine, which was once the centre of Jewish life in that region. It is the birthplace of the Baal Shem Tov (see ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, note 3).

            7 The Great Sanhedrin was the highest court in the Land of Israel. It was dissolved in the fourth century CE.

            8 A public reading room stocked with Communist Party literature and decorations. The term was used before the Revolution in the sense of an ‘icon corner’ in private homes.

            9 The Communist Youth organisation, or the Komsomol (All-Union Leninist Young Communist League), was founded in 1918. Its membership consisted of youths between the ages of fourteen and twenty-eight.
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            THE STORY OF MY DOVECOTE

            For Maxim Gorky

         

         WHEN I WAS A CHILD I really wanted a dovecote. I never felt a stronger desire in all my life. I was nine years old when my father promised to give me the money for some planks and three pairs of doves. That was back in 1904. I was studying for the entrance exams to the preparatory class at the Nikolayev Secondary School. My family lived in Nikolayev, in the Kherson Province. There’s no such province now: our city’s part of the Odessa District.

         I was only nine years old, and the prospect of the exams terrified me. I couldn’t afford to get anything less than perfect marks on both—Russian language and mathematics. The Jewish quota at our school was tough: only five per cent. That meant that out of the forty boys admitted to the preparatory class, only two could be Jews. And the devilish questions the teachers would pose to us Jewish boys… No one got trickier questions. That’s why my father promised to buy me doves only on the condition that I score top marks: perfect fives—with pluses, no less.1 He put me through hell, and I fell into an endless waking dream—a child’s long dream of despair; and though I went off to the exams rapt in this dream, I still did better than the others.

         I had a gift for learning. No matter how tricky the teachers got, they couldn’t deny that I had brains and a voracious memory. I had a gift for learning and scored two fives. But then everything changed. Khariton Ephrussi, the grain merchant who exported wheat to Marseilles, slipped the school a five-hundred-rouble bribe on behalf of his son, one of my fives acquired a minus, and my place at the school went to Ephrussi junior. My father nearly lost his mind. From the time I’d turned six he’d been cramming my head with every kind of learning imaginable. That “minus” business drove him to the brink of despair. He wanted to beat up Ephrussi, or to hire a couple of stevedores to do the job, but mother talked him out of it, and I started preparing for the following year’s exam, to get into the first form. Conspiring behind my back, my family goaded my tutor into covering both the prep and first-year courses in the same year, and since we were completely desperate, I memorized three books. These books were Smirnovsky’s grammar, Yevtushevsky’s mathematical problems and Putsykovich’s introduction to Russian history. Children aren’t taught from these books any longer, but I got them by heart, line by line, and the following year, taking the Russian language exam with schoolmaster Karavayev, I attained the unattainable five-plus.

         Karavayev was a ruddy, indignant fellow, who’d been a student in Moscow. He was barely thirty. A blush bloomed on his manly cheeks, like the blush on the faces of peasant lads, and he had a wart on one of those cheeks, from which sprang a tuft of ash-grey feline hair. The other person presiding over the exam was Deputy Warden Pyatnitsky, an important personage both at the school and in the province. The deputy warden asked me about Peter the Great and I experienced a sense of utter oblivion, a sense that the end was near, that an abyss had opened before me, a sun-baked abyss, lined with delight and despair.

         I’d learnt by heart what Putsykovich’s book had to say about Peter the Great, as well as what Pushkin had put into verse.2 And I recited those verses in violent sobs, while human faces cascaded into my eyes, shifting about like a fresh deck of cards. The faces kept getting shuffled in the depths of my eyes, while I stood there trembling, straightening my back, hurriedly shouting Pushkin’s verses with all my might. I shouted and shouted for a long time, with no one putting a stop to my mad rambling. All I saw through my crimson blindness, through the sense of freedom that had come over me, was Pyatnitsky’s old face bending toward me with its silvery beard. He didn’t interrupt me, and made only a single comment to Karavayev, who was delighted for me and for Pushkin.

         “What a people, these Yids of yours,” the old man whispered. “They’re possessed, I tell you.”

         And when I stopped, he said:

         “Well done, little friend. Off you go…”

         I stepped out into the hallway, leant back against the unpainted wall and began to emerge from the convulsions of my dream. Russian boys were playing all around me, the school bell hung beneath a flight of stairs, and a watchman dozed on a broken chair. I stared at the watchman, slowly coming to. Boys came creeping up to me from all directions. They wanted to give me a flick, or just to play, but then Pyatnitsky suddenly appeared in the hallway. As he walked past me, he paused for a moment, his frock coat rolling down his back in a slow and powerful wave. I saw the perturbation on that broad, fleshy, gentlemanly back and went up to the old man.

         “Children,” he said to the schoolboys, “don’t you bother this boy.” He lowered his fat, gentle hand onto my shoulder.

         Then Pyatnitsky turned to me and said, “Little friend, tell your father that you’ve been accepted into the first form.”

         A splendid star sparkled on his chest, medals clanged around his lapel, and his large, black uniformed body moved off on straight legs. Hemmed in by gloomy walls, it moved between them as a barge moves down a deep canal, and eventually disappeared through the doorway to the headmaster’s office. A small attendant brought him tea with solemn pomp, and I ran home to our shop.

         In our shop, a peasant customer sat scratching his head, frozen with indecision. As soon as he caught sight of me, father abandoned the peasant and demanded I tell him the whole story; he believed every word without a moment’s hesitation. Shouting to the clerk to close up the shop, he ran off to Sobornaya Street, to buy me a hat with the school emblem. Poor mother barely managed to free me from this madman’s grip. Mother was pale at that moment—she was interrogating fate. She kept stroking me, then pushing me away in disgust. She said that the newspapers would announce the names of all the boys accepted to the secondary school—that God would punish us and that people would laugh at us if we bought a uniform ahead of time. Mother was pale; she was interrogating fate in my eyes, gazing at me with bitter pity, as if I were a cripple, because she alone knew just how unlucky our family was.

         All the men in our line were too trusting, too liable to act without thinking—and we had no luck at all. My grandfather had once been a rabbi in Belaya Tserkov, but they drove him out for blasphemy and he lived another forty years in loud disgrace and poverty, learning foreign languages, then began going mad in his eightieth year.3 Uncle Lev, father’s brother, had studied at the yeshiva in Volozhin.4 In 1892 he escaped conscription and abducted the daughter of a quartermaster serving in the Kiev Military District. Uncle Lev took this woman to California, to Los Angeles, abandoned her there and died in a madhouse among Negroes and Malays. After his death, the American police sent us our inheritance from Los Angeles—a big trunk bound with brown iron hoops. This trunk held dumb-bells, locks of women’s hair, uncle’s tallith, whips with gilded handles and herbal tea in little boxes trimmed with cheap pearls. That left only mad Uncle Simon, who lived in Odessa, father and me. But father was too trusting; he offended people with the raptures of first love, and they never forgave him for this, deceiving him mercilessly. And so father came to believe that his life was governed by some malicious fate, an enigmatic creature that dogged his every step and with which he had nothing in common. And so, out of all the men in my family, mother had no one but me. Like all Jews, I was small and frail, and my head ached from too much learning. Mother saw all this clearly; she had never been blinded by her husband’s beggarly pride, his strange belief that our family would someday be stronger and richer than others in this world. She didn’t expect any success, was afraid to buy me a uniform ahead of time, and only allowed a large portrait of me to be taken at the photographer’s.

         On 20 September 1905 a list of the boys admitted into the first form was posted at the secondary school. My name was among them. All my relatives showed up to have a look at that paper, and even Shoyl, my great-uncle, tramped over to the school. I loved that sly old braggart because he sold fish at the market. His fleshy hands were moist, coated in fish scales, and smelt of marvellous cold worlds. Shoyl also differed from ordinary people by virtue of his tall tales about the Polish Uprising of 1861.5 Back in the old days Shoyl had been an innkeeper in Skvira; he saw the soldiers of Nicholas I shoot Count Godlewski and other Polish insurgents dead.6 Or maybe he didn’t. I know now that Shoyl was nothing but an old ignoramus and a naive liar, but I’ve never forgotten those tales of his—they were good. And so even foolish Shoyl tramped over to the school to read the list with my name on it, and in the evening he danced and stomped around at our impoverished ball.

         In his great joy, father arranged a ball and invited all his associates—the grain merchants, the estate brokers and the travelling salesmen who sold agricultural machinery in our district. They sold their machines to any and everyone, these salesmen. They were a regular terror to peasants and landowners; you just couldn’t get rid of them without buying something. These travelling salesmen are the shrewdest and liveliest of all the Jews. That evening they sang Hasidic songs, which were made up of only three words but dragged on and on, with lots of funny inflections. Only those who have celebrated Passover with the Hasidim or spent time in their noisy synagogues in Volyn can recognize the beauty of those inflections. And old Lieberman, who taught me Hebrew and the Torah, he was also there. Monsieur Lieberman my family called him. That evening he drank more Bessarabian wine than he should have, the traditional silk tassels slipped out from under his red vest, and he raised a toast in my honour in Hebrew. The old man congratulated my parents in his toast, saying that I had defeated all my enemies at the exam—I had defeated those Russian boys with their fat cheeks, as well as the sons of our own rich vulgarians. It was thus that David, King of the Jews, had defeated Goliath in ancient times, and just as I had triumphed over Goliath, so too would our people, by the power of our minds, vanquish our enemies, who now surround us, thirsting for our blood. Monsieur Lieberman said all this and broke out in tears, then drank more wine as he wept and shouted, “Vivat!” The guests pulled him into their circle and led him through an old-fashioned quadrille, as at a shtetl wedding. Everyone had a grand time at our ball, and even mother had a sip, though she didn’t like vodka and didn’t understand how anyone could; this is why she considered all Russians crazy and didn’t understand how women could live with Russian husbands.

         But our truly happy days were yet to come. For mother, they came when she started making me sandwiches before I left for school each morning, when we went from shop to shop buying my festive supplies—a pencil box, a piggybank, a satchel, new pasteboard-bound textbooks and notebooks in glossy wrappers. No one responds to the newness of new things like children. They shudder at the smell of them, like dogs on a hare’s trail, and experience a kind of madness that later, as adults, we come to call inspiration. And this pure, childlike sense of ownership over new things spread to mother as well. It took us a whole month to get used to the pencil box and to the early morning gloom, when I’d drink tea at the edge of the big brightly lit table and pack my books in my satchel; it took us a whole month to get used to our happy life, and it was only after the first quarter was over that I remembered about the doves.

         Everything was in place, ready and waiting—the rouble-and-a-half for the birds, as well as the dovecote, which old Shoyl had built from a wooden crate. The dovecot was painted brown. It had nests for twelve pairs of doves, slats of various widths on the roof and a special grating I came up with myself, which would make it easier to lure strays. Everything was prepared. On Sunday, 20 October, I started out for the market on Okhotnitsky Square, but I ran into some unexpected obstacles.7

         The story I’m telling here—that is, the story of my enrolment in the first form of secondary school—took place in the autumn of 1905. Tsar Nicholas was about to grant the Russian people a constitution, and orators in worn-out coats kept clambering up onto podiums in front of the City Council to make their speeches. There was shooting in the streets at night, and mother wouldn’t let me to go to the market. On the morning of 20 October the neighbourhood boys were flying a kite right in front of the police station, and our water-carrier, neglecting his duties, strolled up and down the street, red-faced and pomaded. Then we saw the sons of the baker Kalistov drag a leather vaulting horse out into the road and start doing gymnastics. No one interfered, and the policeman Semernikov even egged them on, telling them to jump higher. Semernikov wore a homespun silk waist-sash that day, and his boots were polished as they had never been polished before. It was the sight of the policeman out of uniform that really frightened mother; that’s why she wouldn’t let me go. But I sneaked out into the street through the backyards and ran to the market, which was all the way down by the railway station.

         I found Ivan Nikodimych, the dove-seller, in his usual place at the market. Besides doves, he was selling rabbits and a peacock. The peacock sat on a perch, fanning its tail and turning its dispassionate head from side to side. There was a twisted cord around one of its legs, and the other end of the cord lay pinched beneath Ivan Nikodimych’s wicker chairs. As soon as I got to the old man, I bought a pair of cherry-red doves with tattered colourful tails and a pair of crested ones, putting them in a bag under my shirt. I had forty copecks left after the purchase, but the old man wouldn’t sell me a breeding pair of Kryukov doves for that price. What I liked about Kryukov doves was their beaks—short, sandy, friendly. Forty copecks was a fair offer, but the hunter set a high price and averted his yellow face, which was burnt by the unsociable passions of the fowler. At the end of the trading day, seeing that there were no other takers, Ivan Nikodimych called me over. Everything went my way—and it all went badly.

         Sometime before noon, perhaps a little later, a man in felt boots walked across the square. He stepped lightly on swollen legs, lively eyes burning in his haggard face.

         “Ivan Nikodimych,” he said as he passed the hunter, “pack up your wares—the Jerusalem grandees are gettin’ themselves a constitution up in town. Old man Babel caught his death at the fish market on Rybnaya.”

         He said this and stepped off lightly between the cages, like a barefoot ploughman along a boundary path.

         “Shame,” Ivan Nikodimych muttered behind the man’s back. “Shame,” he shouted more sternly, then began to collect his rabbits and peacock and handed me the Kryukov doves for forty copecks. I hid them in my shirt and gaped at the people fleeing from the market. The peacock on Ivan Nikodimych’s shoulder was the last to go. It sat like the sun in the damp autumn sky, like July on a rosy riverbank, a red-hot July in the tall cool grass. The market was empty now, and shots rang out nearby. I took off running towards the station, crossed the square, which flipped upside down in my eyes, and flew into a deserted alley trodden with yellow earth. At the end of the alley sat legless Makarenko, who rolled through the city in his wheelchair and sold cigarettes from a tray. The boys on our street bought cigarettes from him, all the kids liked him, and I rushed towards him.

         “Makarenko,” I said, struggling to catch my breath, and patted the legless man on his shoulder. “Have you seen Shoyl?”

         The cripple kept silent; his rough face—made of red fat, of fists, of iron—glowed from within. He was fidgeting in his chair with excitement, while his wife Katyusha, her cotton-clad backside turned towards me, was picking through things that lay strewn on the ground.

         “What’ve you got?” the legless man asked and recoiled from the woman, as if he knew that he’d find her answer unbearable.

         “Fourteen gaiters,” Katyusha replied without straightening her back, “six coverlets—now let me count these here bonnets…”

         “Bonnets!” Makarenko cried out, choked, and made a sound as if he were sobbing. “Katerina, I tell ya, God must’ve chosen me to pay for the sins of others… People are carryin’ off whole bolts of linen, people are makin’ out fine, and whadda we get? Bonnets…”

         And indeed, at that very moment, a woman with a flushed beautiful face came running down the alley. She held an armful of fezzes in one hand and a bolt of cloth in the other. The woman called out to her missing children in a joyous, desperate voice. A silk dress and a light-blue blouse streamed behind her gliding body, and she paid no attention to Makarenko, who went rolling after her in his chair. The legless man couldn’t catch up to her; his wheels rattled, and he worked his levers with all his might.

         “Madamochka!” he roared. “Where’d you get the calico, Madamochka?”

         But the woman with the gliding dress was gone. A wobbly cart came flying around the corner where she had turned. A peasant lad was standing upright in the cart.

         “Where’d everyone run off to?” the fellow asked, raising the red reins over his nags, which were wriggling in their collars.

         “On Sobornaya,” Makarenko answered imploringly. “They’re all down on Sobornaya, dear boy—whatever you can grab, you just bring it to me, I’ll buy everything…”

         The boy leant over the front of his cart and lashed his piebald nags. The horses leapt up in their filthy cruppers like calves and set off at a gallop. The yellow alley was once again yellow and deserted; then the legless man turned his dimmed eyes on me.

         “What am I, God’s chosen?” he said lifelessly. “What am I, the Son of Man?”

         And Makarenko stretched a leprous hand towards me.

         “What’ve you got in that sack there?” he said, grabbing the bag that had warmed my heart.

         The cripple riffled through the doves with a fleshy hand, pulling out a female. The bird lay flat on his palm, its feet in the air.

         “Doves,” Makarenko said and rolled closer to me on squeaking wheels. “Doves,” he repeated, and slapped me across the face.

         He swiped me hard with the hand holding the dove. Katyusha’s cotton-clad backside flipped before my eyes, and I fell to the ground in my new overcoat.

         “Gotta stamp out their seed,” Katyusha said, straightening up above the bonnets. “Can’t stand their seed, and their stinking men…”

         She had more to say about our seed, but I was no longer listening. I lay on the ground, the crushed bird’s innards sliding from my temple. They ran down my cheek, winding, dribbling, and blinding me. The dove’s tender gut slipped down my forehead, and I shut my only unplastered eye, so that I wouldn’t have to see the world laid bare before me. This world was small and terrible. There was a pebble lying in front of me, a jagged pebble, like the face of an old woman with a large jaw; and a piece of string; and a clump of feathers, still breathing. My world was small and terrible. I shut my eyes, so that I wouldn’t have to see it, and pressed myself into the earth, which lay beneath me in soothing silence. This trodden earth had nothing in common with our lives—nothing in common with the anticipation of exams in our lives. Somewhere far away disaster galloped along this very earth on a big horse, but the sound of its hooves was growing weaker, vanishing, and calmness, that bitter calmness that sometimes comes over children during calamities, suddenly obliterated the boundary between my body and the unmoving earth. The earth smelt of damp inner depths, of the grave, of flowers. I sensed its smell and wept without fear. I walked down an unfamiliar street cluttered with white boxes, walked alone, adorned in bloody feathers, down pavements swept as clean as if it were Sunday, and wept more bitterly, fully and joyously than I would ever weep again in all my life. Whitened wires buzzed up above, a mongrel ran ahead of me, and in an alley off to the side a young peasant in a waistcoat was smashing a window frame at Khariton Ephrussi’s house. He was smashing the frame with a wooden mallet, putting his whole body into it, breathing deeply and beaming in all directions with the kindly smile of drunkenness, sweat and hardiness of spirit. The whole street resounded with the crunch, the crack, the singing of splintering wood. The fellow was smashing the frame for no other reason than to bend his back, work up a sweat and shout unusual words in an unknown, non-Russian language. He kept shouting those words and singing, his blue eyes bursting from within, until a religious procession appeared in the street, coming from the direction of the City Council. Old men with dyed beards carried a portrait of the tsar with hair neatly parted, banners depicting sepulchral saints fluttered over their heads, and enkindled old women dashed ahead. Catching sight of the procession, the fellow in the waistcoat pressed his mallet to his chest and took off running after the banners; I waited for the procession to pass and made my way back to our house. It was empty. Its white doors stood open. The grass in front of the dovecote was all trampled. There was no one in the courtyard but Kuzma. Kuzma, our yard-keeper, sat in his shed, laying out dead Shoyl.

         “Wind carries you off like a dumb chip of wood,” the old man said when he saw me. “Been gone for ages… Look what they went and did—chopped down our old man…”

         Kuzma snuffled then, turned away and pulled a perch out of the old man’s fly. They’d stuck two perches in the old man—one in his fly, the other in his mouth—and though the old man was dead, one of the perches was still alive and quivering.

         “Didn’t chop no one down but the old man, here,” Kuzma said, tossing the perches to the cat. “He cursed ’em all, through and through, them and their goddamn mothers… Swell old man… You ought to go and find coins for his eyes…”

         But back then, at the age of ten, I had no clue why the dead might need coins.

         “Kuzma,” I whispered, “save us…”

         And I walked up to the yard-keeper, wrapped my arms around his old crooked back with its lopsided shoulders, and saw old Shoyl from behind that back. Shoyl was lying in sawdust, his chest crushed, his beard jutting up, with a pair of broken-down shoes on his bare feet. His parted legs were dirty, purple, dead. Kuzma bustled around them; he bound the old man’s jaws and kept trying to find something else he could do for him. He kept bustling about as if some new object had just been delivered to his house, and only quieted down after he combed the dead man’s beard.

         “He cursed ’em all, them and their mothers,” he said, smiling, and examined the corpse lovingly. “If it was Tatars that came, he’d a-driven ’em off, but these here were Russians, and women too… Russkies… And Russkies, they hate to forgive… I know Russkies…”

         The yard-keeper poured some more sawdust around the deceased, dropped his carpenter’s apron and took me by the hand.

         “Off to father,” he muttered, squeezing my hand ever tighter. “Your father’s been lookin’ for you all day, afraid you was dead…”

         And so Kuzma led me to the tax inspector’s house, where my parents had found refuge from the pogrom.

         
            Notes

            1 Russians use a five-point academic marking system, with pluses and minuses adding further differentiation. The lowest mark, 1, is rarely assigned; 2 is a fail, 3 is satisfactory, 4 is good and 5 is excellent.

            2 Babel is referring to Pushkin’s epic poem The Bronze Horseman (1833), which opens with an ode to Peter the Great.

            3 The town of Belaya Tserkov (now Bila Tserkva, Ukraine) lies about 245 miles to the north of Odessa.

            4 The town of Volozhin (now Valozhyn, Belarus) was once an important centre of Jewish life. The Volozhin Yeshiva (Talmudical academy), called the “mother of all yeshivas”, was one of the most prestigious institutions of Jewish learning in Eastern Europe; it was founded in 1803 by Rabbi Chaim of Volozhin (Chaim ben Yitzchok, 1749–1821), a student of the Vilna Gaon (Elijah ben Shlomo Zalman, 1720–97).

            5 Babel refers to the long period of unrest in the Russian Partition of the former Polish–Lithuanian Commonwealth, which began with protests and patriotic riots in 1861 and culminated in the failed January Uprising of 1863.

            6 The town of Skvira (now Skvyra, Ukraine) lies about 250 miles to the north of Odessa. Count Franciszek Godlewski (1834–63) was a participant of the January Uprising; he was killed at the Battle of Rawa on 4 February 1863.

            7 It’s worth noting that there was no Okhotnitsky Square in Nikolayev; this market square was in fact located in Odessa. See ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, p. 43. This is only one of many—likely intentional—indications that Babel’s “autobiographical stories” are indeed fiction, not memoir.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            FIRST LOVE

         

         AT THE AGE OF TEN I fell in love with a woman named Galina Apollonovna. Her married name was Rubtsova. Her husband, an officer, had gone off to serve in the Japanese war and returned in October 1905. He came back with a multitude of trunks stuffed full of Chinese objects: folding screens, precious weapons—half a ton, all told. Kuzma said that Rubtsov had bought all those things with money he’d earned in the engineering directorate of the Russian Manchurian Army. And it wasn’t just Kuzma—others said the same thing. People couldn’t help gossiping about the Rubtsovs, because the Rubtsovs were happy. Their house adjoined our property, and their glassed-in terrace ate into our land, but father didn’t raise a fuss about it. Old man Rubtsov, the tax inspector, was known as a fair man in our town; he kept on friendly terms with the Jews. And when the old man’s son returned from the Japanese war, we all saw how happy the couple was, how well they got along. Galina Apollonovna would hold her husband’s hand the whole day through. She hadn’t seen him for a year and a half, and now she couldn’t take her eyes off him—but her gaze terrified me, and I would turn away, quivering. What I saw in those two was the wondrously shameful life of all the people on earth, and I wanted to fall into the deepest sleep, so as to forget about that life, which exceeded all my dreams. Galina Apollonovna would walk about her room wearing red shoes and a Chinese robe, her hair in a loose braid. Beneath the lace of her low-cut petticoat, I could see a hollow valley and the initial rise of her white, swollen, weighed-down breasts, while the robe was embroidered with pink silk dragons, birds and hollow trees.

         All day long Galina would wander about aimlessly with a vague smile on her wet lips, bumping into the unpacked trunks and exercise ladders strewn across the floor. She’d get bruises on her legs this way, and would lift her robe above the knee, saying to her husband:

         “Kiss my boo-boo…”

         And the officer, bending his long legs in their dragoon’s trousers, their spurs, their tight kid-leather boots, would get down on the dirty floor and, smiling, sliding his legs and crawling closer on his knees, kiss the injured spot—the spot where her garter had left a puffy imprint. I watched those kisses from my window. They caused me great torment, but there’s no sense in describing it, because the loves and jealousies of ten-year-old boys bear every resemblance to the loves and jealousies of grown men. For two weeks I wouldn’t go near my window and avoided Galina, until a certain incident brought us together. This incident was the pogrom that broke out in 1905 in Nikolayev and other towns in the Jewish Pale of Settlement. A mob of hired murderers looted my father’s shop and killed my great-uncle Shoyl. All this happened the morning I was away at the market, buying doves from the hunter Ivan Nikodimych. For five of my ten years I had dreamt of those doves with a fervent passion, and when I finally bought them, the cripple Makarenko smashed them against my temple. Then Kuzma led me to the Rubtsovs. The Rubtsovs had a cross chalked on their gate, no one would harm them, and they had let my parents hide at their house. Kuzma brought me to the glassed-in terrace. Mother was sitting there with Galina, wrapped in a green cloak.

         “We’ll need to wash up,” Galina told me. “We’ll need to wash up, little rabbi… We’ve got feathers all over our face—bloody feathers…”

         She hugged me and led me down the corridor, with its pungent smell. My head rested against Galina’s hip, which moved and breathed. We went into the kitchen and Rubtsova put my head under the tap. There was a goose roasting on the tiled stove, radiant kitchenware hanging along the walls, and, beside the kitchenware, in the cook’s corner, hung Tsar Nicholas II, adorned with paper flowers. Galina washed away the remains of the dove plastered to my cheeks.

         “You’ll be a regular groom, little darling,” she said after kissing me on the lips with her puffy mouth, then turned away.

         “You see what’s happening?” she whispered suddenly. “Your papa’s in trouble, walking the streets all day long, nothing to do—tell your papa it’s time to come home…”

         And through the window I saw the empty street, the enormous sky above it, and my red-haired father walking along the pavement. He was bareheaded, his wispy red hair fluttering in the wind; his paper shirtfront was bent to one side—buttoned, but on the wrong button. Vlasov, a worn-out labourer in a soldier’s rags, wouldn’t quit father’s side.

         “Listen, friend,” he was saying in a hoarse, heartfelt voice, touching father gently with both hands. “We don’t need no freedom, just so’s the Yids get free trade… Give a working man some light in his life, for all this God-awful—all of it… Give it, friend, you hear me? Give…”

         The labourer kept imploring father, touching him; on his face, streaks of pure drunken inspiration alternated with dejection and drowsiness.

         “We ought to be livin’ like them Molokans,” he kept mumbling and staggering on his rickety legs. “Like them Molokans is how we ought to live, but without that ole-believer God of theirs. It’s only Jews that get any use outta him, no one else…”1

         And Vlasov began to wail desperately about this ole-believer God, who pitied no one but the Jews. Vlasov howled, stumbled, and chased after his unknown God, but then a mounted Cossack patrol blocked his path. At the head of the detachment rode an officer in striped trousers and a silver parade belt, with a tall peaked cap on his head. The officer rode slowly, without looking to either side. It was as if he were riding through a ravine, where one could only look straight ahead.

         “Captain,” father whispered when the Cossack had ridden up alongside him. “Captain,” father said, clutching his head and getting down on his knees in the mud.

         “How can I be of service?” the officer replied, still looking straight ahead and raising a hand gloved in lemon suede to the peak of his cap.

         Up ahead, on the corner of Rybnaya Street, thugs were smashing our store and tossing boxes of nails and machinery out into the street, along with the new photograph portrait of me in my school uniform.

         “There,” father said, without rising from his knees. “They’re smashing everything—everything I’ve earned with my blood, sweat and tears, Captain… What for?”

         The officer muttered something, placed his lemon glove to the peak of his cap and touched the reins of his horse, but the animal didn’t move. Father was crawling in front of it on his knees, rubbing up against its short, kind, slightly shaggy legs.

         “Yes, sir,” said the Captain, tugged at the reins and rode off, the Cossacks following behind him. They sat impassively in their high saddles, riding through their imaginary ravine, and disappeared around the corner of Sobornaya Street.

         Then Galina pushed me towards the window again.

         “Tell your papa to come home,” she said. “He hasn’t had a thing to eat since this morning.”

         And so I leant out the window.

         Father turned when he heard my voice.

         “Sonny boy,” he cooed with inexpressible tenderness.

         And together we went to the Rubtsovs’ terrace, where mother was lying in bed in her green cloak. Beside her bed lay dumb-bells and an exercise machine.

         “Lousy copecks,” mother said when she saw us. “A normal human life, our children, our miserable happiness—you let them take it, all of it… Lousy copecks,” she cried in a hoarse voice that didn’t sound like her own, thrashed in the bed, then fell silent.

         The ensuing silence was broken by my hiccups. I stood against the wall, my cap pulled down low, unable to stop hiccupping.

         “How embarrassing, little darling,” Galina smiled her contemptuous smile and hit me with the stiff hem of her robe. She walked over to the window in her red shoes and began hanging Chinese curtains up on its bizarre cornice. Her bare arms sank into the silk, her living braid writhed on her hip, and I stared at her with delight.

         A learned boy, I stared at her as at a distant stage illumined by many spotlights. And suddenly I imagined I was Miron, the son of the coal merchant who did business on our street. I imagined myself in the Jewish Self-Defence League, walking around, like Miron, in torn shoes bound with string. A worthless rifle hangs on a green cord from my shoulder. I’m on my knees by an old wooden fence, firing at the murderers, trying to keep them at bay. Behind my fence lies a vacant lot, littered with piles of dusty coal. My old rifle shoots badly, and the murderers, with their beards and white teeth, are inching closer. I’m gripped by the pride of imminent death and up above me, in the azure heights, I see Galina. I see an embrasure cut into the wall of a gigantic house faced with myriad bricks. This purple house encroaches on a lane of poorly trampled grey earth, and in its uppermost embrasure stands Galina. She smiles her contemptuous smile from that unreachable window, while her husband, the half-dressed officer, stands behind her and kisses her neck…

         Trying to stop my hiccups, I imagined these things so as to love Rubstova ever more bitterly, torridly, hopelessly and, perhaps, because the measure of that day’s grief was too great for a person of ten. My foolish daydreams forced the deaths of the doves and of Shoyl from my head. And I might have managed to forget the murders altogether, had Kuzma not come to the terrace with that awful Jew Abba.

         It was dusk when they arrived. The terrace was lit by a single faint lamp, hunched over in one of the corners—a flickering lamp, a satellite of misery.

         “I laid the old man out right,” Kuzma said as he entered. “He’s lookin’ nice and proper—and I’ve brought the lay brother, here, so’s he can say a couple words over the old man…”

         And Kuzma pointed to Abba, the shammes.

         “Let ’im whine for a spell,” the yard-keeper said affably. “Stuff a lay brother’s gullet and he’ll badger God the whole night through…”

         He stood in the doorway, Kuzma, with his kind broken nose turned in every direction, wanting to tell us, as tenderly as possible, of how he had bound the dead man’s jaw—but father interrupted him:

         “I ask you, Reb Abba,” father said, “pray over the departed. I’ll pay…”

         “Ah, but I’ve got fears you won’t pay,” Abba replied in a weary voice and lowered his squeamish bearded face onto the tablecloth. “I’ve got fears that you’ll take my cut and run off to Argentina, to Buenos Aires—take my cut and open a wholesale business… A wholesale business,” Abba said, gnawed his scornful lips and reached for the newspaper Son of the Fatherland, which lay on the table. The newspaper had a story about the tsar’s Manifesto of 17 October, about freedom.2

         “…Citizens of a free Russia,” Abba read aloud, syllable by syllable, and gnawed at his mouthful of beard. “Citizens of a free Russia, we greet you on this Sunday, the day of Christ’s resurrection…”3

         The quivering newspaper stood sideways before the old shammes: he read it sleepily, in a singsong fashion, and pronounced Russian words he didn’t know in the most surprising of ways. Abba’s pronunciation was something like the unintelligible speech of a Negro who has just arrived in a Russian port from his distant homeland. Even mother couldn’t help but laugh.

         “It’s a sin,” she cried, peeking out from under her cloak. “It’s a sin that I’m laughing, Abba… Listen, tell me about yourself—how’s your family?”

         “Ask me something else,” Abba muttered, keeping the beard between his teeth, and continued reading the paper.

         “Ask him something else,” father said, seconding Abba, and walked to the middle of the room. His eyes, smiling at us through tears, suddenly turned in their sockets and fixed on some invisible point.

         “Oy, Shoyl,” father uttered in an even, false voice, preparing for something else. “Oy, Shoyl, my dear Shoyl…”

         We saw that he was about to start wailing, but mother warned us.

         “Manus,” she cried, instantly dishevelled, and began to claw at her husband’s breast. “Look what a state our boy is in, why can’t you hear the poor thing’s hiccups, why, Manus…?”

         Father fell silent.

         “Rachel,” he said timidly, “I cannot tell you how I pity Shoyl…”

         He went into the kitchen and returned with a glass of water.

         “Drink, you little actor, you,” Abba said, walking up to me. “Drink this water, which will help you as incense helps the dead…”

         And indeed, the water didn’t help. My hiccups got worse and worse. A growl kept bursting from my chest. A swelling, pleasant to the touch, expanded in my throat. The swelling breathed, inflated, blocked my gullet, and tumbled over my collar. My torn breath bubbled inside this swelling. It bubbled like boiling water. And by nightfall, when I was no longer the lop-eared boy I had been for all my days, but was a writhing tangle, then mother, wrapped in her shawl, grown taller and slimmer, walked over to the deathly stiff Rubtsova.

         “My dear Galina,” mother said in a melodious, powerful voice. “What a bother we’ve been to you and to dear Nadezhda Ivanovna, to all of you… I’m so terribly ashamed, dear Galina…”

         Her cheeks flushed, mother kept pushing Galina closer to the door, then she ran up to me and stuffed the end of her shawl in my mouth, so as to stifle my groaning.

         “Hold on, darling,” mother whispered. “Hold on for mama…”

         But even if I could have held on, I wouldn’t have done it, because I no longer felt the slightest shame…

         That was the start of my illness. I was ten years old then. The next morning I was taken to the doctor. The pogrom went on, but we were unharmed. The doctor, a very fat man, diagnosed me with a nervous disorder.

         He instructed us to go to Odessa as quickly as possible, to consult specialists, and to wait for the sunshine and the chance to bathe in the sea.

         That’s just what we did. A few days later mother and I took off for Odessa, to live with my Grandfather Levi Yitzchak and Uncle Simon. We left by boat in the morning, and by noon the brown water of the Bug had given way to the strong green waves of the sea.4 Ahead of me lay a life with mad Grandfather Levi Yitzchak, and I bid an eternal farewell to Nikolayev, where I had spent ten years of my childhood.

         
            Notes

            1 Molokans, or “milk-drinkers”, are members of a pacifist Christian sect that broke away from the Russian Orthodox Church; their name is thought to derive from their practice of drinking milk on fasting days, when Orthodox Christians are prohibited from consuming meat and dairy. The Old Believer sect split from the Russian Orthodox Church in 1666, protesting against reforms introduced by Patriarch Nikon, under the reign of Peter the Great. They insisted on maintaining the practices of the prereform church and were viciously persecuted.

            2 The October Manifesto on the Improvement of the State Order was issued on 30 October (17 October, in the “Old Style” Julian calendar) by Tsar Nicholas II, on the urging of his liberal advisor Count Sergei Witte, as a response to the Revolution of 1905. It granted Russian citizens a number of basic civil liberties, including freedom of the press, and established a parliament known as the Duma. Unfortunately, many of the freedoms granted by the manifesto were soon rolled back.

            3 The story takes place on a Sunday, which, in Russian, is called voskresen’e, from voskresenie or “resurrection”.

            4 The Southern Bug River (Buh, or Boh, in Ukrainian) flows south for 500 miles from the Volyn region in north-western Ukraine to the Black Sea.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            IN THE BASEMENT

         

         I WAS A DECEITFUL BOY. I blame it on all the reading I did. My imagination was constantly inflamed. I read during class, at break, on the way home from school and, at night, under the table, hiding behind the tablecloth that hung down to the floor. I buried my nose in my books and missed out on all the world’s pleasures—skipping classes and running off to the port, playing billiards in the cafés along Grecheskaya Street, swimming at Langeron.1 I had no friends. Who would have wanted to pal around with a fellow like me?

         One time I saw the top student in our class, Mark Borgman, holding a book about Spinoza. He had just read it and couldn’t wait to lecture the boys around him about the Spanish Inquisition. He gave them nothing but scholarly mumbling. There wasn’t a hint of poetry in Borgman’s words. I had to intervene. I regaled anyone who’d listen with my tales of old Amsterdam, of the old murky ghetto, of the philosopher-diamond-cutters. I enriched what I’d read in books with a great deal of my own material. That was my way. My imagination intensified the dramatic scenes, altered the endings and upended the beginnings. In my mind’s eye, the demise of Spinoza—his lonely demise in absolute liberty—played out as a battle. The Sanhedrin tried to force the dying man to confess, but he wouldn’t break. Somehow, Rubens got into the picture. I saw the artist standing at the head of Spinoza’s bed, removing the death mask from his face.

         My classmates listened to my fantastic tale with mouths agape. I told it with fervour. When the bell rang, we dispersed reluctantly. During the following break, Borgman came up to me, took me by the hand, and we set off for a little walk. It took some time, but we found a common language. Borgman wasn’t the worst sort of top student. To his powerful brain, the wisdom doled out in secondary school was merely the scribbling on the real book’s margins. He coveted that book mightily. Even as silly twelve-year-olds, we all knew he was destined for an extraordinary, learned life. He never prepared for lessons, just sat there and listened. This sober, reserved boy was drawn to me on account of my peculiar tendency to mix everything up, even the simplest things you could think of.

         That year we entered the third form. My report card was littered with barely passing three-minuses. I was such a strange boy, with all my ravings, that my teachers couldn’t quite bring themselves to fail me. When summer came, Borgman invited me to his family’s dacha. His father was manager of the Russian Foreign Trade Bank, one of the men working to turn Odessa into Marseilles or Naples. He had the heart of an old Odessa merchant and belonged to the ranks of suave and cynical good-timers. Borgman’s father avoided speaking Russian; he preferred to communicate in the gruff, choppy language of Liverpudlian sea captains. When the Italian opera came to town in April, Borgman threw a supper for the troupe at his spacious apartment. The pudgy banker—the last of the Odessa merchants—struck up a two-month affair with the busty prima donna. She left town with memories that didn’t trouble her conscience, and a necklace that had been chosen with taste and hadn’t cost a fortune.

         The old man occupied the post of Argentine Consul and was chairman of the Exchange Committee. And I had been invited to his house. My aunt—Bobka was her name—made sure the whole courtyard knew about it. She dressed up me as best she could. I took the train to the Sixteenth Station at Bolshoy Fontan.2 The Borgman dacha stood on a low red cliff, right above the shore. The cliff was adorned with a garden of fuchsias and thuja bushes clipped into spheres.

         I came from an impoverished and senseless family. The Borgman dacha simply stunned me. Wicker chairs, gleaming white, lined paths overhung with foliage. The dining table was covered with flowers, and the windows were outlined with green frames. A low wooden colonnade sprawled in front of the house.

         The bank manager arrived in the evening. After supper, he placed a wicker chair right on the edge of the cliff overlooking the ever-changing plain of the sea, stretched out his white-trousered legs, lit a cigar and dived into the Manchester Guardian. His guests—Odessan ladies—played poker on the veranda. A narrow samovar with ivory handles sputtered and sang in the corner of the table.

         The ladies—gambling gourmandes, slovenly slaves of fashion and covert libertines with scented underclothes and broad haunches—flapped their black fans and staked their gold coins. The sun reached them through a hedge of wild grapes. Its fiery disc was immense. Their black hair was weighed down with glimmers of copper. Sparks of sunset shot through their diamonds—diamonds that hung everywhere: in the crevices between their parted breasts, from their rouged earlobes and on their plump, bluish she-fingers.

         Evening descended. A bat rustled through the air. The sea beat blacker against the red cliff. My twelve-year-old heart swelled with the joy and ease of someone else’s wealth. My friend and I strolled down a long path, holding hands. Borgman told me he planned to become an aeronautical engineer. Rumour had it his father would be appointed the Russian Foreign Trade Bank’s representative in London—which meant that Mark would be able to study in England.

         Back at our place, at Aunt Bobka’s house, no one talked of such things. I had nothing with which to repay all this uninterrupted splendour. And so, at that point, I told Mark that although our place was nothing like his, my grandfather Levi Yitzchak and my uncle had travelled all around the world and taken part in thousands of adventures. I recounted these adventures one by one. My sense of the impossible abandoned me altogether, and I led Uncle Wolf through the Russo-Turkish War to Alexandria, to Egypt…

         Night straightened its back among the poplars, and the stars lay themselves down on buckling branches. I waved my arms as I spoke. The future aeronautical engineer’s fingers trembled in my hand. Emerging from the hallucination with difficulty, he promised to come and visit me the following Sunday. Armed with this promise, I took the train home to Bobka.

         All week after my visit I imagined I was the bank manager. I negotiated million-rouble transactions with Singapore and Port Said. I bought a yacht and sailed solo across the globe. But on Saturday it was time to wake up. Little Borgman was coming to visit the very next day. Nothing of what I had told him was real—none of it existed. What did exist was far more astounding than what I had invented, but, at twelve years of age, I hadn’t yet figured out how to make peace with the truth of this world. Grandfather Levi Yitzchak, a rabbi who’d been run out of his shtetl for forging Count Branicki’s signature on promissory notes, was regarded as a madman by our neighbours and the boys in the street.3 I couldn’t stand Uncle Simon Wolf for his noisy eccentricity, full of senseless fire, hollering and vexation. Aunt Bobka alone was worth talking to. Bobka was proud that the bank manager’s son considered me a friend. She felt this relationship was the start of a great career, and so she made our guest a strudel with jam and a poppy seed pie. The whole heart of our tribe—a heart that had borne up heroically throughout our long struggle—was baked into those pastries. We hustled grandfather, with his tattered top hat and swollen, rag-bound feet, over to our neighbours the Apelkhots, and I begged him to stay away until our guest had left. We handled Simon Wolf, too. He went off to drink tea at The Bear with his horse-jobber friends. At that particular establishment, tea was chased with vodka, so we could expect Simon Wolf to linger awhile. Here it must be said that my people weren’t exactly your typical Jewish family. Our clan had its share of drunks, we seduced generals’ daughters and abandoned them at the border, and our grandfather forged signatures and composed blackmailing letters for deserted wives.

         I put all my effort into keeping Simon Wolf at bay until nightfall. I gave him the three roubles I’d managed to squirrel away. Spending three roubles would take some time, Simon Wolf would be late getting back, and the bank manager’s son would never find out that the tale of my uncle’s goodness and strength was a fantasy. Honestly, if you turned the matter over in your heart, what I’d told him was no lie, but when first faced with the dirty and hollering Simon Wolf, its obscure truth was awfully hard to discern.

         On Sunday morning Bobka arrayed herself in a brown broadcloth dress. Her kind, fat breasts were pressed flat, spreading in all directions. She put on a headscarf with a black floral print—a headscarf women wear to the synagogue on Yom Kippur and Rosh Hashanah. Bobka laid her pies, jams and pretzels out on the table and waited. We lived in the basement. Borgman raised his eyebrows as he walked across our corridor’s bumpy floor. There was a tub of water by the door. No sooner was Borgman inside than I began to beguile him with all sorts of curiosities. I showed him the alarm clock my grandfather had built with his own hands, down to the last screw. The mechanism was attached to a lamp; when the clock struck a half or full hour, the lamp would light up. I also showed him a vat of shoe polish. It had been made from a special recipe of Levi Yitzchak’s own invention; he refused to divulge its secret to anyone. Then Borgman and I read a few pages of grandfather’s manuscript. He wrote in Yiddish on square sheets of yellow paper as enormous as maps. The manuscript was called A Man with No Head. It described all of Levi Yitzchak’s neighbours over the seventy years of his life—first in Skvira and Belaya Tserkov, then in Odessa. Undertakers, cantors, Jewish drunkards, the cooks at brises and the crooks who performed the ritual operations—these were the heroes of Levi Yitzchak’s tale. And all of them were absurd, inarticulate people, with lumpy noses, pimples on their scalps, and lopsided rumps.

         As we were reading, Bobka appeared in her brown dress. She floated in with a samovar on a tray, her kind, fat breasts plastered to her body. I made the introductions. Bobka said, “A pleasure,” held out her stiff, sweaty fingers and shuffled her feet. Things just couldn’t have gone any better. The Apelkhots wouldn’t let grandfather leave. I kept pulling out his treasures, one after the other: grammars of every language under the sun and the sixty-six volumes of the Talmud. Mark was dazzled by the vat of shoe polish, the bizarre alarm clock and the mountainous Talmud—objects one would never see in any other house.

         We each drank two glasses of tea with our strudel, then Bobka, nodding her head, backed out of the room and disappeared. I was joyous, in a state of elation, so I struck a pose and began to declaim verses that I loved more than anything else in this world. Bending over Caesar’s corpse, Antony addresses the people of Rome:

         
            
               Friends, Romans, countrymen, lend me your ears;

               I come to bury Caesar, not to praise him.

            

         

         These are the words with which Antony begins his performance. I drew in my breath and pressed my hands to my chest.

         
            
               He was my friend, faithful and just to me:

               But Brutus says he was ambitious;

               And Brutus is an honourable man.

               He hath brought many captives home to Rome

               Whose ransoms did the general coffers fill:

               Did this in Caesar seem ambitious?

               When that the poor have cried, Caesar hath wept:

               Ambition should be made of sterner stuff:

               Yet Brutus says he was ambitious;

               And Brutus is an honourable man.

               You all did see that on the Lupercal

               I thrice presented him a kingly crown,

               Which he did thrice refuse: was this ambition?

               Yet Brutus says he was ambitious;

               And, sure, he is an honourable man…

            

         

         Before my eyes, in the haze of the universe, loomed Brutus’s face. It turned whiter than chalk. Grumbling, the people of Rome advanced towards me. I raised my hand—Borgman’s eyes trailed it obediently—my fist shaking, I raised my hand… and spotted Uncle Simon Wolf through the window, schlepping across the yard with Leykakh the broker. They were lugging a coat rack made from deer antlers and a red chest with brackets shaped like lions’ maws. Bobka spotted them too. Forgetting about the guest, she flew into the room and seized me with her trembling little hands.

         “Bubbeleh, he’s gone and bought furniture again…”

         Borgman, utterly bewildered, stood up in his school uniform and bowed to Bobka. There was pounding at the door. The corridor resounded with the stamping of boots and the chest’s clangourous progress. The voices of Simon Wolf and red-headed Leykakh thundered deafeningly. They were both in high spirits, and then some.

         “Bobka,” cried Simon Wolf, “just try and guess what a deal I got on these antlers!”

         His voice was as loud as a trumpet, but it held a note of uncertainty. Drunk though he was, Simon Wolf knew how much we hated red-headed Leykakh, who kept egging him on to buy things, flooding our place with useless, absurd furniture.

         Bobka was silent. Leykakh squealed something to Simon Wolf. To drown out his serpentine hiss, to drown out my own anxiety, I shouted in Antony’s words:

         
            
               But yesterday the word of Caesar might

               Have stood against the world; now lies he there.

               And none so poor to do him reverence.

               O masters, if I were disposed to stir

               Your hearts and minds to mutiny and rage,

               I should do Brutus wrong, and Cassius wrong,

               Who, you all know, are honourable men…

            

         

         At this point we heard a thud. Bobka had fallen, knocked down by her husband’s blow. She must have made some bitter comment about the antlers. The daily spectacle had commenced. Simon Wolf’s brassy voice plugged all the cracks in the universe.

         “You’re pulling the glue out of me!” my uncle shouted in his thunderous voice. “You’re pulling the glue out of me so you can stuff your wolfish mouths… I’ve lost my soul to work. I’ve got nothing left to work with—got no hands, got no legs… You’ve hung a stone around my neck—a stone around my neck!”

         Damning Bobka and me with Yiddish curses, he wished that our eyes should pop out of our heads, that our children should rot in their mothers’ wombs, that we should have so many deaths we wouldn’t manage to bury each other quickly enough, and that we should be dragged by our hair to a mass grave.

         Little Borgman rose to his feet. He kept gazing about, wide-eyed and pale. He was unschooled in the locutions of Yiddish blasphemy, but he did know Russian vulgarities when he heard them. And Simon Wolf didn’t shy away from those, either. The bank manager’s son stood there, kneading his school cap in his hands. He doubled before my eyes, and I struggled to shout down all the evil in this world. My deadly despair and Caesar’s death bled into one. I was dead, and I cried out. A rattle rose from the depths of my being.

         
            
               If you have tears, prepare to shed them now.

               You all do know this mantle: I remember

               The first time ever Caesar put it on;

               ’Twas on a summer’s evening, in his tent,

               That day he overcame the Nervii:

               Look, in this place ran Cassius’ dagger through:

               See what a rent the envious Casca made:

               Through this the well-beloved Brutus stabb’d;

               And as he pluck’d his cursed steel away,

               Mark how the blood of Caesar follow’d it…

            

         

         Simon Wolf could not be drowned out. Bobka sat on the floor, sobbing and blowing her nose. The imperturbable Leykakh kept moving the chest behind the partition. And then my lunatic of a grandfather decided to come to my rescue. He escaped from the Apelkhots, crept up to our window, and started sawing at his fiddle, evidently to keep passers-by from overhearing Simon Wolf’s blue streak. Borgman glanced out of the ground-level window and drew back in horror. My poor grandfather had wrenched his blue petrified lips into a grimace. He wore a dented top hat, a black quilted robe with bone buttons, and ragged boots on his elephantine legs. His tobacco-stained beard hung in wisps that fluttered through the window. Mark took off running.

         “It’s nothing,” he mumbled, making a break for freedom. “Nothing, don’t worry…”

         His uniform and cap, its edges turned up, flashed through the yard.

         With Mark’s departure, my agitation subsided. I waited for evening to come. After grandfather lay down in his cot and drifted off, having covered another square yellow sheet with his Hebrew curlicues (this time about the Apelkhots, at whose place he had spent the entire day, thanks to me), I sneaked out into the corridor. The floor was earthen. I moved through the dark, barefoot, in my long, patched nightshirt. Cobblestones flickered like spikes of light through the cracks between the wallboards. In the corner, as always, stood the tub of water. I lowered myself into it. The water cut me in half. I ducked my head under, gasped and came up. Our cat watched me sleepily from high up on a shelf. I held out longer the second time; the water sloshed around me, absorbing my groan. I opened my eyes and saw the sail of my shirt floating at the bottom, and my legs pressed close together. Then my strength gave out again and I came up. Grandfather was standing by the tub in his bed jacket. His single tooth jingled in his mouth.

         “Hear me, grandson,” he spoke these words distinctly and contemptuously, “I am going to drink castor oil, so that I have something to lay on your grave…”

         I screamed, completely beside myself, and dived under the water with all my might. I was fished out by grand-father’s feeble hand. And then I began to weep, for the first time that day—and the world of tears was so immense and glorious that everything but my tears vanished from before my eyes.

         I came to in bed, wrapped in blankets. Grandfather was pacing the room and whistling. Fat Bobka was warming my hands on her breasts.

         “Just look how he shivers, the little fool,” said Bobka. “Where does a child find the strength to shiver like that?”

         Grandfather tugged at his beard, whistled and resumed pacing the room. Behind the wall Simon Wolf lay snoring with tortured exhalations. Having fought his fill in the daytime, he always slept soundly through the night.

         
            Notes

            1 Langeron is a popular Odessan beach, named after Alexandre-Louis Andrault de Langeron (1763–1831), who served as mayor of Odessa from 1816 to 1820.

            2 Bolshoy Fontan (“Big Fountain”) is one of the largest and most popular coastal resort districts in Odessa.

            3 Count Branicki may be any one of the prominent members of the noble Polish House of Branicki.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            THE AWAKENING

         

         ALL THE PEOPLE in our circle—brokers, shopkeepers, clerks in banks and steamship offices—signed their children up for music lessons. Our fathers saw no prospects for themselves and came up with a lottery. They set it up on the bones of us little people. Odessa was seized by this madness like no other city. And it’s true—our town supplied the world’s concert stages with prodigies for two decades straight. Odessa produced Mischa Elman, Zimbalist, Gabrilowitsch—Jascha Heifetz got his start with us.1

         When a boy turned four or five, his mother would drag the tiny frail creature to Mr Zagursky.2 Zagursky ran a prodigy factory, a factory of Jewish dwarves in lace collars and patent leather shoes. He sought them out in the slums of Moldavanka, in the fetid courtyards of the Old Market. Zagursky showed them the ropes, and then the children were sent off to Professor Auer in St Petersburg.3 A mighty harmony dwelled in the souls of these starvelings with swollen blue heads. They became renowned virtuosi. And so—my father decided to catch up with them. I had outgrown the prodigy age bracket—I was going on fourteen—but judging by my height and frailty, I could pass for eight. That was our only hope.

         I was brought to Zagursky. Out of respect for my grand-father, he agreed to take me at a rouble per lesson—a cheap fee. My grandfather Levi Yitzchak was the laughing stock of the town, and also its adornment. He tramped through the streets in his top hat and tattered boots, shedding light on the darkest of matters. People would ask him what a Gobelin was, why the Jacobins had betrayed Robespierre, how rayon was manufactured, what made a section caesarean. Grandfather had all the answers. Out of respect for his scholarship and madness, Zagursky charged us a rouble per lesson. In fact, it was only his fear of grandfather that made him bother with me in the first place, because I really wasn’t worth bothering with. Sounds flaked from my violin like iron filings. These sounds lacerated even my own heart, but father wouldn’t give up. All the talk in our house was of Mischa Elman, exempted from military service by the tsar himself. Zimbalist, according to father, had been presented to the king of England and had performed at Buckingham Palace; Gabrilowitsch’s parents had bought two houses in St Petersburg. The prodigies had brought their parents wealth. Father would have reconciled himself to poverty, but he couldn’t do without glory.

         “How could he not?” people who dined at father’s expense whispered in his ear. “How could the grandson of such a grandfather not?…”

         But I had other things on my mind. When it was time to practice, I’d place books by Turgenev and Dumas on the music stand and devour page after page while scraping away at the instrument. In the afternoons I’d regale the neighbourhood boys with my tall tales, and at night I’d commit them to paper. Writing was a hereditary occupation in our family. Levi Yitzchak, who went mad in his old age, had spent his whole life composing a tale titled A Man with No Head. I took after him.

         Three times a week, laden with violin case and sheet music, I’d plod my way to Witte Street, formerly Dvoryanskaya. There, at Zagursky’s, queues of hysterical Jewesses sat along the walls, waiting their turn. They pressed violins to their weak knees—violins considerably larger than those who were meant to play them at Buckingham Palace.

         The door to the sanctum would open. Large-headed, freckled children, with necks as slender as flower stems and an epileptic flush on their cheeks, would stagger out of Zagursky’s study. Then the door would slam shut, having swallowed the next dwarf. Behind the wall, the bow-tied teacher, with his ginger curls and dainty legs, conducted and sang his heart out. The administrator of a monstrous lottery, he had populated Moldavanka and the grimy blind alleys of the Old Market with the spectres of pizzicato and cantilena. This melody was then polished to a devilish brilliance by old Professor Auer.

         I didn’t belong in this sect. I was a dwarf, just as they were, but the voice of my ancestors suggested a different path.

         My first step proved difficult. One day I left the house, toting my case, violin, sheet music and twelve roubles—the fee for a month’s worth of lessons. I was walking along Nezhinskaya Street, and was supposed to turn down Dvoryanskaya to get to Zagursky’s, but instead I went up Tiraspolskaya and found myself at the port. The three hours allotted to me flew by at the Practical Harbour. This was the start of my liberation. I would never grace Zagursky’s waiting room again. My mind was now occupied with far more important matters. My classmate Nemanov and I got into the habit of climbing aboard the steamer Kensington, to visit an old sailor named Mr Trottyburn.4 Nemanov was a year younger and had been engaged in the most sophisticated trade imaginable since the age of eight. He was a genius in commercial matters and made good on every promise. Today he’s a millionaire in New York, the director of General Motors, a company no less powerful than Ford. Nemanov let me tag along because I obeyed him and kept my mouth shut. Mr Trottyburn sold him smuggled tobacco pipes. The old sailor’s brother carved the pipes back in Lincoln.

         “Gentlemen,” Mr Trottyburn would say, “mark my words—you’ve got to make your children with your own hands… Smoking a factory-made pipe—why, that’s no better than sticking an enema in your mouth… Ever heard of Benvenuto Cellini? Now, he was a master. My brother in Lincoln could tell you a thing or two about him. My brother, he doesn’t bother a soul—live and let live. He simply believes that you’ve got to make your children with your own hands, that’s all… And we can’t help but agree, gentlemen…”

         Nemanov resold Trottyburn’s pipes to bank directors, foreign consuls, rich Greeks. He netted a hundred-per-cent profit.

         The Lincoln master’s pipes breathed poetry. Each one was imbued with thought, with a drop of eternity. A yellow eye glowed in each mouthpiece, and the cases were lined with satin. I tried to imagine the life Matthew Trottyburn, the last master pipe-carver, led in old England, resisting the march of progress.

         “We cannot help but agree, gentlemen, that you’ve got to make your children with your own hands…”

         Heavy waves and embankments drove me farther and farther away from our house, which reeked of onions and Jewish fate. I soon left the Practical Harbour, migrating over the breakwater. That’s where the boys of Primorskaya Street had set themselves up on a sandbar. They ran around without trousers from morning till night, dived under flat-bottomed fishing barges, stole coconuts for lunch and waited for the boats from Kherson and Kamenka to bring watermelons, which they’d split open against the moorings.

         Now I dreamt of learning to swim. I was ashamed to admit to these bronzed boys that I was born in Odessa but hadn’t even laid eyes on the sea until I was ten, and still couldn’t swim at fourteen.

         How late I was to learn the essentials of life! As a child, my eyes glued to the Gemara, I led the life of a sage—and when I grew up, I began to climb trees.5

         But try as I might, swimming was simply beyond me. My ancestral fear of water—passed down from Spanish rabbis and Frankfurt money-changers—kept dragging me to the bottom. The water wouldn’t keep me afloat. Lashed by the waves, glutted with salt water, I’d stagger back to the shore—to my violin and sheet music. I was bound to the instruments of my crime and dragged them around with me. The rabbis’ battle with the sea persisted until the local water god—Yefim Nikitich Smolich, a proofreader at the Odessa News—took pity on me. This man’s athletic chest harboured great compassion for Jewish boys. He lorded over hordes of rickety starvelings. Nikitich would gather them up in the bedbug-infested slums of Moldavanka, lead them down to the sea, bury them in the sand, make them exercise, dive with them, teach them songs and, baking in the sun’s unbroken rays, tell them stories of fishermen and animals. To adults, Nikitich explained that he was an adherent of natural philosophy. Nikitich’s stories made the Jewish children howl with laughter; they’d squeal and fawn like puppies. The sun sprinkled them with creeping freckles, freckles the colour of lizards.

         The old man observed my single combat with the waves in silence, from the sidelines. Seeing that there was no hope of my learning to swim on my own, he let me join the lodgers of his heart. That cheerful heart of his was always there, with us—never flighty, never greedy, never troubled… With his shoulders of copper, his aged gladiator’s head and his bronzed, slightly crooked legs, he lay among us beyond the breakwater, the sovereign of these watermelon and kerosene waters. I came to love this man as only a boy who suffers from hysteria and headaches could come to love an athlete. I wouldn’t leave his side and did everything I could to please him.

         He told me:

         “Quit fussing… Strengthen your nerves. Swimming will come by itself… What do you mean, the water won’t keep you afloat? Why wouldn’t it keep you afloat?”

         Seeing how desperate I was, Nikitich made an exception for me among all his students: he invited me over to his place—a clean spacious garret covered in bast mats—and showed me his dogs, his hedgehog, his tortoise and his doves. In exchange for these riches I brought him a tragedy I had composed the previous evening.

         “I had you figured for a scribbler,” Nikitich said. “You’ve got that look. It’s like you don’t see anything else…”

         He read my writings, shrugged his shoulders, ran his hand through his stiff grey curls, and paced up and down the garret.

         “It seems,” he said slowly, pausing after each word, “that you’ve got a divine spark in you…”

         We went out into the street. The old man stopped, banged his stick hard against the pavement and stared at me.

         “But you’re missing something… Youth isn’t the problem—it’ll pass with the years… You’ve got no feel for nature.”

         He raised his stick and pointed at a tree with a reddish trunk and a low crown.

         “What sort of tree is that?”

         I didn’t know.

         “What grows on that bush?”

         I didn’t know that either. We were walking through the little park on Alexandrovsky Avenue. The old man poked every tree with his stick. Whenever a bird flew by, he’d grab me by the shoulder and force me to listen to its unique song.

         “What kind of bird is that?”

         I couldn’t answer a single question. The names of the trees and the birds, their genera, where the birds were flying off to, where the sun rose, when the dew was heaviest—I didn’t know any of it.

         “And you dare to write? A person who doesn’t live in nature—as a stone or an animal lives in nature—will never manage to write two worthwhile lines in all his life… You describe landscapes as if they were stage sets. Damn it—what have your parents been thinking about these past fourteen years?”

         What were they thinking about? Contested promissory notes and Mischa Elman’s mansions… I didn’t tell Nikitich that—I kept quiet.

         At home, at dinner time, I didn’t even touch my food. It wouldn’t go down.

         “A feel for nature,” I thought. “My God, why hadn’t that occurred to me? Where could I find someone to help me identify bird songs, to teach me the names of the trees? What do I know about trees? I can recognize lilacs, but only when they’re in bloom. Lilacs and acacias. Deribasovskaya and Grecheskaya Streets are lined with acacia trees…”

         Over dinner father was telling us a new story about Jascha Heifetz. He was on his way to Café Robina when he bumped into Mendelssohn, Jascha’s uncle. Turns out that the boy was now getting eight hundred roubles a performance. I mean, with fifteen concerts a month, you can work it out for yourself.

         I worked it out—twelve thousand a month. While multiplying the figures and carrying the four in my head, I looked out of the window. And there I saw my music teacher, Mr Zagursky, stalking through the concrete courtyard. He leant on his cane, his caped cloak billowed gently, and his red ringlets peeked out from under his soft hat. One couldn’t say he was terribly quick to notice my absence. It had been over three months since my violin first touched the sand near the breakwater…

         Zagursky approached the front door. I took off for the back door; it had been boarded up the previous evening, to keep out thieves. So I locked myself in the bathroom. A half-hour later the whole family had gathered at the bathroom door. The women were weeping. Aunt Bobka, racked by sobs, rubbed her fat shoulder against the door. Father was silent. When he finally spoke, he did so more quietly and distinctly than ever before in his life.

         “I am an officer,” father said. “I have an estate. I go hunting. Peasants pay me rent. I sent my son off to the Cadet Corps. I’ve got no cause to worry about my son…”

         He fell silent. The women were sniffling. Then a terrible blow struck the bathroom door. Father was throwing his whole body at it, hurling himself with a running start.

         “I am an officer,” he wailed. “I go hunting… I’ll kill him… This is it…”

         The door hook leapt out of its eye, but the bolt still held—by a single nail. The women were rolling on the floor, grabbing at father’s legs; mad with rage, he tried to tear himself loose. The uproar summoned my grand-mother—father’s mother.

         “My child,” she said to him in Yiddish, “our grief is great. It has no bounds. All we need now is blood in the house. I don’t want to see any blood in our house…”

         Father moaned. I heard his footsteps receding. The door bolt hung on its last nail.

         I stayed in my fortress till nightfall. When everyone else was in bed, Aunt Bobka led me off to my grandmother’s place. The road ahead of us was long. Moonlight lay frozen on unknown bushes, on trees without names… An invisible bird piped up, then faded away, perhaps falling asleep… What sort of bird was it? What was it called? Is there dew in the evenings? What stars in the sky make up Ursa Major? Where does the sun rise?

         We were walking along Pochtovaya Street. Bobka held my hand tightly, fearing I might run away. She was right. I was contemplating escape.

         
            Notes

            1 Mischa Elman (1891–1967), Efrem Zimbalist, sen. (1889–1985) and Jascha Heifetz (1901–87) were all prominent Russian Jewish violinists who studied under Leopold Auer (see note 3) at the St Petersburg Conservatory and emigrated to the United States in the 1910s and 1920s. Ossip Gabrilowitsch (1878–1936) was a Russian Jewish pianist and conductor, who also studied at the St Petersburg Conservatory and emigrated to the United States in 1914; in 1909 he married Clara Clemens (1874–1962), a concert singer and daughter of Mark Twain. Of these, only Elman had actually studied at the Odessa Imperial Russian Musical Society, under Alexander Fiedemann (né Ruvim Fidelman, 1878–1940).

            2 The figure of Zagursky is based on the Odessan music teacher Pyotr Stolyarsky (1871–1944).

            3 Leopold Auer (1845–1930) was a Hungarian Jewish violinist who made his career in Russia; he was one of the most important violin teachers of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, training countless prodigies and concert violinists at the St Petersburg Conservatory over the course of his forty-nine-year tenure. In 1918 he emigrated to the United States.

            4 See ‘Lyubka the Cossack’, p. 48.

            5 The Gemara is one of the two components of the Talmud, providing commentary on the other component, the Mishnah, the first written redaction of the Jewish oral tradition; the Mishnah was first compiled by Rabbi Yehudah HaNasi in c.200 ce, in Roman-occupied Judea, while the Gemara was compiled in c.500 CE, in Babylonian captivity.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            DI GRASSO

         

         I WAS FOURTEEN YEARS OLD. I belonged to the intrepid corps of theatre ticket scalpers. My boss was a crook with one eye fixed in a permanent squint and enormous silken whiskers. His name was Kolya Schwartz. I joined his crew in that unfortunate year when Odessa’s Italian Opera went under. Heeding reviewers in the local paper, the impresario decided against contracting Anselmi and Titta Ruffo for guest performances, limiting himself instead to a good company.1 He was punished for this, went under and took us down with him. By way of recompense, we were promised Chaliapin, but Chaliapin wanted three thousand a performance.2 Instead, we got the Sicilian tragedian Di Grasso, along with his troupe.3 They were taken to their hotel in carts laden with children, cats and cages full of frolicking Italian birds. Having taken a good look at this gypsy caravan, Kolya Schwartz proclaimed:

         “Children, this ain’t no merchandise…”

         The first thing the tragedian did after arriving was head down to the market, carrying a bag. In the evening he showed up at the theatre, carrying a different bag. There were barely fifty people in the audience on the opening night. We let the tickets go at half-price, but there were still no takers.

         That night they put on a Sicilian folk drama, a story as familiar as night and day. A rich peasant’s daughter had gotten engaged to a shepherd. She was faithful to him, until one day a young squire arrived from the city in a velvet waistcoat. When talking to the visitor, the girl giggled at the wrong moments and fell silent at the wrong moments. The shepherd listened in, turning his head from side to side like a perturbed bird. For the entire first act, he clung to the walls, disappeared somewhere in his fluttering trousers and then reappeared, glancing this way and that.

         “Stone-cold flop,” Kolya Schwartz said during the intermission. “This merchandise is for Kremenchug…”4

         The intermission gave the girl time to ripen for betrayal. We couldn’t recognize her in the second act; she was impatient, distracted, and hurriedly returned the shepherd’s engagement ring. He led her to a humble, beggarly, gaudily painted statue of the Virgin and, in his Sicilian dialect, told her:

         “Signora,” he said in his low voice and turned away. “The Holy Virgin wants you to hear my words… The Holy Virgin will give Giovanni, who has come from the city, as many women as he wants; but I, Signora, need you alone… If you ask the Virgin Mary, our Immaculate Patroness, she will tell you the same thing, Signora…”

         The girl stood with her back to the painted wooden statue, stamping her foot impatiently as she listened to the shepherd. There is no woman on this earth—O woe unto us!—who remains in her right mind at those moments when her fate is being decided… At those moments, she is alone, alone without the Virgin Mary, and asks Her nothing…

         In the third act Giovanni, who had come from the city, met his fate. He was having a shave at the village barber’s, his strong masculine legs spread out on the proscenium; the folds of his waistcoat shone in the Sicilian sun. The stage was set up like a village fair. The shepherd stood in the far corner. He stood in silence among the careless crowd. His head was lowered, then he raised it, and, under the weight of his burning, steady haze, Giovanni began to fidget in his chair; he pushed the barber away and leapt to his feet. His voice breaking, he demanded that the policeman remove any gloomy suspicious people from the square. The shepherd—he was played by Di Grasso—stood still for a moment, lost in thought, then he smiled, took off in the air and flew across the stage of the Odessa Theatre, descending onto Giovanni’s shoulders, biting his throat and, snarling and glancing sideways, sucking the blood from the wound. Giovanni collapsed, and the curtain—closing in ominous silence—hid the victim and assassin from our eyes. We didn’t wait another second and rushed right down to the box office on Theatre Alley, which was to open the following day. Kolya Schwartz was leading the pack. At dawn the Odessa News informed the lucky few who had come to the theatre the previous evening that they had witnessed the most remarkable actor of the century.

         During his stay in our town, Di Grasso performed in King Lear, Othello, Civil Death and Turgenev’s The Hanger-On, asserting with his every word, his every movement, that there was more justice and hope in the frenzy of noble passion than in the world’s joyless rules.5

         Tickets to these performances went at five times their legitimate price. Hunting down scalpers, customers found them in taverns—bawling, red-faced, spewing harmless blasphemies.

         A stream of dusty pink sultriness swept across Theatre Alley. Shopkeepers in felt slippers carried green bottles of wine and barrels of olives out into the street. Macaroni boiled in vats of foamy water in front of the shops, sending up steam that melted high in the heavens. Old women in men’s boots hawked seashells and souvenirs, chasing down hesitant customers with load cries. Rich Jews with neatly combed and parted beards rode up to the Northern Hotel and rapped gently on the doors of fat, raven-haired women with little moustaches—the actresses of Di Grasso’s troupe. Everyone in Theatre Alley was happy, except for one person, and that person was me. For me, the end was drawing near. At any moment my father could notice he was missing his watch, which I had taken without permission and pawned with Kolya Schwartz. Having gotten used to the gold watch—and being a man who drank Bessarabian wine rather than tea in the morning—Kolya, whom I had paid back in full, just couldn’t bring himself to return the item. Such was his character. It differed in no way from that of my father. Squeezed between these two men, I watched the hoops of other people’s happiness roll past me. I had no choice but to flee to Constantinople. I had already made all the arrangements with the second engineer on the steamer The Duke of Kent, but, before going out to sea, I decided to bid a final farewell to Di Grasso. He was to give one last performance as the shepherd lifted off the ground by an inexplicable force. The Italian colony had shown up in full force, led by the bald, slender consul, along with dubious Greeks, bearded external students who stared fanatically at some invisible point, and gangly-armed Utochkin.6 Even Kolya Schwartz brought his wife in her fringed purple shawl—a woman fit for the grenadiers and as long as a steppe with a creased, sleepy face at its edge. When the curtain fell, that face was wet with tears.

         “Lousy tramp,” she said to Kolya when exiting the theatre. “Now you know what love looks like…”

         Madame Schwartz lumbered down Langeron Street; tears gushed from her fish-like eyes, and the fringed shawl quivered on her thick shoulders. Shuffling her manly feet, shaking her head, she listed off—at the top of her voice, for the whole street to hear—the names of women who were happy with their husbands.

         “Sweet little Celia, they call their wives—baby doll, honey pie…”

         Kolya walked beside his wife without making a peep, gently blowing at his silken whiskers. I was walking behind them, out of habit, and sobbing. Falling quiet for an instant, Madame Schwartz heard me crying and turned around.

         “Lousy tramp,” she said to her husband, her fish-like eyes bulging. “May I not live to see a happy hour if you don’t give this boy his watch back…”

         Kolya froze and his jaw dropped, then he came to his senses, and, giving me a painful pinch, thrust the watch into my hands.

         “What has he given me?” Madame Schwartz’s harsh voice lamented inconsolably, receding into the distance. “A rough tumble today, a rough tumble tomorrow… I’m asking, you lousy tramp—how long can a woman wait?”

         They reached the corner and turned onto Pushkin Street. I stood there all alone, clutching my watch, and suddenly, with a clarity I had never experienced until that point, I saw the towering columns of the City Council, the well-lit foliage along the boulevard, and Pushkin’s bronze head, faintly reflecting the glow of the moon. For the first time I saw my surroundings as they actually were—hushed and unspeakably beautiful.

         
            Notes

            1 Giuseppe Anselmi (1876–1929), a tenor, and Titta Ruffo (1877–1953), a baritone, were famed Italian opera stars.

            2 Feodor Chaliapin (1873–1938), a bass, was Russia’s greatest opera performer.

            3 Di Grasso is based on Giovanni Grasso (1873–1930), an Italian tragedian who did indeed perform in Odessa; in his diary, Babel notes that he attended a performance of the Italian playwright Paolo Giacometti’s (1816–82) La morte civile (Civil Death, 1861), starring Grasso, on 6 December 1909.

            4 Kremenchug (now Kremenchuk, Ukraine) is a town on the Dnieper River, about 280 miles north-east of Odessa.

            5 Ivan Turgenev’s (1818–83) play The Hanger-On (Nakhlebnik) was written in 1848.

            6 For Utochkin, see ‘Justice in Quotes’, note 2.
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            Loose Leaves and Apocrypha

            

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            ODESSA

         

         ODESSA IS A NASTY PLACE. Everybody knows that. Instead of saying “a big difference” Odessans say “two big differences”—and things like “dis-a-way, dat-a-way”. But it seems to me this significant and most charming of cities in the Russian Empire has a lot going for it. Just think of it—here’s a town where the living is light and easy. Half the population is Jewish, and Jews are a people that have a few simple things down pat. They marry so as not to be alone in this world, love so that their kind lives for ever, save money so that they can afford a home and an astrakhan jacket for the wife, and are philoprogenitive because loving your kids is just the right thing to do. Governors and circulars give the poor Jews no end of trouble, but it’s hard to make them change their ways, for these ways are age-old. You won’t change the Jews, and there’s a lot you can learn from them. To a large degree, it’s through their efforts that the atmosphere in Odessa has grown so light and easy.

         The Odessan is the polar opposite of the Petrogradian. As a rule, Odessans make a killing in Petrograd. They earn money. Their dark hair bewitches soft-bodied blondes. And, in general, Odessans in Petrograd tend to settle on Kamennoostrovsky Avenue. I can just hear the objections: anecdotal evidence. No, sir—it happens every time. You see, these Odessan brunettes, they bring along a bit of sunshine and lightness.

         But I have a feeling that along with these gentlemen, who arrive with their bit of sunshine and loads of sardines in original packaging, Petrograd is bound to receive—and quite soon, at that—the fruitful, life-giving influence of the Russian south, of Russian Odessa, of what may be (qui sait?) the only city in the Russian Empire that could give birth to our much-needed national Maupassant. I even see a few minor—oh-so minor—indications of things to come. Take, for instance, Odessan chanteuses (I’m talking about Isa Kremer), whose voices are small, but who brim with joy, with joy expressed artistically in their very being, with enthusiasm, with lightness and charm—with a sometimes sad, sometimes touching sense of life—a life that is good, nasty and, quand même et malgré tout, extraordinarily interesting.

         I have seen Utochkin, an Odessan pur sang, carefree and profound, fearless and prudent, elegant and gangly-armed, brilliant and stammering.1 Cocaine did him in, or morphine—did him in, they say, after he fell from an aeroplane somewhere in the marshes around Novgorod. Poor Utochkin. He lost his mind. All the same, I know it won’t be long before the whole of the Novgorod region comes creeping down to Odessa.

         First of all, the city simply has the proper material conditions to nurture, for example, a Maupassantesque talent. In summertime, its beaches glisten with the bronze muscled figures of young men who live for sports, the powerful bodies of fishermen who aren’t much for sports, the meaty, potbellied and jolly trunks of “merchants”, alongside pimply and scrawny dreamers, inventors and brokers. While some distance from the wide sea, smoke rises from factories and Karl Marx does his usual work.

         Odessa has a terribly poor, crowded and long-suffering Jewish ghetto, a terribly smug bourgeoisie and a terribly reactionary City Council.

         Odessa has sweet and wearying evenings in springtime, the spicy aroma of acacia trees, and a moon overflowing with even, irresistible light above a dark sea.

         In the evenings Odessa’s plump and ridiculous bourgeoisie lie on couches in front of their ridiculous, philistine dachas, wearing their white socks and digesting their hearty suppers under a dark and velvety sky… Meanwhile, behind the bushes, their powdered wives, grown fat with idleness and naively corseted, succumb to the passionate caresses of temperamental students of medicine and law.

         In Odessa, luftmenschen skulk around coffee shops, looking to earn a rouble and feed their families, but there’s no work to be had—and what kind of work could there be for a useless luftmensch?

         Odessa has a port, and in the port there are steamers from Newcastle, Cardiff, Marseilles and Port Said; there are Negroes, Englishmen, Frenchmen and Americans. Odessa enjoyed its moment of flowering, and now it has entered a period of decline—of a poetic, somewhat careless and completely helpless decline.

         “It sounds like Odessa,” the reader will finally say, “is a city like any other, and you, sir, are simply biased in the extreme.”

         All right, so I’m biased—perhaps even in the extreme. But, parole d’honneur, there truly is something to this place. A real human being will sense that, acknowledging that life is sad, monotonous—all true—and yet, quand même et malgré tout, it’s extraordinarily, extraordinarily interesting.

         Now my thoughts turn from Odessa to subjects of greater significance. Consider this: Could it be true that, in all Russian literature, there isn’t a single clear and joyous depiction of the sun?

         Turgenev exalts the dewy morning and the calm of night. Dostoevsky makes you feel the grey and uneven road down which Karamazov walks to the tavern, as well as the heavy, mysterious fog of St Petersburg. He makes you feel the grey roads and the shroud of fog that have smothered man and, having smothered him, throw him into giddy and hideous confusion, giving rise to the fumes and stench of passions, sweeping him up in the daily human hustle and bustle. And have you ever run across a bright and enlivening sun in Gogol—a man from Ukraine? Perhaps—but only in a few passages. While ‘The Nose’, ‘The Overcoat’, ‘The Portrait’ and ‘Diary of a Madman’ are far more than passages. In Gogol, Petersburg defeated the spirit of Poltava. Modestly, but with terrifying imperiousness, Akaky Akakyevich blotted out Gritsko, and Father Matvey finished the work begun by Taras. The first person to talk about the sun in a Russian book—to talk about it with enthusiasm and passion—was Gorky. But precisely because he talks of it with such enthusiasm and passion, we’re still not quite dealing with the real thing.

         Gorky is a forerunner—the most powerful in our time. But he is not the singer of the sun—he is the herald of truth. And know this: If there is anything worth singing about, it’s the sun. There’s something intellectual in Gorky’s love of the sun, and it’s only the magnitude of his talent that helps him overcome this obstacle.

         He loves the sun because Russia is rotten and meandering, because the people in Nizhny Novgorod, and in Pskov, and in Kazan are flabby, heavy, by turns incomprehensible, touching and immensely, stupefyingly annoying. Gorky knows why he loves the sun—knows why one should love the sun. And this awareness is precisely why Gorky is a forerunner—often magnificent and mighty, but still a forerunner.

         While Maupassant, on the other hand, may be aware of nothing—or perhaps he’s aware of everything. A stagecoach rumbles along a road scorched by the midday heat, and in it, in this coach, sits a plump and cunning fellow named Polyte, together with a robust, unrefined peasant girl. What they are up to and why—that’s their business. The sky is hot, and the earth is hot. Polyte and the girl are both bathed in sweat, and the coach rumbles along a road scorched by the dazzling heat. And that’s all.

         In recent times people have taken to writing about life, love, murder and the election of village elders in the Olonets, Vologda or, say, Arkhangelsk regions. They write of all this in the most authentic language imaginable, exactly as it is spoken in the Olonets and Vologda regions. Life in those regions is cold, it turns out, and savage. It’s an old story. And soon we’ll all tire of reading about this old story. In fact, we’re tired already. And I believe the Russian people will soon be drawn to the south, to the sea and the sun. “Will soon be drawn” is wrong, actually. They’ve been drawn there for centuries. The irrepressible yearning for the steppes—perhaps even for “the cross of Hagia Sophia”—is Russia’s most significant path.

         Everyone feels the need for new blood. It’s getting hard to breathe. The literary messiah, for whom we’ve awaited so long and so fruitlessly, will come from there—from the sunny steppes washed by the sea.

         
             

         

         1916

         
            Notes

            1 For Utochkin, see ‘Justice in Quotes’, note 2.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            YOU FELL FOR IT, CAPTAIN!1

         

         THE HALIFAX SAILED into Odessa’s port. It had been sent from London, after a cargo of Russian wheat.

         On 27 January, the day of Lenin’s funeral, the steamer’s coloured crew—three Chinamen, two Negroes and a Malay—called the captain to the deck. Orchestras were blaring all across the city, and a blizzard raged through the streets.

         “Captain O’Nairn,” the Negroes said, “we’re not doing any loading—let us go spend the day in town.”

         “You’re staying,” said O’Nairn. “It’s a force-nine gale, getting worse by the minute. The Beaconsfield is trapped in ice near Sanzheyka, and the barometer’s showing something I’d rather not see. In weather like this, the crew ought to remain on board. You’re staying.”

         Captain O’Nairn issued his verdict and walked over to his first mate. He and the mate swapped smirks, smoked cigars and kept pointing at the city, where orchestras wailed and a blizzard raged with unbridled grief.

         The pair of Negroes and the three Chinamen loafed around the deck. They blew warm breath into their cold, cupped palms, stamped about in their rubber boots and peered into the half-open door of the captain’s cabin. The velvet of the sofas, warmed by cognac and subtle smoke, beamed out of the cabin into the force-nine gale.

         O’Nairn caught sight of the sailors and shouted, “Boatswain! Is this a deck or a boulevard? Get those fellows down into the hold.”

         “Yes, sir,” answered the boatswain, a pillar of red meat overgrown with red hair. “Yes, sir.” Then he grabbed the dishevelled Malay by the collar, took him to the side of the ship facing the open sea, and cast him overboard onto a rope ladder. The Malay slipped down the ladder and scurried across the ice. The three Chinaman and two Negroes followed close behind.

         “Are they down in the hold?” the captain asked from his cabin, which was warmed by cognac and subtle smoke.

         “Yes, sir,” answered the boatswain, a pillar of red meat, and positioned himself by the gangway, like a sentinel in a storm.

         The gale came blowing off the sea—force nine, like nine volleys fired by the sea’s icy batteries. White snow ran wild over blocks of ice. Five crouching commas with charred faces and fluttering coats scurried frantically across the frozen waves towards land, towards the docks. They scraped their palms raw scrambling ashore over icebound embankments, dashed into the port and then raced into the city, which was shuddering in the wind.

         A group of stevedores, hoisting black banners, were marching toward the square where a monument to Lenin was soon to be raised. The pair of Negroes and the Chinamen joined the procession. They were panting, shaking strangers’ hands, and giddy with the joy of escaped convicts.

         At that very moment in Moscow, on Red Square, Lenin’s body was being lowered into his tomb. While here in Odessa sirens wailed, a blizzard raged, and crowds marched shoulder-to-shoulder. And only the impregnable boatswain aboard the Halifax stood stock-still at the gangway, like a sentinel in a storm. Captain O’Nairn drank cognac in his smoke-filled cabin under the boatswain’s double-edged protection.

         You see, O’Nairn had relied on the boatswain. The captain, he fell for it.

         
             

         

         1924

         
            Notes

            1 The story’s title in Russian, ‘Ty promorgal, kapitan!’, can be translated more or less literarily as ‘You Blinked and Missed It, Captain!’ A previous translator rendered it cleverly: ‘You Missed the Boat, Captain!’ But this is a bit too clever, too paradoxical for the context, since the captain is very much on the boat. My less obtrusive idiomatic title strays from the exact meaning of the original, but I feel it fits the situation Babel describes quite well.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            

            ESTHER’S RING

         

         [In 2002 Isaac Babel’s widow, Antonina Pirozhkova, arranged for the publication of a story purportedly written by her deceased husband sometime in the mid-1920s, which had come into her possession by a curious route. In 1978, nearly twenty years after Babel was officially “rehabilitated” by the Soviet authorities, the editors of the Soviet journal Molodaya gvardiya (Young Guard) submitted the typescript of a story titled ‘Esther’s Ring’ to the committee in charge of the author’s literary legacy. A member of that committee passed the typescript to Pirozhkova, who enquired as to its origin. The story had been sent to the editors of Molodaya gvardiya from Uzbekistan, by the nephew of a woman named Olga Grigoryevna Zemskova, who had worked as a typist and proofreader at the Odessa newspaper Moryak (The Seaman) from the early 1920s to the late 1930s. Babel made several contributions to the paper and, as Pirozhkova recalled, spoke of it often in later years, mentioning Zemskova, whom he affectionately called Lyoka. Pirozhkova wrote to the nephew. Responding from hospital, the nephew—a certain Volga Konstantonivich Komlev—informed her that Babel had brought ‘Esther’s Ring’ to Moryak, asked Zemskova to type it up, and made her a gift of the manuscript, inscribing it: “To Lyoka—instead of a bouquet of roses, I. Babel.” For one reason or another, the story never appeared in Moryak. Zemskova held on to the manuscript for decades, then passed it along to Komlev. As the years passed, Babel’s pages deteriorated. Komlev had the story retyped and sent it along to Molodaya gvardiya. He promised to send Pirozhkova the original manuscript, but he never did. Their correspondence broke off. Even without the manuscript, Pirozhkova was convinced that ‘Esther’s Ring’ had come from Babel’s pen. It bore all the hallmarks. For one, Babel had often rhapsodized about the Odessa flea market, which the story evokes so effectively. And the stylistic economy, the expressionistic imagery, the Odessan language—to Pirozhkova’s eye, all were unmistakably Babelian. Not everyone agreed. The editor of the latest four-volume Russian edition of Babel’s stories, Igor Sukhikh, includes the story rather reluctantly in the third volume, making sure to note that it cannot be authenticated. I have also discovered a collection of humorous sketches by Volga Komlev himself, published in 1985 in Tashkent. ‘Esther’s Ring’ may very well be a knock-off; if so, it is a rather good one. Even the most discerning shopper at the Odessa flea market might be forgiven for confusing it with the genuine article.]

      

   


   
      
         
            

             

         

         I WAS WANDERING through the flea market, soaking up its unimaginable smells and sounds. What on earth could compare to the Odessa flea market?

         I swam through the sweaty, babbling crowd, rubbing up against sundresses, great coats, Hasidic frocks, people’s backs—as well as properties of greater value—like a mullet in spawning season. I swam, occasionally sniffing at the crimson flower in my right hand. I had to find some place to put my nose, didn’t I?

         Then a hefty old dame, known to everyone there as Stella, suddenly appeared in my path. That in itself is no surprise. Everything in this world appears suddenly. I mean, before it appears, whatever it is, it simply isn’t there. It isn’t there… And then, all of a sudden, there it is. The world is so mixed up…

         This Stella, she really was a star… or had been, some forty years back. Yet heavenly lights still flickered in her marvellous biblical eyes. What eyes they were—created, it seemed to me, for an eternity of love and tears, for posing questions that demanded no reply.

         “What’ve you got for me, young man?”

         “Nothing,” I said.

         “Not a thing?” Stella pressed, the wrinkles on her forehead twisting sarcastically.

         “Nothing,” I repeated, sticking my nose into my crimson flower.

         Stella looked at me like a midwife looks at an infant who has only deigned to enter the world after a month’s delay.

         A few minutes later, Stella popped up again.

         “I’ve got you figured, young man.” She tried her best to speak so that her voice wouldn’t carry all the way over to Deribasovskaya Street.

         “I’ve got you figured. You’re holding Japanese contraceptives. Kurosawa brand. Purveyor to the Mikado. Hundred-per-cent guarantee. Offices in Paris, London and Zhmerinka. Well, young man, I’m sorry to tell you this—the masses won’t buy ’em. The masses, they don’t trust anyone these days. But here’s what I’ll do, young man…”

         She spoke like a well-oiled machine, reliable as a Westinghouse brake.

         “…I’ll help you unload your merchandise. I’ve got me a good buyer, name of Fima Sotnik. I know what you’re thinking—a Cossack name—but he’s no Cossack, my Fima. He’s got no use for Cossacks. Yefim Grigoryevich is a respected gynaecologist of the city of Odessa, in practice since 1914. He’s got offices on Peresyp and in Moldavanka. Highly educated specialist, this fellow. He graduated from a school of commerce back in Bender around 1910…”

         Stella spoke without pausing. I couldn’t shove a word of my own into her speech, which demonstrated no audible cracks. I just stood there and sniffed at the crimson vegetation in my right hand.

         Stella kept talking, talking, talking… And so it was that in 1919, at the Odessa flea market, I finally fathomed the true meaning of that incredibly terrifying word—infinity.

         “You mean to say, young man, that you’ve really got nothing to sell?” Stella drew to a sudden stop. “So why put on airs, like you’re privy to the secrets of the Madrid court? Why go around sniffing flowers in public? What is this, the Tauride Gardens? Or maybe Primorsky Boulevard? Why go and distract people when they’re hard at work? Life is short as it is, young man, and then we’ve got to take time out to earn a living.”

         She fell silent, turned away, and walked off quietly, clutching a woven bag stuffed with a tangle of pitiful rags to her immense thigh.

         And then something happened. At that moment I felt as if all the blast furnaces in Europe had been doused, as if all the world’s metalworking plants had been stopped for major repairs, as if we were seconds away from a total eclipse of the sun. Every pore in my body greedily imbibed this unexpected darkness and cold.

         “Stella!” I shouted, covering the sudden silence with a beastly roar. “Stella! Stella!”

         The old woman turned slowly and indifferently.

         “Stella, I’ve got a little souvenir,” I said, almost flirtatiously, and handed her a small flat ring.

         “Aha! So you are hungry, eh?” She was examining the ring, turning it over in her fingers like the winding crown of a pocket watch. Suddenly her head shot up, and the look in her eyes was not one of curiosity, or even of fear, but of terror.

         “What is this? Where did you get this? It’s my Esther’s ring! Here, see, her initials: E.R. Esther Rosenblum. Where’s my Esther? What’ve you done with my Esther?” Stella shouted.

         She kept on shouting while I struggled to say something. But I just couldn’t. A crowd surrounded us and hooted, calling for action. The two of us stood there like a bull and a matador in the arena. The crowd kept calling for my blood. It craved blood.

         “So—you’re Stella Osipovna?” my tongue finally managed. “Well, I’m Esther’s husband. Your Esther, she’s my wife. We’ve been married a long time. Her new name’s Ivanov-Lyanders—Esther Ivanov-Lyanders. And I’m her husband, Yakov Ivanov-Lyanders…”

         My tongue kept saying things. But I have no idea what they were. The two of us stood apart, my tongue and I. All I saw was the weary smile on Stella’s face, and the tears tumbling like peas down her steep cheeks.

         “So you’re—Yasha? Esther wrote to tell me that she’d taken up with some four-eyes, a writer. But I didn’t think you’d be so skinny. Listen here, Yasha, I’d give you a hug, but I’ve got this bag with haberdasheries. Why don’t you give me a hug instead, Yasha, and we’ll go, son, we’ll go home—enough commerce.”

         A half-hour later we were sitting in a cool little room with a dirt floor. I was devouring aubergines, tomatoes and gefilte fish, and washing these kingly victuals down with tart red Bessarabian wine. Stella sat across from me, giving me a sad look and periodically refilling the plates.

         “Yasha,” Stella said when I took a break from my feast, “tell me about my Esther. What’s she doing with herself? I haven’t heard a peep from her in, well, who knows how long.”

         “Oh, Esther’s in Kiev now, on Proreznaya Street. We’ve got an apartment there. You know, Stella Osipovna, the Red cavalry liberated Kiev a little while back—gave the town its freedom. Of course, all the town has now is freedom and herring soup. But the Bolsheviks know what they’re doing—they’ll get things moving soon.”

         “So why’d you come down to Odessa, Yasha? It’s no good around here. Yesterday the Whites hanged Mikhelson the photographer—for agitating. They caught him walking on the beach in red shorts.”

         “Don’t worry, Stella Osipovna, I haven’t got any red underwear,” I quipped. “So what do I have to fear? I’m just here for a little while. It’s hard to find work in Kiev these days. I was writing poems. They were paying me in fish. A Caspian roach per line. Well, I thought to myself, I won’t last long this way. So I started writing epics, like Eduard Bagritsky—five hundred lines a piece. And the editor tells me, with poems like that, I’d better head to Astrakhan, closer to the Caspian. Maybe I could net my fee up there. There isn’t enough roach in all of Kiev to pay me… So I came down here instead…”

         “Yasha, listen, tell me about my Esther,” Stella said with a kind of longing.

         I walked over to her, put my hand on a shoulder draped in faded, crumpled satinette, and said quietly:

         “Mother… Mother… Our Esther is gone. She was killed, our Esther. Listen to me, Mother. My beloved wife, my comrade and my friend, Commissar of the Special Detachment of the Kiev Cheka Esther Ivanov-Lyanders died a heroic death, battling the enemies of the Revolution… And this ring—this ring is all I have left—all I have left to remember her by.”

         Stella rose to her feet. She threw up her hands, tossed back her head and started wailing. A woman can only wail so horribly when she is eternally deprived of the beloved fruit of her womb.

         Thrusting open the door, I stepped out onto a dusty road on the outskirts of Odessa. Let Stella cry. She needs to cry… cry for a long time. While I still have to settle accounts for Esther’s death. And not with poems…
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